
 
 
 

County Planning Committee 
 
 
Date Tuesday 3 May 2022 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 
1. Apologies for absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. Minutes of the meeting held on 5 April 2022  (Pages 3 - 14) 

5. Applications to be determined   

 a) DM/21/03839/FPA - Land north of Delves Lane, Consett  
(Pages 15 - 60) 

  Erection of 288 no. dwellings with associated access, landscaping 
and infrastructure (revised description 28/02/2022). 

 

 b) DM/21/01520/FPA - Land to the rear of The Old Chapel, 
Colliery Road, Bearpark, DH7 7AU  (Pages 61 - 92) 

  Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 148 no. 2, 3 and 4 
bedroom two-storey dwellings with associated works. 

 

 c) DM/21/02606/RM - Land to the north of Darlington Road, 
Barnard Castle, DL12 8QG  (Pages 93 - 110) 

  Details of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 97 
dwellings pursuant to outline planning permission 
DM/20/03070/OUT (amended description). 

 

6. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

7. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information   



Part B 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 

public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 

 
8. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 

meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
22 April 2022 
 
 
To: The Members of the County Planning Committee 

 
 Councillor G Richardson (Chair) 

Councillor A Bell (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors D Boyes, J Higgins, C Hunt, P Jopling, C Marshall, 
C Martin, M McKeon, B Moist, P Molloy, I Roberts, K Shaw, 
A Simpson, S Wilson and S Zair 

 
 
 
 
 

Contact: Ian Croft Tel: 03000 269702 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of County Planning Committee held in Council Chamber, County 
Hall, Durham on Tuesday 5 April 2022 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor G Richardson (Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors A Bell (Vice-Chair), D Boyes, J Higgins, C Hunt, P Jopling, C Marshall, 
C Martin, M McKeon, B Moist, I Roberts, K Shaw, A Simpson, S Wilson and S Zair 
 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
There were no substitute Members in attendance. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
Councillor Marshall referred to Agenda Item 5 (a) and informed the meeting 
that in his previous role as a Cabinet Member he had been involved in 
discussions with Athletics Club and Business Durham relating to the funding 
of the facility, however he was attending the meeting with an open mind to 
consider all of the views expressed in the Committee. 
 

4 Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 1 March 2022 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

5 Applications to be determined  

a DM/21/01984/FPA - Land south west of Burdon Place, Sedgefield 
TS21 3BF  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Principal Planning Officer 
regarding an application for the formation of a community athletics track 
facility with associated floodlighting, access, car parking, drainage and 
landscaping on land south west of Burdon Place, Sedgefield (for copy see 
file of Minutes). 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



 
H Jones, Principal Planning Officer provided a detailed presentation of the 
application which included a site location plan, aerial photograph of the site, 
a plan to show the context of the site in terms of the County Durham Plan, 
site photographs, site layout and the proposed lighting columns. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer referred to paragraph 151 of his report which 
referenced a condition that the car park be free of charge which was 
considered necessary on the grounds of highway safety.  However, this had 
not been added to the suite of conditions in the report and the Principal 
Planning Officer asked that this be added to the other conditions in the report 
should the application be approved. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer informed the Committee that 241 public 
representations had now been received which included 103 letters in support 
and 135 objections with 3 neutral comments.  The majority of comments 
received since the publication of the report all made same forms of 
comments as previously received but some new comments had been made 
as follows: 

 Reference had been made to a Cabinet report being presented to 
Cabinet on 6 April 2022 where consideration is to be given to a report 
about the declaration of an ecological emergency in County Durham.  
References were made to the findings in the Cabinet report in respect 
of the picture of natural habitats and species on County Durham and 
this application was contradictory to the Council considering declaring 
an ecological emergency. 

 Emphasis had been placed on the health benefits of equestrian 
activities in the context of objection to the impacts of the proposal upon 
the livery and equestrian facilities at The Lizards. 

 The British Horse Society had elaborated further on their objection 
which was contained in the report and provided clarity in their 
comments referencing that potential mitigation in respect of horses that 
they would like to see would be the creation of public bridleways and 
the screening of physical barriers between stabled horses and the 
track facilities. 

 
Shemuel Sheikh, on behalf of Lizards Farm and Hardwick Grange, 
addressed the Committee to object to the application.  Members of the 
Committee had received a detailed letter of objection dated 14 March 2022.  
Before considering the six reasons it was suggested the proposal should be 
refused Members should be aware that the site was essentially countryside 
and was only included in the built up boundary of Sedgefield in order to 
accommodate the NetPark expansion and therefore Policy 6 of the County 
Durham Plan should not be able to be relied upon to circumvent the purpose 
of safeguarding the land in the first place.  For this reasons the 
recommendation for approval on the basis of compliance with local plan 

Page 4



policy should not be confirmed.  Such a decision would set a dangerous 
precedent and undermine the credibility of the recently adopted local plan. 
 
The first reason it was suggested the proposal should be refused was that 
there was no need for an athletics facility.  England Athletics strategic 
position was that existing tracks should be improved rather than new ones 
built, facilities should be located on school sites wherever possible for 
maximum use, facilities should be on stable land without cut and fill to 
minimise costs and there should be access to a clubhouse and facilities.  The 
proposal met none of these provisions, it was a new site, not by a school 
where cut and fill was involved on boggy ground and without the provision of 
suitable facilities. 
 
The second reason for refusal was that the proposal used safeguarded land.  
The application site was some 6.3 hectares, was a greenfield site and was 
both allocated and safeguarded in the Local Plan for future expansion of 
NetPark.  This was acknowledged and must be accepted by Members as an 
important purpose.  The expansion of NetPark could only take place on 
safeguarded land whereas an athletics track could go anywhere.  To approve 
the proposal would be in conflict with Local Plan Policy 2 which safeguarded 
the parcel of land for NetPark.  The officer’s interpretation of Policy 2 was 
misplaced, criterion (a) required a marketing exercise for non-employment 
use.  Paragraph 92 of the report concluded that the protected land did not 
involve built development and therefore a marketing exercise was not 
required.  However, for as long as the track development was there it would 
be used for non-employment uses and therefore marketing was required.  It 
was also clear that the site would be needed for NetPark given a recent 
approval for a 15.3 hectare expansion of NetPark on allocated land.  In any 
event, even if the safeguarded part of the site was not likely to be needed for 
some time, the whole point of safeguarding was to ensure the land was not 
used for any other purpose until the end of the Plan period.  The report did 
not contain a condition restricting the length of time the track could be 
present despite saying the expansion of NetPark during the Plan period 
would not be compromised.  The expansion would be compromised because 
the track was a permanent offering. 
 
The third reason for refusal was the significant adverse harm to the 
landscape.  Paragraph 113 of the report identified ‘numerous transformative 
impact consequences on the site’ including the alteration of land levels, 
floodlighting of up to 20 metres in height, car parking and more.  However, no 
land visual impact assessment had been carried out to assess and identify 
harm caused.  Members could not approve a scheme with obvious impacts 
which had not been properly assessed.  Discussion of a mitigation scheme 
when the impact had not been assessed was nonsensical and it was not 
acceptable to leave landscape impacts to a condition when it was obvious 
they would be transformative and had not been properly assessed. 

Page 5



 
The fourth reason for refusal was the scheme may cause adverse impact on 
archaeological activity.  Paragraph 121 of the report noted the possibility of 
prehistoric and Roman archaeology on the site.  Local Plan Policy 44 
required an investigation before determination and notably one had been 
carried out for the recent application to expand NetPark but the same had not 
been done for this application. 
 
The fifth reason for refusal was noise and adverse impact on amenity.  
Houses were located only 50 metres away from the site with gardens even 
closer.  The farmhouse was in close proximity which included an equestrian 
business with land up to the boundary of the site.  There would be substantial 
numbers of cars coming and going from the site given there was provision for 
127 spaces.  This therefore also included a substantial number of people 
coming and going, car doors banging, tannoys, noise from the facility and 
floodlights which would go into every evening.  This would be unacceptably 
harmful to residential amenity and the livery business with an objection from 
the British Horse Society and therefore contrary to Local Plan Policy 31.  
Although acknowledged by the officers report, adequate weight was not 
given. 
 
The sixth reason for refusal was ecology and there were serious concerns 
about the adequacy of the ecology report which had been produced which 
failed to mention the impact on rare Dingy Skipper butterflies which were 
identified in the NetPark expansion application and Great Crested Newts 
where reliance was placed on an outdated survey carried out in 2015.  Even 
that survey gave the high likelihood of Great Crested Newts in at least one of 
the ponds on the site therefore the application was contrary to Local Plan 
Policy 41. 
 
While it was acknowledged there would be some benefits from the proposal 
these did not outweigh the identified harm and Members were urged to reject 
the planning application. 
 
Mr Clubley of Sedgefield Development Trust addressed the Committee to 
object to the application.  Sedgefield Development Trust did not oppose the 
ambitions to have an athletics track but did oppose it on this site. 
 
In 2017 NetPark, Business Durham and Durham County Council approached 
the Trust to create a green corridor as part of NetPark to plant more 
woodland, to improve biodiversity and for the enjoyment of the community 
and also to combat climate change.  The Trust had to recruit volunteers to 
manage the woodland long-term and already more than 100 volunteers had 
planted over 2,000 trees, a hedgerow, had surveyed and recorded a rich 
diverse list of species.  The Trust had been awarded many grants and 
resources, most from The Woodland Trust nationally, from Durham 

Page 6



Woodland Revival, Brightwater and help from Durham Wildlife Trust.  The 
Trust had a successful community project of which Durham County Council 
could be proud. 
 
Without consultation and without any planning notices being served on 
Sedgefield Development Trust the Trust learned that EDCAT had submitted 
a planning application for a track.  Approximately 36% of the land included in 
the application was in the Trust’s licence area.  The rest of the adjacent bog 
lands were species rich and significant in carbon sinks.  The application 
proposed the draining of two bogs, the releasing of a lot of embedded carbon 
that would be replaced by a managed ground which would emit carbon into 
the atmosphere for years to come, directly in contradiction to the UK’s 
undertakings at the COP26 in Glasgow. 
 
The development would drive internationally protected species from the area, 
particularly the Marsh Harrier and the Dingy Skipper and displace many more 
species which were endangered within the UK including bats, owls, other 
raptors, common small birds, nets and other amphibians and would prevent 
badgers and otters crossing the site.  A Great Crested Newt survey had not 
been carried out. 
 
The development was in contradiction to the proposals in the report to 
Cabinet on 6 April 2022 and was on land in Durham County Council’s 
ownership. 
 
Jonathan Wallace addressed the Committee in support of the application.  Mr 
Wallace had been part of the Track Steering Group for some 10 years and 
wished to highlight key points. 
 
The Steering Group had been trying to obtain a site for the track for over 10 
years.  Planning permission at Sedgefield Community College was obtained 
nine years ago but due to the PFI arrangements the site was not able to be 
developed.  Various locations in and around Sedgefield had been considered 
but all were too sensitive in landscape, heritage and ecological terms. 
 
Durham County Council officers suggested the Steering Group consider this 
site in 2018 and the Group undertook a community consultation n 2020.  
Feedback was received from over 350 people locally with 87% of 
respondents being in support of the scheme.  This demonstrated the high 
level of support from across the community. 
 
It ws acknowledged that the site was a greenfield site however the site was 
not sensitive in ecological or landscape terms and as officers had concluded 
there was no evidence to support the claims being made by the objectors. 
 

Page 7



The Group wanted to bring forward the development as a positive impact on 
the environment which would deliver biodiversity net gain.  To achieve this a 
large new wetland area had been incorporated and it was proposed to 
double the amount of hedgerow on the site.  Wildlife would be encouraged to 
flourish on the land which surrounded the track. 
 
The Group also looked ot be a good neighbour and minimise the impact on 
local residents.  The application incorporated a carefully designed landscape 
strategy and various conditions had been agreed to ensure the amenity of 
local residents was protected.  Details of these were contained within the 
report, but the facility would close with lights turned off at 9 p.m., there would 
be no tannoy system, all lighting would be directional and no starter guns 
would be used. 
 
The officers report was thorough and balanced and addressed all of the 
issues raised by the objectors and concluded the application was acceptable 
and should be approved. 
 
Ean Parsons of East Durham Community Athletics Track addressed the 
Committee in support of the application. 
 
Mr Parsons was Chair of the Track Steering Group and founded Sedgefield 
Harriers and continued to coach for the Club.  With the encouragement of 
Durham County Council Mr Parsons also Chaired the Sedgefield Sports Hub 
Project which explored many potential sites in and around Sedgefield for 
sports facilities which from 2018 led directly to this planning application on 
land which avoided sensitive heritage sites and had direct contact by road 
and public transport along the east Durham corridor including access to 
many underserved communities. 
 
There were precedents, for example on North Tyneside, for sports facilities to 
be integrated as part of business developments.  While objectors suggested 
otherwise tracks elsewhere in County Durham were not conveniently located 
for residents in east Durham nor was there availability and both Sports 
England and England Athletics had provided written comments in support of 
this application. 
 
The track began as a Sedgefield Harriers project and EDCAT had led the 
development of an east Durham athletics network which would be the 
primary user of the track and involved five other local clubs.  It was also 
anticipated that close work would take place with Coxhoe Active Life and with 
schools and businesses to maximise opportunities of access.  Two schools 
sports partnerships in the area had expressed their support. 
 
The track would provide a facility not only for residents of Sedgefield, 
Fishburn, Ferryhill and Spennymoor but also for residents of other areas.  

Page 8



Confirmation of funding had recently been received from Durham County 
Councils Section 106 Board which added to the significant funds already 
raised. 
 
England Athletics commented about the business plan in their recent 
response on the application describing it as a realistic business plan that 
demonstrated the facility would be sustainable in the long-term. 
 
If permission was approved Mr Parsons was confident that over the life of the 
track many thousands of young people would be reached as well as having a 
positive impact on the lifestyle of the population of east Durham in general. 
 
Christopher Betts from the North East Regional Athletics Council and North 
East Counties Athletics Association addressed he Committee in support of 
the application.  Mr Betts was also the licensing officer for the north east of 
England and any application the applicants wished to make for a competition 
would be made to him. 
 
The North East Counties represented all of north east club based athletics 
and was highly supportive of this application.  There were many requests for 
tracks to be built in other parts of the north east but this was the only 
application where the Group had raised the money for the facility proposed.  
This would be a good addition to facilities and experience showed that once 
a track was built other people came along and used the facilities as well. 
 
Athletes generally trained twice a week and competed on a Sunday.  Nobody 
in this application was qualified to hold a starting pistol.  The North East 
Counties Athletics Association thoroughly supported the application and 
thought it to be an excellent idea. 
 
Tim Dredge addressed the Committee in support of the application.  Mr 
Dredge informed the Committee that he was a local resident having lived in 
Sedgefield since 2000 where he had brought up his family which included his 
sons who had both benefitted from being members of Sedgefield Harriers. 
 
Mr Dredge’s eldest son would be a volunteer at athletics stadium team at the 
Commonwealth Games in Birmingham this summer.  This was the latest step 
on his journey through the athletics world which started in Sedgefield. 
 
Mr Dredge’s son spent several years at Sedgefield Harriers but reached a 
point where he had to move on to develop further because of the very limited 
facilities in Sedgefield.  He had to go outside of County Durham to be able to 
access proper track and field facilities and several other athletes have had to 
do the same. 
 

Page 9



Mr Dredge was coaching other young  athletes at Sedgefield at the time but 
had to give this up to support his son so his volunteer coaching time to my 
community was lost. 
 
Mr Dredge wanted to see athletics on a par with other sports in the area and 
in the county and wanted future generations in Sedgefield and East Durham 
as a whole to have a facility that they could easily access like other sports 
could.  Mr Dredge fully supported EDCAT in their endeavours to achieve this 
ambition. 
 
The Chair sought questions from Committee Members to the speakers. 
 
Councillor Martin stated that with any planning application there was always 
potential harm to habitats and wildlife and the officers report did not draw 
away from this.  Independent ecological consultants had stated that once the 
development was finished there would be measured benefits to the 
ecological environment of a 25% improvement in habitat and 100% 
improvement in the hedgerow.  Councillor Martin asked why the Sedgefield 
Development Trust did not believe the development would bring such 
benefits when completed.  Mr Clubley replied that the woodland and bog had 
matured over many years and could not be replaced by simply displacing the 
species and providing a space but not the full ecology which s currently in 
place.  The benefits were erroneous because they could only be achieved by 
taking land from the Trust which was managed in partnership with the 
Woodland Trust and the County Council which would be planted up anyway. 
 
Councillor Jopling expressed concern that this was an expensive project 
which, if the facility failed, may result in the County Council having 
responsibility for it.  Councillor Jopling asked whether the project was self-
financing and whether the money was in place to carry out the development.  
Mr Parsons replied that a detailed business plan had been produced for 
submission to the Section 106 Board which was successfully received and 
also praised by England Athletics for proving that the project would be 
sustainable. 
 
Councillor Hunt sought clarity on carbon emission and archaeology.  Mr 
Clubley replied that the current bogs were absorbing 4.36 tons of carbon per 
year per hectare which was the highest rate of carbon sink.  The managed 
grassland and managed area would release carbon at the rate of 1.16 tons 
per annum per hectare. 
 
Mr Sheikh referred to archaeology and stated that paragraph 121 of the 
officers report noted there was the possibility of prehistoric and Roman 
archaeology on the site.  Under Local Plan Policy 44 it was considered that 
this required an investigation before the application was determined.  An 

Page 10



archaeology investigation had been carried out for the recent application for 
the extension of NetPark. 
 
Councillor McKeon asked which other sites had been considered for the 
facility and what specific concerns were raised around those sites.  Mr 
Wallace replied the Group embarked on the project in 2012 and quickly 
identified the Community College as a potential site and a planning 
application was granted planning permission within 12 months.  The Group 
then liaised with officers at the County Council for three years in order to 
release the site for development but for various reasons, principally the loss 
of school playing fields and the PFI arrangements the site could not be 
developed.  At that point a feasibility study was carried out to consider other 
options in East Park and Hardwick Park which had more serious ecological 
issues than this site.  Winterton playing fields were also considered but this 
site was not big enough to accommodate the use and would also impact on 
the setting of St Luke’s Church which was a listed building. 
 
Councillor Moist sought confirmation that the position of UK Athletics was to 
concentrate on existing tracks rather than building new tracks and asked 
whether educational establishments had been considered for the track to 
maximise its use. 
 
Mr Sheikh confirmed that this was the strategic position of England Athletics 
for the period 2018 to 2025.  Mr Wallace added that there was not any 
capacity elsewhere in the local area to accommodate the track. 
 
Councillor Martin stated that the objectors had referenced some protected 
species and asked how confident the planning officers were that the 
development would bring ecological benefits and that the development would 
not have devastating impacts on these species. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer referred to the consultation response of the 
County Ecologist.  It was natural that a greenfield site, particularly one which 
was not in active agricultural use, had the potential for habitats and species 
to be on the land.  In the immediate short term when land remodelling and 
construction took place there would be some impact.  The Ecologist had 
reviewed all submissions made and considered that there would be an uplift 
in the mitigating proposals. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer responded to issues which had been raised. 
 
The reference to the strategy of England Athletics was an overall broad 
strategy by England Athletics and not a specific consultation response that 
they had submitted on this application.  Sport England were the consultees 
for this application and Sport England carried out their own consultation 
exercise, including with England Athletics, and these responses fed in to the 

Page 11



overall response of Sport England and this response was supportive of the 
proposal. 
 
The built up area boundary was drawn where it was drawn and therefore the 
application site was either within the BUAB or it was not. 
 
None of the site was an employment allocation in the County Durham Plan.  
The site was largely marked as safeguarded land with a smaller element 
marked as protected land as part of the existing NetPark site.  None of the 
land was a future allocation.  The marketing policy test in Policy 2 was an 
either/or test so either a marketing exercise needed to be carried out or it had 
to be concluded that impact of the development would not compromise the 
protected land.  The conclusion reached was that this development would not 
compromise the protected land. 
 
Landscape officers had not raised objection on landscape impact grounds 
and the development did not reach the threshold for requiring an LVIA. 
 
Referring to an archaeological survey, there was a pre-commencement 
planning condition attached to the application that there needed to be a 
geophysical survey followed by trial trenching of the site if necessary. 
 
While the report addressed the issue of residential amenity and 
acknowledged there would be some impact, the level of impact was not 
considered to be unacceptable. 
 
Councillor Jopling sought clarity on the allocated land carbon storage and 
release. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer replied that different habitats had different 
values attached to them, for example peatland was extremely good at carbon 
storage and there was a hierarchy of levels of storage for different habitats.  
Mr Clubley had described the site as a certain habitat which came with a 
quantity of carbon storage but the County Ecologist did not agree with Mr 
Clubley’s assessment of what the habitat was. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer explained that the purple hatched area on the 
plan of the area was allocated for future employment use within the County 
Durham Plan period up to 2035.  The light purple shaded area with no dots 
and no hatching highlighted and protected existing employment land and was 
the existing NetPark site.  The application site crossed into 0.9 hectares of 
this land.  However the application did not compromise this land because the 
track was not in the area.  The dotted area was safeguarded land for 
employment purposes but this was not the same as an allocation or 
protected land. 
 

Page 12



Councillor Boyes informed the Committee he was satisfied with the 
assurances given on the ecological issues and also on the business plan 
which was in place for the long term sustainability of the development.  
Councillor Boyes supported the recommendation of officers. 
 
Councillor Marshall considered that many of the issues raised were not 
material planning considerations and the application had to be determined on 
what was before the Committee.  All statutory consultees were either in 
support of the application or had raised no objection and it was the role of the 
Committee to ensure applications were determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan, which had only recently been adopted following scrutiny 
by an independent planning inspector.  Councillor Marshall seconded that the 
application be approved. 
 
Councillor Hunt asked how many jobs would be created by the development 
on land which was protected for employment purposes.  Mr Wallace 
responded that this was not an employment use, it was a community 
athletics track and would be run by volunteers. 
 
Councillor McKeon considered this to be a difficult application to determine 
and expressed concern of developing on land which had been safeguarded 
for economic development. 
 
Councillor Martin was confident that the ecology would be safeguarded and 
there would be ecological benefits from the project.  The benefits of a 
community based sports facility could not be underestimated and may make 
NetPark a more desirable area for businesses. 
 
Councillor A Bell considered there were no planning grounds to object to the 
application and was supportive of the application. 
 
Councillor Moist expressed reservations about the development taking place 
on land safeguarded for employment purposes at NetPark which was the 
jewel in the crown of County Durham and he could not support approval of 
the application. 
 
Councillor Roberts was in support of the application but asked about the 
provision of toilet facilities on the site.  Councillor Higgins was happy with the 
location of the facility and supported its approval.  It would be a good facility 
for Sedgefield and surrounding villages. 
 
Mr Wallace replied that applicant would willing to consider the provision of 
toilet facilities which could be controlled by Condition attached to any 
planning approval. 
 

Page 13



Councillor Hunt agreed with Councillor Moist and could not support the 
application. 
 
Referring to the allocation of the land for employment purposes Councillor 
Marshall reminded the Committee that Business Durham, who led on inward 
investment into County Durham and managed NetPark had raised no 
objection to the application. 
 
Moved by Councillor Boyes, seconded by Councillor Marshall and  
 
Resolved: 
That the application be approved subject to the conditions contained in the 
report and the addition of a condition for the car park to be free of charge. 
 
Councillors Boyes, Moist and Wilson left the meeting. 
 

b DM/21/01744/FPA - Amazon UK Services, Unit 1 Integra 61 West, 
Bowburn, Durham, DH6 5FG  

 
Councillor McKeon declared an interest as a Local Member and Member of 
the Bowburn and Parkhill Community Partnership. 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Principal Planning Officer 
regarding an application for the installation of a photovoltaic system to 
warehouse roof and associated works at Amazon UK Services, Unit 1 Integra 
61 West, Bowburn (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
H Jones, Principal Planning Officer provided a detailed presentation of the 
application which included a site location plan, aerial photograph of the site, 
PV array layout, associated electrical equipment and images. 
 
Councillor Blakey, Local Member addressed the Committee in support of the 
application.  Councillor Blakey fully supported the application which was 
something which should have been undertaken at the construction stage of 
the facility and that she hoped it would encourage other businesses to follow 
suit. 
 
Moved by Councillor A Bell, seconded by Councillor Jopling and  
 
Resolved: 
That the application be approved subject to the conditions contained in the 
report. 
 

Page 14



COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

Planning Services 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

APPLICATION DETAILS 

 

APPLICATION NO: 
DM/21/03839/FPA 

FULL APPLICATION DESCRIPTION: 
Erection of 288 no. dwellings with associated access, 
landscaping and infrastructure (revised description 
28/02/2022) 

NAME OF APPLICANT: Miller Homes (North East) 

ADDRESS: Land North of Delves Lane, Consett 

ELECTORAL DIVISION: Delves Lane 

CASE OFFICER: 

Laura Eden 
Senior Planning Officer  
03000 263980 
laura.eden@durham.gov.uk    

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSALS 

 
The Site  
 
1. The application site lies on the south-eastern edge of Consett, on land to the west of 

Delves Lane. It extends to approximately 17.67 ha and comprises of three agricultural 
fields and additional land to the rear of 153-185 Greenways.  The land falls slightly east 
to west, with around 20m level difference between the highest and lowest points on site.  
The site’s south eastern and south western boundaries comprise intermittent dry stone 
walling and gappy hedging. There is a mixture of post and wire fencing, amenity open 
space, trees and hedges and rear garden fences to the north-western boundary and a 
woodland plantation to the north east. To the west of the site, on the opposite side of 
Delves Lane, lies Delves Lane (south) Industrial Estate.   

 
2. Residential properties predominately lie to the north west of the site within Greenways 

however there are a few that lie on the opposite side of the unclassified road which 
bounds the site’s south-eastern boundary.  

 
3. There are no designated or non-designated heritage assets within close proximity of the 

development site. Ivestone Conservation Area is located approximately 1.1km to the 
nor-h east. The nearest listed building, the Grade II Eastern Knitsley Grange 
Farmhouse, lies approximately 500m to the south.  An Area of Higher Landscape Value 
(AHLV), as defined in the adopted County Durham Plan bounds part of the site’s south 
eastern boundary. There are no statutory or locally designated ecological sites located 
within or immediately adjacent to the application site. Two non-statutory sites lie within 
the vicinity of the development these being Knitsley and High House Wood Local 
Wildlife Site (LWS) (1km to the SW) and Hurbuck Triangle LWS (1.8km to the SE). 

 
4. There are no public rights of way within or immediately adjacent to the site. 

Approximately 400m to the south/south-east of the site lies the Sustrans National Cycle 
Network Route No. 14, also known as the Lanchester Valley Railway Path.  

Page 15

Agenda Item 5a

mailto:laura.eden@durham.gov.uk


 
The Proposal  
 
5. The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 288 dwellings, down 

11no. units from the 299 originally proposed. The proposal includes a mix of 3, 4 and 5 
bedroomed bungalows and houses in a range of detached, semi-detached and terraced 
options. Three character areas including two transitional zones are proposed 
comprising of context inspired (adjacent Delves Lane and entrance to Greenways), 
landscape informed (along the south eastern boundary) and a contemporary approach 
(remaining areas). The materials palette proposed differs depending on the character 
area however includes facing brickwork, reconstituted stone facades, grey 
weatherboarding, render accents, Artstone heads and cills, a tiled roof and UPVC 
windows, doors and features in either anthracite grey or white. Boundary treatments are 
proposed to be a mixture of walls and timber fencing. All properties feature off-street 
parking and enclosed rear gardens. 
 

6. Access to the scheme is proposed via a new priority junction with Delves Lane 
approximately 100m to the north-west of the crossroad junction with Butsfield Lane and 
Stockerley Lane. Two pedestrian crossing points and new pedestrian footpaths are 
proposed to be created either side of the access (to NW and SE) to provide pedestrian 
access to the wider pedestrian network and nearest bus stops. An additional footpath 
is proposed to the southern edge of Greenways to provide a continuous footpath 
connection.  

 
7. Amenity open space would be provided primarily to the north-east of the development, 

with further areas of open space along the south-eastern and north-western boundaries 
and a triangular space comprising children’s play equipment close to College View. Two 
green corridors are proposed to run through the development along the lines of the 
original field boundaries. The layout proposes a perimeter path around the development 
site  

 
8. The application is being reported to the County Planning Committee because it is a 

residential development with a site area in excess of 4 hectares.  
 

PLANNING HISTORY 

 
9. There is no relevant site history relating to the application site.   

 
10. This application is one of a number of housing proposals within Consett that are being 

considered by the Local Planning Authority. Other large scale, residential applications 
within the surrounding area include; 

 

 DM/21/01245/FPA - Erection of 129 dwellings including associated access, 
landscaping, foul water pumping station and electricity sub-station (revised 
description 08/11/2021) at land south of Wyncrest, Knitsley Lane, Templetown 
 

 DM/21/02861/FPA - Proposed development of 201 residential dwellings with 
associated infrastructure and open space at land to the east of Fern Dene, 
Knitsley Lane, Templetown 

 

 DM/21/03514/FPA - Construction of 84no. Affordable Dwellings with Associated 
Car Parking, Landscaping and Other Infrastructure Including Diversion to a 
Byway and Footpath at land to rear of Consett Park Terrace, Moorside 

     

Page 16



PLANNING POLICY 

NATIONAL POLICY  

 

11. A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2021 (with 
updates since). The overriding message continues to be that new development that is 
sustainable should go ahead without delay. It defines the role of planning in achieving 
sustainable development under three overarching objectives – economic, social and 
environmental, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive 
ways. 

 
12. In accordance with Paragraph 219 of the National Planning Policy Framework, existing 

policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted or 
made prior to the publication of this Framework.  Due weight should be given to them, 
according to their degree of consistency with the Framework (the closer the policies in 
the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).  
The relevance of this issue is discussed, where appropriate, in the assessment section 
of the report. The following elements of the NPPF are considered relevant to this 
proposal. 

 
13. NPPF Part 2 - Achieving Sustainable Development. The purpose of the planning system 

is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and therefore at the 
heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. It defines the 
role of planning in achieving sustainable development under three overarching 
objectives - economic, social and environmental, which are interdependent and need to 
be pursued in mutually supportive ways. The application of the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development for plan-making and decision-taking is outlined. 

 
14. NPPF Part 4 - Decision-making. Local planning authorities should approach decisions 

on proposed development in a positive and creative way. They should use the full range 
of planning tools available, including brownfield registers and permission in principle, 
and work proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every 
level should seek to approve applications for sustainable development where possible.  

 
15. NPPF Part 5 - Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes. To support the Government's 

objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient 
amount and variety of land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of 
groups with specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission 
is developed without unnecessary delay. 

 
16. NPPF Part 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy. The Government is committed 

to securing economic growth in order to create jobs and prosperity, building on the 
country's inherent strengths, and to meeting the twin challenges of global competition 
and a low carbon future. 

 
17. NPPF Part 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities.  The planning system can play 

an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive 
communities. Developments should be safe and accessible; Local Planning Authorities 
should plan positively for the provision and use of shared space and community 
facilities. An integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and services should be adopted. 

 
18. NPPF Part 9 – Promoting sustainable transport. Encouragement should be given to 

solutions which support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and reduce 

Page 17



congestion.  Developments that generate significant movement should be located 
where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes 
maximised. 

 
19. NPPF Part 11 – Making effective use of land.  Planning policies and decisions should 

promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while 
safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living 
conditions. Strategic policies should set out a clear strategy for accommodating 
objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes as much use as possible of previously-
developed or 'brownfield' land. 

 
20. NPPF Part 12 – Achieving well-designed places The Government attaches great 

importance to the design of the built environment, with good design a key aspect of 
sustainable development, indivisible from good planning. 

 
21. NPPF Part 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

- The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing 
climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape 
places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, 
minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing 
resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and 
low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. 

 
22. NPPF Part 15 - Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment - Conserving and 

enhancing the natural environment.  The Planning System should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued 
landscapes, geological conservation interests, recognising the wider benefits of 
ecosystems, minimising the impacts on biodiversity, preventing both new and existing 
development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from pollution and 
land stability and remediating contaminated or other degraded land where appropriate. 

 
23. NPPF Part 16 - Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment - Heritage assets 

range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of the highest significance, 
such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally recognised to be of Outstanding 
Universal Value. These assets are an irreplaceable resource and should be conserved 
in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their 
contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations. 

 
24. NPPF Part 17 - Facilitating the Sustainable Use of Minerals - It is essential that there is 

a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods 
that the country needs. Since minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be 
worked where they are found, best use needs to be made of them to secure their long-
term conservation. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework  

 
25. The Government has consolidated a number of planning practice guidance notes, 

circulars and other guidance documents into a single Planning Practice Guidance Suite.  
This document provides planning guidance on a wide range of matters. Of particular 
relevance to this application is the practice guidance with regards to; air quality; historic 
environment; design process and tools; determining a planning application; flood risk; 
healthy and safe communities; land stability; land affected by contamination; housing 
and economic development needs assessments; housing and economic land 
availability assessment; light pollution; natural environment; neighbourhood planning; 
noise; open space, sports and recreation facilities, public rights of way and local green 
space; planning obligations; travel plans, transport assessments and statements; use 

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework


of planning conditions; viability; Tree Preservation Orders and trees in conservation 
areas and; water supply, wastewater and water quality. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  

 
LOCAL PLAN POLICY:  
 
The County Durham Plan 
 
26. Policy 6 - Development of Unallocated Sites. States the development on sites not 

allocated in the Plan or Neighbourhood Plan, but which are either within the built-up 
area or outside the built up area but well related to a settlement will be permitted 
provided it: is compatible with use on adjacent land; does not result in coalescence with 
neighbouring settlements; does not result in loss of land of recreational, ecological, or 
heritage value; is appropriate in scale, design etc to the character of settlement; it is not 
prejudicial to highway safety; provides access to sustainable modes of transport; 
retains the settlement’s valued facilities; considers climate change implications; 
encourages the use of previously developed land and reflects priorities for urban 
regeneration.  

 
27. Policy 10 – Development in the Countryside. Development in the countryside will not be 

permitted unless allowed for by specific policies in the Plan, relevant policies within an 
adopted neighbourhood plan relating to the application site or where the proposal 
relates to one or more of the following exceptions; economic development, infrastructure 
development or the development of existing buildings. New development in the 
countryside must accord with all other relevant development plan policies and general 
design principles.  

 
28. Policy 14 – Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil Resources. Development 

of the best and most versatile agricultural land, will be permitted where it is 
demonstrated that the benefits of the development outweigh the harm, taking into 
account economic and other benefits. 

 
29. Policy 15 - Addressing Housing Need. Establishes the requirements for developments 

to provide on-site affordable housing, the circumstances when off-site affordable 
housing would be acceptable, the tenure mix of affordable housing, the requirements of 
developments to meet the needs of older people and people with disabilities and the 
circumstances in which the specialist housing will be supported. 

 
30. Policy 19 - Type and Mix of Housing. Advises that on new housing developments the 

council will seek to secure an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes, taking 
account of existing imbalances in the housing stock, site characteristics, viability, 
economic and market considerations and the opportunity to facilitate self build or custom 
build schemes. 

 
31. Policy 21 - Delivering Sustainable Transport. Requires all development to deliver 

sustainable transport by: delivering, accommodating and facilitating investment in 
sustainable modes of transport; providing appropriate, well designed, permeable and 
direct routes for all modes of transport; ensuring that any vehicular traffic generated by 
new development can be safely accommodated; creating new or improvements to 
existing routes and assessing potential increase in risk resulting from new development 
in vicinity of level crossings. Development should have regard to Parking and 
Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
32. Policy 25 - Developer Contributions. Advises that any mitigation necessary to make the 

development acceptable in planning terms will be secured through appropriate planning 

Page 19

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


conditions or planning obligations.  Planning conditions will be imposed where they are 
necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, enforceable, 
precise and reasonable in all other respects.  Planning obligations must be directly 
related to the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. 

 
33. Policy 26 – Green Infrastructure. States that development will be expected to maintain 

and protect, and where appropriate improve, the County’s green infrastructure 
network.  Advice is provided on the circumstances in which existing green infrastructure 
may be lost to development, the requirements of new provision within development 
proposals and advice in regard to public rights of way. 

 
34. Policy 27 – Utilities, Telecommunications and Other Broadcast Infrastructure.  States 

amongst its advice that new residential and commercial development should be served 
by a high speed broadband connection or appropriate infrastructure for future 
installation if direct connection is not appropriate, practical or economically viable.  

 
35. Policy 29 – Sustainable Design. Requires all development proposals to achieve well 

designed buildings and places having regard to SPD advice and sets out detailed 
criteria which sets out that where relevant development is required to meet including; 
making a positive contribution to an areas character and identity; provide adaptable 
buildings; minimise greenhouse gas emissions and use of non renewable resources; 
providing high standards of amenity and privacy; contributing to healthy 
neighbourhoods; providing suitable landscape proposals; provide convenient access 
for all users; adhere to the Nationally Described Space Standards (subject to transition 
period).    

 
36. Policy 31 - Amenity and Pollution. Sets out that development will be permitted where it 

can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable impact, either individually or 
cumulatively, on health, living or working conditions or the natural environment and that 
they can be integrated effectively with any existing business and community facilities. 
Development will not be permitted where inappropriate odours, noise, vibration and 
other sources of pollution cannot be suitably mitigated against, as well as where light 
pollution is not suitably minimised. Permission will not be granted for sensitive land 
uses near to potentially polluting development. Similarly, potentially polluting 
development will not be permitted near sensitive uses unless the effects can be 
mitigated.  

 
37. Policy 32 - Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land. Requires 

that where development involves such land, any necessary mitigation measures to 
make the site safe for local communities and the environment are undertaken prior to 
the construction or occupation of the proposed development and that all necessary 
assessments are undertaken by a suitably qualified person.   

 
38. Policy 35 - Water Management. Requires all development proposals to consider the 

effect of the proposed development on flood risk, both on-site and off-site, 
commensurate with the scale and impact of the development and taking into account 
the predicted impacts of climate change for the lifetime of the proposal.  All new 
development must ensure there is no net increase in surface water runoff for the lifetime 
of the development.  Amongst its advice, the policy advocates the use of SuDS and 
aims to protect the quality of water. 

 
39. Policy 36 - Water Infrastructure. Advocates a hierarchy of drainage options for the 

disposal of foul water.  Applications involving the use of non-mains methods of drainage 
will not be permitted in areas where public sewerage exists.  New sewage and waste 
water infrastructure will be approved unless the adverse impacts outweigh the benefits 

Page 20



of the infrastructure.  Proposals seeking to mitigate flooding in appropriate locations will 
be permitted though flood defence infrastructure will only be permitted where it is 
demonstrated as being the most sustainable response to the flood threat. 

 
40. Policy 39 – Landscape. Proposals for new development will only be permitted where 

they would not cause unacceptable harm to the character, quality or distinctiveness of 
the landscape, or to important features or views. Proposals are expected to incorporate 
appropriate mitigation measures where adverse impacts occur. Development affecting 
Areas of Higher landscape Value will only be permitted where it conserves and 
enhances the special qualities, unless the benefits of the development clearly outweigh 
its impacts.  

 
41. Policy 40 - Trees, Woodlands and Hedges. Proposals for new development will not 

be permitted that would result in the loss of, or damage to, trees, hedges or woodland 
of high landscape, amenity or biodiversity value unless the benefits of the scheme 
clearly outweigh the harm. Proposals for new development will be expected to retain 
existing trees and hedges or provide suitable replacement planting. The 
loss or deterioration of ancient woodland will require wholly exceptional reasons and 
appropriate compensation. 

 
42. Policy 41 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity. Restricts development that would result in 

significant harm to biodiversity or geodiversity and cannot be mitigated or compensated. 
The retention and enhancement of existing biodiversity assets and features is required 
as are biodiversity net gains. Proposals must protect geological features, have regard 
to Geodiversity Action Plans and the Durham Geodiversity Audit and where appropriate 
promote public access, appreciation and interpretation of geodiversity.  

 
43. Policy 43 - Protected Species and Nationally and Locally Protected Sites. Development 

proposals that would adversely impact upon nationally protected sites will only 
be permitted where the benefits clearly outweigh the impacts whilst adverse impacts 
upon locally designated sites will only be permitted where the benefits outweigh the 
adverse impacts. Appropriate mitigation or, as a last resort, compensation must be 
provided where adverse impacts are expected. In relation to protected species and their 
habitats, all development likely to have an adverse impact on the species’ abilities to 
survive and maintain their distribution will not be permitted unless appropriate mitigation 
is provided or the proposal meets licensing criteria in relation to European protected 
species. 

 
44. Policy 44 - Historic Environment. Seeks to ensure that developments should contribute 

positively to the built and historic environment and seek opportunities to enhance and, 
where appropriate, better reveal the significance and understanding of heritage 
assets.  The policy advises on when harm or total loss of the significance of heritage 
assets can be accepted and the circumstances/levels of public benefit which must apply 
in those instances. 

 
45. Policy 56 Safeguarding Mineral Resources. Sets out that planning permission will not 

be granted for non-mineral development that would lead to the sterilisation of mineral 
resources within a Mineral Safeguarding Area unless certain exception criteria apply. 

 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN: 
 
46. There is no Neighbourhood Plan for this area. 
 

  

Page 21



CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES 

 
STATUTORY RESPONSES: 
 
47. Highway Authority – The offsite works on Delves Lane include a protected right turn 

arrangement, pedestrian footway improvements as well as bus stop improvements and 
capacity intervention improvements to key junctions in the Consett area. The Transport 
Assessment submitted considered the potential highway and transport related impacts 
associated with this proposal and any mitigation required.  In consultation with the 
Highways Authority, a Technical Note (TN) was later submitted to assess the potential 
cumulative development related transportation impacts arising from this and another 
proposed residential development at Templetown (DM/21/02861/FPA) across eight 
junctions in and around the Consett area. Overall, the information included within the 
assessment and methodology used have been considered acceptable.   A number of 
junctions have been assessed and checked by the Highway Development Management 
team of which the modelling demonstrated that these junctions would continue to work 
within their design capacity with the traffic from both of these developments added to 
the local road network (Genesis Way, Ovington Court, Durham Road and Redmire Drive 
roundabouts).  With regards to the remaining four junctions (Delves Lane, Leadgate 
Road and Gloucester Road roundabouts and Stockerley Lane T-junction), the transport 
assessment demonstrated that if either development came forward on its own the 
junctions would continue to work within their designed capacity, however, when 
considered cumulatively impacts would arise which would require mitigation. The 
mitigation has been set out and agreed to address these issues. No highway objection 
is raised subject to the imposition of conditions and informatives. 

 
48. Drainage and Coastal Protection – The proposed design demonstrates compliance with 

National Standards and Council Policies in providing sustainable surface water 
management solutions and ensuring the prevention of flood risk to and from the 
proposed development. No objection is raised subject to a condition to secure the 
implementation of the approved scheme. 

 
49. Coal Authority –The coal mining legacy potentially poses a risk to the proposed 

development and that further intrusive site investigation works should be undertaken in 
order to establish the exact situation regarding coal mining legacy issues on the site 
and to inform any remedial measures necessary to ensure the safety and stability of the 
proposed development. A conditional approach is recommended. 

 
INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES: 
 
50. Spatial Policy – The proposal site is located on the edge of the built-up area of Consett, 

on land where mixed use development may be supported providing it aligns with the 
broader aims and policy requirements of the development plan. For non-allocated 
residential proposals, Policy 6 sets down several key criteria for considering whether a 
proposal should be supported in principle terms.  The SHLAA assessment for this land 
reflects a number of concerns in relation to whether the site would be suitable for 
residential development; the conclusion is that the site is deemed unsuitable given its 
relationship to the settlement, along with other adverse impacts.  The SHLAA record 
pre-dates the County Durham Plan, and, therefore, up-to-date specialist comments will 
help determine how well the scheme performs in relation to Policy 6. Further policies 
are identified which are relevant to the detailed elements of the proposal. On mineral 
safeguarding grounds, no objection is raised on the grounds of Policy 56.  

 
51. Archaeology – Recommend a conditional approach.      

 

Page 22



52. Countryside Services – The application will bring new users to the Lanchester Valley 
Railways Path. This will require support from the development via S106 funding to 
mitigate the impacts of this additional usage.  

 
53. Design and Conservation – The overall layout and design has been amended to reflect 

the comments raised at the Council’s internal Design Review process. No objection is 
raised on the grounds of heritage impact.  

 
54. Ecology – All relevant documents have been provided and fully support the application 

showing a net gain for biodiversity. The delivery of the Biodiversity Scheme and 
Management Plan should be secured via an appropriate legal agreement. 

 
55. Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Air Quality) – Raise no objection 

following the submission of additional information.  
 
56. Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Pollution Control) – Raise no objection 

subject to a condition being imposed to secure a scheme of mitigation measures.  
 
57. Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Contaminated Land) – Advise a 

conditional approach in relation to land contamination.  
 
58. Housing Delivery - Affordable Housing provision should reflect the requirements of local 

residents in respect of property type, size and location. The area has a need for more 3 
bedroomed affordable properties for home ownership and there is above average 
demand for bungalow accommodation in comparison to neighbouring areas. Where 
discount market sale is being considered as affordable home ownership the required 
percentage discount will need to be agreed with the Housing Development Team. 

 
59. Landscape – Following detailed discussions with the applicant’s landscape architect, 

the latest revision of the landscape strategy plan has addressed all previous queries 
and comments from a landscape perspective.  
 

60. Landscape (Arboriculture) – Advises to refer to landscape officer’s comments.   
 
61. School Places Manager – It is considered that the development is likely to produce 89 

primary pupils and 35 secondary pupils. Based on the projected rolls of the schools, 
taking into account the likely implementation of the development, build out rates and 
other relevant committed development there would be sufficient primary places 
available, but insufficient places at the nearest secondary school. Consequently, a 
contribution of £579,390 (35 x £16,554) towards education provision is therefore 
required. 

  
62. Sustainable Travel – No formal comments provided however informal feedback has 

been provided through the Council’s internal Design Review.   
 

EXTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES: 
 
63. Northumbrian Water Limited – Recommend a conditional approach to secure a detailed 

scheme for the disposal of foul water from the development.  
 
64. Police Architectural Liaison Officer – Outline a series of recommendations from a 

Secured By Design perspective. Overall, the design from a Crime Prevention through 
Environmental Design point of view is good.  
 

65. Tees Valley Clinical Commissioning Group – State that a contribution of £139,104 would 
be required to increase GP surgery capacity. 

Page 23



 
 PUBLIC RESPONSES: 

 
66. The application has been advertised by way of a press and site notice and individual 

notification letters to neighbouring residents.  
 

67. Letters of objection and representation, including photographs, have been received 
from 142 no. local residents, businesses and local opposition group. The main concerns 
and queries raised by the objectors can be summarised as follows: 

 

Principle of development 

 The Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) rated this land as 

amber and unsuitable for development. What has changed? Why aren’t these 

other sites being considered for development first? A previous planning application 

for the land was rejected in 2019. 

 This is Greenbelt/greenfield site therefore should not be built on. Brownfield sites 

should be prioritised.  

 The area has seen significant redevelopment in the area, adjacent businesses are 

expanding, permission has recently been granted for further housing and other 

applications are pending. There is not sufficient capacity at the local schools, 

doctors, A&E departments/hospitals and dentists to accommodate these 

developments. Police and fire services will also be under pressure. 

 This development will be for commuters. There are relatively few employment 

opportunities in Consett however these will be high end properties. This is not the 

type of housing that residents of Consett need or can afford.  

 The area benefits from few shop shops and facilities. Play facilities are 

lacking/difficult to access and the local pool is closed. 

 The site is poorly related to and connected to the existing settlement. 

 This is overdevelopment of both the site and of Delves Lane.  

 

Access/highways 

 Query the capacity of the local network to accommodate the additional traffic 

arising as a result of this development and others in the area. This will lead to 

further traffic, journey times and congestion on already heavily congested roads. 

This will be unsafe for both motorists and pedestrians. The cumulative impacts 

need to be considered.  

 Query the outcome of the Transport Assessment as traffic surveys were carried 

out in May 2021 during the Covid pandemic. Whilst it has claimed this has been 

factored into the assessment how do we know if appropriate adjustments have 

been made. Traffic levels seem significantly lower than they were before the 

pandemic.  

 Residents of the estate are likely to be commuters, working in higher paid jobs in 

Durham and Newcastle, increasing traffic in the area.  

 Is only a ‘severe’ impact on the network considered to be unacceptable? 

 Commuters, seeking to avoid the congestion, are turning to ‘rat runs.’ It is noted 

that Castledene Road is a residential street and more and more cars are using it 

to avoid the traffic on Delves Lane.  

 Development would put pressure on parking within Consett which is already 

limited.  

Page 24



 Query whether public transport offers a realistic alternative to the car given it is 

expensive and there is a reduced bus service. Walking is also likely to be an 

unattractive prospect given the distances and uphill gradient to reach services and 

amenities. The submitted Travel Plan advises that as there are no formal facilities 

in the surrounding area, cycling on local roads is more conducive to use by the 

more confident cyclist. Furthermore, Consett experiences a lot of colder weather 

including snowfall. Given the level of car parking proposed, the developer clearly 

anticipates that residents will rely on the private motor car. 

 The site lies adjacent to the ‘farm access road’ which is not considered suitable 

for significant increases in traffic given its width, construction, gradients, bends, 

lack of passing places, that it is prone to flooding and that it is weight limited. 

Vehicles park along the road, presumably associated with the nearby industrial 

estate. Vehicles travel at excess speeds along it and the road is not gritted in winter 

nor is there a salt bin. People walk and cycle the route and more will do so if the 

development goes ahead. Any additional traffic increase feels as though it is an 

accident waiting to happen.  

 The access into Greenways is very narrow, congested and is a bus route. Any 

further traffic and bus stops will pose a danger to local residents. The bus operator 

should be contacted regarding operating a route through the new estate. 

 Contractors working on the development are likely to park along either Greenways 

or Delves Lane causing further disruption.  

 The SHLAA advised that there was no suitable vehicular access point given the 

scale of development potential on the site. The proposed single point of access 

and general arrangements, opposite a busy industrial estate are not satisfactory. 

Whilst the speed limit on Delves Lane is 30mph, vehicles travel much faster than 

this.  

 Traffic calming measures within the estate are not considered to be sufficient. 

 

Residential Amenity  

 There will be adverse impacts associated with the construction phase that could 

last for several years. 

 Loss of privacy, light and space due to the proximity of the development to existing 

homes.  

 The development will lead to extra pollution including light, noise and emissions. 

 The proximity of the development to the plantation will increase antisocial 

behaviour as there is nothing for children to do in the area.  

 Concerns about the proposed access points adjacent to College View and 

Meadow View, where lots of the residents are elderly, in addition to the ones onto 

the existing green space. The connections are not needed and will raise security 

and antisocial behaviour concerns. 

 The perimeter path could be used by motorised vehicles (bikes and scooters) and 

horses. 

 Have the police been consulted on these proposals? 

 The 15m buffer to the north of the development includes a perimeter path which 

will result in reduced privacy, noise, exhaust fumes and will result in security and 

antisocial behavioural problems. The buffer is not significant enough.  

 Dog fouling on the planned greenspaces is likely to be an issue.  

 The open space would be prone to fly tipping. 

 The impacts the development will have on the mental health of existing residents.  

 

Page 25



Landscape and Visual Impact 

 The adverse environmental impact of developing a greenfield site such as this 

including loss of agricultural land and the impact to biodiversity including loss of 

local landscape features including trees and hedges, wildlife and habitats. The 

impact of the development could be felt on land adjacent to the development.  

 Development would form a large incursion into attractive open countryside leading 

to adverse visual and landscape impact with existing features such as trees and 

hedges being removed.  

 

Land issues 

 The land is prone to flooding with NWL having carried out work to try and address 

this. The development will increase flooding and drainage issues both in the 

immediate vicinity and surrounding area.  

 Query if NWL have been consulted on the proposal as it appears the development 

is built over the storm water pipe.  

 Land stability concerns. 

 

Other issues 

 We are in a climate emergency. The development of this greenfield site will not 

help this. What will the developer do to ensure the homes go above and beyond 

energy efficiency requirements and reflect changing standards?  

 The properties will not be affordable and it will therefore become a commuter 

village.  

 What investment and benefits will there be into/for the local community? 

 The submission indicates that there have been discussions with the Council 

leading to concerns that this is done deal. 

 Concerns are raised in relation to the extent of the public consultation exercise 

organised by the developer in advance of the application submission and their 

generic response to queries.  

 Concerns are raised in relation to the extent of the public consultation exercise 

undertaken by the Local Planning Authority.  

 Query the methodology for the education and NHS payments, whether existing 

facilities could be extended and where the monies would be spent. This money 

wouldn’t pay for the staff who work there, just the infrastructure. The proposal 

should include details of the mitigation to be provided, not just a payment towards 

it.  

 Millers would make a significant profit from this site and they are driven by greed.  

 There are a large proportion of homes which are 4 and 5 bedroom which is not in 

keeping with the surrounding area which are typically 3 bed.  

 There are no additional employment opportunities for residents and existing 

opportunities are limited.  

 There have been no additional play parks, pre-school provision and no additional 

services provided by the development.  

 If development keeps being approved, before long there will be coalescence 

between Delves Lane, Iveston, Leadgate and Lanchester.  

 Don’t consider it acceptable that schools within a 2 mile walking radius are 

considered.  

 The Council need to concentrate on facilities for disabled children.  

Page 26



 Hopes the Planning Committee come to visit the site and village to see the issues 

first-hand.  

 There are restrictive covenants on the land.  

 Loss of view 

 Question whether Miller Homes as a company is a suitable housing developer.  

 That access rights to private land will not be maintained.  

 That the area will be used as a dog walking area and dog fouling with increase as 

a result.  

 Property devaluation 

 Poor broadband speed 

 Residents feel very strong against this development and have signed a petition 

against it. 

 The CPRE have objected to the scheme as they did on a scheme for 30 units at 

Fishburn which was refused permission by planning committee. They consider 

there are similarities between the scheme and this one should be refused too. 

 The site is not allocated and Delves Lane is highlights as having a low housing 

need. 

 Land searches should reveal pre-application discussions and pending planning 

applications with the Council.  

 Concerned that objectors are only given 5 minutes to speak against the proposal 

at Committee. Given the level of local opposition feel that more time should be 

afforded.  

 
68. A petition signed by 337 residents has also been received in opposition to the 

development.  
 

69. The Campaign for the Protection of Rural England (CPRE) has objected to the scheme 
and consider permission should be refused. They note that the site is not allocated and 
do not consider it to be a suitable Policy 6 site and fails the criteria for Policy 10. The 
SHLAA raises concerns regarding encroachment into the countryside and landscape 
impact. There are also concerns about the proposed access point. No evidence is 
provided to show how greenhouse gases will be reduced, the site boundary does not 
accord with the D&A statement, there is a lack of sustainable transport options and net 
gains have not been demonstrated. 
 

70. One letter has been received in support of this application and the other two major 
housing developments (DM/21/01245/FPA and DM/21/02861/FPA) in the surrounding 
area which are currently pending determination. If they are considered together, it 
provides a great opportunity to improve transport infrastructure to ease congestion and 
add traffic calming.  

 

71. Cllr Michelle Walton has provided a summary of responses that she and Cllr Angela 
Stirling have received from local residents in relation to the application.  

 

Concerns from residents entirely opposed to the development 

• The County Durham plan confirmed that the site was not suitable for development 

• The site is in a conservation priority area and no development should be permitted. 

 The land had signs condemning the fields due to contamination. These signs are now 

removed but concern remains around the causes of contamination. 

 There is an abundance of variety of wildlife in the area (bats, deer, bird, badgers, 

hedgehogs etc) which should be protected and their habitat left alone. 

Page 27



 The area regularly floods and Northumbrian Water have previously had to  undertake 

extensive works in attempt to alleviate the problem. 

• Loss of greenspace should not be allowed 

• Loss of view is a concern for residents immediately overlooking the proposed site. 

 Concerns around infrastructure, traffic, access to essential services, access to 

schools (see further comments below). 

 

Concerns from residents relating to the plans in general although not entirely opposed to the 

development 

 A maximum 20mph limit should be in place around the entire estate. The central road 

doesn’t look like it’s got much deflection or bends to help slow vehicles down. 

 A pedestrian island/pedestrian crossing must be provided to allow safe crossing from 

the estate entrance to the other side of the road (and back again) for buses/school 

transport etc. 

 The end of Stockerley Lane where it meets Woodside Bank (A691) is regularly 

congested at peak times. This is the only road out of Delves Lane towards Durham 

and to the comprehensive school. 

 Consideration to traffic safety measures (roundabout/traffic lights) is essential. 

 Iveston Lane (the road at the side of the site is almost single track in most places) is 

at high risk of becoming a “rat run” for those commuting to Gateshead/Newcastle 

who wish to avoid going through Consett. Consideration should be given to restricting 

this road in some way to prevent this (or improving the end of Stockerley Lane to 

provide better access for turning left onto the A691). 

• The local primary school already has issues with parking and access at drop off and 

pick up. 

 Additional traffic caused by residents on this proposed site will have an impact on the 

school traffic. 

 Provision should be made to help the school deal with the extra traffic. 

 There is no play area/equipment or playing field area. An estate of this size will be 

predominantly occupied by families. Recreation areas for children are essential as 

well as associated seating areas for adults. 

 There should be more space between existing gardens and new dwelling gardens. 

Existing houses which back on to the proposed development should have as much 

space as possible between their boundaries in order to preserve some of the 

privacy/un-interrupted view they currently enjoy. 

 Trees should be used as buffers/boundaries between existing and new houses. This 

helps to naturally maintain privacy and maintain some wildlife habitat. 

• If the site is approved, please build in logical phases to minimise the disruption to the 

area. 

• Provision must be made to keep the surrounding areas clean during the construction 

phase. 

 Consett Medical Centre is oversubscribed which results in many issues with getting 

access to a doctor and NHS services. The Council must ensure that provision is 

made to serve additional residents with adequate medical services. 

 Dental surgeries are oversubscribed and not registering new patients. The Council 

must ensure that provision is made to serve additional residents with adequate 

medical services 

 

  

Page 28



Support relating to the plan in general 

 Eight comments have been received in support of the development however they 

mention concerns around increased traffic and the need to address this should the 

site be approved. 

 
The above is not intended to repeat every point made and represents a summary of the comments received on this 

application. The full written text is available for inspection on the application file which can be viewed at: 
https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage   

 
APPLICANTS STATEMENT:  
 
72. Over the course of this application, the proposed development has been before Design 

Review Panel three times and we have had numerous meetings with planning officer 
and relevant consultee/officers at the Council to discuss the application.  As a result, 
the scheme before Committee is a significantly improved scheme comprising fewer 
overall numbers onsite from submission, inclusion of additional footpaths links, 15m 
buffer along western boundary between existing and proposed, provision of play area 
and significant levels of landscaping across the whole site.  
 

73. We respectfully urge Members to review the Design Review and Building for Life 
Assessment which has been undertaken by the applicant’s team of accredited 
professionals. The Design Review confirms the proposed development to be 
sustainable, high quality and suitable for its location scoring green on 8 of the 12 points 
and amber on the remaining 4.  

 
74. We have worked hard alongside the Council to increase the benefits to local residents 

from the scheme and to provide an attractive and inviting scheme for new residents to 
live.  

 
75. Additionally, this application provides the following benefits for local people:  

 

 2.53ha of managed public open space and 2.83ha of parks and recreation 
grounds, which will be available for everyone in the community to use and offsite 
contribution to provide local allotments;  

 Provision onsite of play space of 0.035ha and off-site contribution towards youth 
play space as agreed with local community;  

  A net gain in biodiversity of 11.99% gain in habitats and 107.73% in hedgerow as 
confirmed by the council Ecology Officer, this includes an area to the north west 
measuring 1.01ha in size which is to be retained and fenced off for ecological 
purposes/gain; 

 £57,600 towards maintaining and improving the Lanchester Valley Railway Path 
(LVRP), supporting the existing footpath network; 

 £57,600 towards community centre contribution; 

 £579,390 for new secondary school places;  

 £139,104 towards NHS;  

 10% affordable housing contribution all of which will be bungalows to provide older 
person provision;  

 A choice of high quality new homes ranging from 3 bed bungalows to 5 bed family 
homes responding to local demand;  

 Highways mitigation works are proposed to the following junctions:  
- Delves Lane Roundabout;  
- Gloucester Road Mini-Roundabout; 
- Leadgate Roundabout (A692 western arm); and  
- Stockerley Lane T Junction  

Page 29

https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


 Direct employment of 892 people and provide 9 apprentices, graduates or trainees 
jobs;  

 Generate £3,471,264 in tax revenue including £325,284.48 in council tax revenue. 
 

76. In addition, there have been no objections from the following Council departments: 
highways, housing, drainage, ecology, heritage, contamination, public rights of way, 
landscape, archaeology and environmental health.  
 

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT 

 
77. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out that if regard 

is to be had to the development plan, decisions should be made in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In accordance with 
advice within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the policies contained 
therein are material considerations that should be taken into account in decision making. 
Other material considerations include representations received. In this context, it is 
considered that the main planning issues in this instance relate to: the principle of the 
development, locational sustainability of the site, highway safety and access, landscape 
and visual impact, layout and design, heritage and archaeology, residential amenity, 
ecology, flooding and drainage, infrastructure and public open space, addressing 
housing need, contamination and land stability, developer contributions, other 
considerations and public sector equality duty. 
 

The Principle of the Development   
 
The Development Plan 
 
78. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The NPPF is a material planning consideration. The County Durham Plan 
(CDP) is the statutory development plan and the starting point for determining 
applications as set out in the Planning Act and reinforced at Paragraph 12 of the NPPF. 
The CDP was adopted in October 2020 and provides the policy framework for the 
County up until 2035.  

 
79. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. For decision taking this means:-  
 

c)  approving development proposals that accord with an up to date development plan 
without delay; or  

 
d)  where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 

most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 
unless:  

 
i)  the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or,  

 
ii)  any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole.  

 
80. The application site is located on the south-eastern edge of the settlement of Consett. 

It is not allocated for housing within Policy 4 of the County Durham Plan (CDP). 

Page 30



Development of housing on unallocated sites should be assessed and determined 
against Policy 6 of the CDP.  
 

81. Policy 6 of the CDP sets out the following criteria.  The development of sites which are 
not allocated in the Plan or in a Neighbourhood Plan which are either (i) within the built-
up area; or (ii) outside the built-up area (except where a settlement boundary has been 
defined in a neighbourhood plan) but well-related to a settlement, will be permitted 
provided the proposal accords with all relevant development plan policies and:  
 
a. is compatible with, and is not prejudicial to, any existing, allocated or permitted use 
of adjacent land;  
 
b. does not contribute to coalescence with neighbouring settlements, would not result 
in ribbon development, or inappropriate backland development;  
 
c. does not result in the loss of open land that has recreational, ecological or heritage 
value, or contributes to the character of the locality which cannot be adequately 
mitigated or compensated for;  
 
d. is appropriate in terms of scale, design, layout, and location to the character, function, 
form and setting of, the settlement; 
 
e. will not be prejudicial to highway safety or have a severe residual cumulative impact 
on network capacity;  
 
f. has good access by sustainable modes of transport to relevant services and facilities 
and reflects the size of the settlement and the level of service provision within that 
settlement;  
 
g. does not result in the loss of a settlement's or neighbourhood’s valued facilities or 
services unless it has been demonstrated that they are no longer viable;  
 
h. minimises vulnerability and provides resilience to impacts arising from climate 
change, including but not limited to, flooding;  
 
i. where relevant, makes as much use as possible of previously developed (brownfield) 
land; and  
 
j. where appropriate, it reflects priorities for urban regeneration.  
 

82. In terms of townscape and landscape implications the key considerations are the 
relationship to the settlement pattern and form, as development would extend the 
settlement eastwards into the open countryside, so the issue is whether the 
development of the site would be a well-related and natural extension to the settlement 
or whether it would unacceptably affect the landscape character of the countryside. It is 
also necessary to appraise the merits of this proposal against considerations such as 
the proximity to services and facilities, other buildings and built-up areas as well as other 
judgements, such as its sustainability in terms of location and access to sustainable 
transport options.  
 

83. It is considered that the development of the application site would not be in conflict with 
Policy 6 as it is considered to be well-related to the settlement, would not significantly 
affect the landscape character and lies within acceptable distances to local community 
facilities, services and sustainable transport links. The reasoning behind this judgement 
is set out in the consideration of the scheme against the relevant criterion of the policy 
in later sections of this report.  

Page 31



 
84. As the application site is located outside of the built-up area of Consett it is considered 

to be technically in the countryside although well related to the settlement.  CDP Policy 
10 relates to development in the countryside and advises that development will not be 
permitted unless allowed for by specific policies in the Plan, relevant policies within an 
adopted neighbourhood plan relating to the application site or where the proposal 
comprises an exception related to economic development, infrastructure development 
or the development of existing buildings.  The proposal would be permissible under 
Policy 6 therefore falls within the relevant criteria and is thereby not in conflict with Policy 
10. 

 
SHLAA 
 
85. The site has been considered within the Council's Strategic Housing Land Availability 

Assessment (SHLAA) under four separate parcels of land (ref: 1/CO/98, 1/CO/107a, 
1/CO/107b and 1/CO/107c) and has an unsuitable (amber classification). The 
assessment considered that the site is poorly related in terms of the existing settlement 
form. Despite the site being partially contained by the road network to the south, 
development would involve encroachment into the open countryside and would result 
in some significant landscape impacts.  

 
86. This has been noted and officers have carefully considered the broader acceptability of 

the proposal in terms of issues such as design and layout, landscape, ecology and 
access arrangements in respect to addressing the issues identified in the SHLAA and 
these are outlined later in the report. A SHLAA assessment does not take into account 
the design measures or mitigation which a specific development proposal may present. 

 
Housing Land Supply  
 
87. Paragraph 73 of the NPPF maintains the requirement for Local Planning Authorities 

(LPAs) to identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to 
provide a minimum of five years' worth of housing against their housing requirement set 
out in adopted strategic policies, or against their local housing need where the strategic 
policies are more than five years old.  
 

88. It was established under the adoption of the CDP that the Council can demonstrate in 
excess of 5 years housing land supply (6.3 years). The CDP was adopted in October 
2020 and therefore, in accordance with paragraph 74 of the NPPF, a five year supply 
of deliverable housing sites, with the appropriate buffer can be demonstrated. 

 
Locational Sustainability of the Site 
 
89. Criteria f of Policy 6 of the CDP requires that developments on unallocated sites have 

good access by sustainable modes of transport to relevant services and facilities and 
reflects the size of the settlement and the level of service provision within that 
settlement. Policy 21 of the CDP requires all developments to deliver sustainable 
transport by providing appropriate, well designed, permeable and direct routes for 
walking, cycling and bus access, so that new developments clearly link to existing 
services and facilities together with existing routes for the convenience of all users. 
Policy 29 of the CDP requires that major development proposals provide convenient 
access for all users whilst prioritising the needs of pedestrians, cyclists, public transport 
users, people with a range of disabilities, and emergency and service vehicles whilst 
ensuring that connections are made to existing cycle and pedestrian networks.  
Specifically, the NPPF sets out at Paragraph 105 that significant development should 
be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the 
need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. At paragraph 110 the 

Page 32



NPPF states that appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes 
should be taken whilst paragraph 112 amongst its advice seeks to facilitate access to 
high quality public transport.  

 
90. The County Durham Settlement Study 2018 is an evidence-based document which 

seeks to provide an understanding of the number and range of services available within 
the settlements of County Durham. The site lies in the Delves Lane area which forms 
part of the Consett Cluster comprising of twelve named areas. Although historically 
settlements in their own right, they all effectively function as part of Consett. The Consett 
Cluster is ranked 3rd within the County based on the services and facility within the area 
and is, therefore, considered capable of accommodating appropriate housing growth.  

 
91. However, although the Consett Cluster is, in general, considered to be served by an 

appropriate range of services and amenities, consideration is required to be given as to 
the ability of future occupiers to access these. In this respect, the application is 
accompanied by a Transport Assessment and Travel Plan, which assess the 
accessibility of the site to local services and facilities, by foot, bicycle and bus, as well 
as impacts upon the highway network in terms of vehicular traffic.  

 
92. In relation to distances to services and amenities, the site (at its closest point) lies within 

approximately 0.25km of employment opportunities, 0.5km of Delves Lane Community 
Centre, 0.5km of a local convenience store, 0.8km of Delves Lane Primary School, 
1.3km of larger scale retail, 1.9km of Consett Medical Centre and Pharmacy and within 
1.9km of Consett town centre boundary which contains an array of amenities and 
services including shopping and leisure facilities. In terms of distances to services and 
amenities, these are generally considered acceptable as set out in the Chartered 
Institute of Highways and Transportation (CIHT) documents including ‘Guidelines for 
Providing for Journeys on Foot’ and ‘Planning for Walking’, The Department for 
Transports ‘Manual for Streets’, along with work undertaken by independent 
consultants. In general, a walking distance of 1650-2000m or a 20-minute walk is 
considered at the upper end of what future residents could be expected to walk, taking 
into account topography and desirability of routes. The walking routes into Consett town 
centre and the facilities and services within the surrounding area are along adopted 
well-lit highways with no significant topographical restrictions. These factors are likely 
to encourage future residents to access these facilities on foot. Cycling is also likely to 
be an attractive option and it is recognised the site lies in close proximity to Sustrans 
National Cycle Network route (NCN 14).  
 

93. Existing bus stop provision lies on both Delves Lane and Greenways (adjacent to 
Greenways Court) which provides a regular service throughout the week and into the 
evenings. The submitted plans show that pedestrian connections will be established to 
facilitate access onto College View and Meadow View as well as a continuous footpath 
connection along the southern edge of Greenways and additional bus stop provision. 
The aforementioned measures would ensure that properties within the development 
would lie within the desired maximum walk of 400m to bus stops and increase 
connectivity and permeability between the development and the surrounding area. 
Local residents have expressed a number of concerns relating to the proposed 
connections and additional bus stops. The overall layout and design of the development 
has been amended to ensure these areas benefit from natural surveillance and that the 
landscape approach is appropriate, however, the final details of these connection 
points, new footways and bus stops is proposed to be conditioned to allow the precise 
details of these to be agreed.  
 

94. There are no Public Rights of Way (PROW) within or immediately adjacent to the site. 
Connections to the Sustrans National Cycle Network Route No. 14 (NCN14), also 
known as the Lanchester Valley Railway Path, run approximately 300m to the south 

Page 33



east and 400m to the south of the site, respectively. Given the site’s proximity to this 
already popular recreation and utilitarian walking, cycling and horse-riding route, it is 
envisaged it would experience increased usage by future residents of the estate. To 
mitigate the impacts of this increased footfall, Sustainable Transport Officers have 
requested a financial contribution to support improvements to the route including to 
surfacing, drainage, signage and bins. A contribution of £57,600 (£200 per dwelling) 
has been agreed with the developer and would be secured by means of a planning 
obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

 
95. An updated Travel Plan (TP) has been submitted, however, detailed feedback on it is 

awaited. On this basis, a condition is proposed to secure a TP to reduce reliance on the 
private motor car and to promote sustainable transport methods in accordance with 
Policy 21 of the CDP.  

 
96. Local residents have written letters of objection to express concerns that there are more 

favourable brownfield sites to develop before considering greenfield sites such as this 
and there is sufficient new development consented/pending consideration in the 
surrounding area. Although the CDP and NPPF encourages the use of previously 
developed land, they do not preclude the development of greenfield land, nor do they 
impose any sequential requirement. However, any adverse impacts of development on 
greenfield land should be considered in the planning balance. For the purposes of 
clarification, the site is not Greenbelt.    

 
97. The CDP identifies a number of housing allocation sites including H19, land to the south 

of Knitsley Lane in Templetown. A planning application (DM/21/02861/FPA) has been 
submitted by Persimmon Homes and is currently pending consideration. One of the site-
specific requirements of this allocation is that development will contribute to Delves 
Lane Community Centre for the benefit of new and existing residents. Given that both 
sites fall within the same ward boundary (Delves Lane), the application site lies within 
close proximity to the community centre (within 460m at its closest point) and future 
residents would place additional pressure on the service it is also considered 
appropriate to secure a financial contribution as part of this application to mitigate any 
potential impacts and provide enhanced facilities for new and existing residents. A 
contribution of £57,600 (£200 per dwelling) has been agreed with the developer and 
would be secured by means of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
98. Overall, it is considered that the site has access to an array of services and facilities, to 

serve the development proposed and that these are within relatively easy reach of the 
site. Established bus services, walking and cycle routes would give future residents 
alternative options to the private motor car to access services. No objections are raised 
having regards to the locational sustainability of the site.  

 
99. In conclusion, the development would promote accessibility by a range of methods in 

accordance with Policies 6 criterion f, 21, 26 and 29 of the CDP and Paragraphs 98, 
103, 108 and 110 of the NPPF. It is also considered that the development has the 
potential to maintain or enhance the vitality of the village through increased patronage 
of its local shops, services and facilities. 

 
Highway Safety and Access 

 

100. Policy 6 (criteria e) of the CDP outlines that development should not be prejudicial to 
highway safety or have a severe cumulative impact on network capacity. Policy 21 
reiterates the requirement of Policy 6 in addition to expecting developments to deliver 
well designed pedestrian routes and sufficient cycle and car parking provision. Similarly, 
Policy 29 advocates that convenient access is made for all users of the development 

Page 34



together with connections to existing cycle and pedestrian routes. Specifically, the 
NPPF sets out at Paragraph 110 that safe and suitable access should be achieved for 
all people. In addition, Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that development should only 
be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe. 
 

101. A Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted to consider the potential highway 
and transport related impacts associated with this proposal and any mitigation 
required.  In consultation with the Highways Authority, a Technical Note (TN) was later 
submitted to assess the potential cumulative development related transportation 
impacts arising from this and another proposed residential development at Templetown 
(DM/21/02861/FPA) across eight junctions in and around the Consett area. Overall, the 
information included within the assessment and methodology used have been 
considered acceptable.   A number of junctions have been assessed and would 
continue to work within their design capacity with the traffic from both of these 
developments added to the local road network (Genesis Way, Ovington Court, Durham 
Road and Redmire Drive roundabouts).  With regards to the remaining four junctions 
(Delves Lane, Leadgate Road and Gloucester Road roundabouts and Stockerley Lane 
T-junction), the transport assessment demonstrates that if either development came 
forward on its own the junctions would continue to work within their designed capacity, 
however, when considered cumulatively impacts would arise which would require 
mitigation. Notwithstanding, both developers have set out their willingness to have 
conditions imposed to secure the delivery of the four junction improvement schemes 
where it has been identified that the combination of traffic from both development 
causes the junctions to become under stress. Whilst the additional traffic from the 
proposed development(s) does add to traffic at the assessed junctions, it is considered 
that the impact of this additional traffic would not be classified as ‘severe’ as set out in 
the policy test of paragraph 111 of the NPPF. Overall, the Highway Authority conclude 
that whilst there would be a modest impact at some junctions, with the mitigation 
measures proposed it would not result in a severe impact and the development should 
not, therefore, be refused on transport and highway impact grounds. 
 

102. A new priority give-way junction with a right turn pocket would be created off Delves 
Lane, approximately 100 metres to the northwest of the crossroad junction with Butsfield 
Lane and Stockerley Lane. This access point would comprise a new 5.5m wide, single 
point of vehicular access into the development site with 1.8m footways to either side to 
connect to both new and existing footway infrastructure. Two pedestrian crossing points 
with refuge islands would be provided to either side of the access and existing bus stop 
infrastructure would be relocated and improved to a layby arrangement. The requisite 
site visibilities of 2.4m x 120m in both directions could be achieved. Appropriately 
worded conditions could secure all the necessary highway improvement works.  

 
103. Internally, the scheme has been amended to address areas of concerns initially raised 

by the Highway’s Authority. A series of raised tables features are now shown on the 
main spine road which would help to reduce traffic speeds through the development, 
parking provision and distribution is now considered to be appropriate as too are 
footpath connections. In the event of an approval, a condition to secure the estate roads 
being designed and constructed to meet current highway standards and two 
informatives relating to the creation of a 20mph speed limit controlled by a Traffic 
Regulation Order and entering into an adoption agreement would be required. 
 

104. Overall, the highway impacts of the proposed development are considered to be 
acceptable and in accordance with Policies 6, 21 and 29 of the CDP as well as Part 9 
of the NPPF.   
 

Page 35



Landscape and Visual Impact 
 

105. Policy 39 of the CDP states proposals for new development will be permitted where 
they would not cause unacceptable harm to the character, quality or distinctiveness of 
the landscape, or to important features or views. Proposals would be expected to 
incorporate appropriate measures to mitigate adverse landscape and visual effects. 
These are similar requirements to those outlined at Policy 6 of the CDP. Policy 26 of 
the CDP outlines developments are expected to provide new green infrastructure and 
ensure provision for its long-term management and maintenance. Similar requirements 
are outlined in Policy 29. Criteria l specifically requires that in the case of edge of 
settlement development, provide for an appropriate level of structural landscaping to 
screen or assimilate the development into its surroundings and provide an attractive 
new settlement boundary. Policy 40 of the CDP seeks to avoid the loss of existing trees 
and hedgerows unless suitable replacement planting is provided. Parts 12 and 15 of the 
NPPF promotes good design and sets out that the planning system should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by (amongst other things) recognising 
the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. Paragraph 131 of the NPPF sets 
out that planning decisions should ensure that new streets are tree-lined. 
 

106. The site lies in the West Durham Coalfield County Character Area which forms part of 
the larger Durham Coalfield Pennine Fringe National Character Area (NCA 16). The site 
lies within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a 
Landscape Conservation Priority Area with a strategy of conserve and restore. The site 
doesn’t lie in an area covered by any national or local landscape designations however 
it adjoins an Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV) to the southeast. Trees within the 
site are not covered by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). 

 
107. The site comprises of three areas of pasture and additional land to the rear of 153-185 

Greenways.  The fields are bounded by a mixture of mature hedging and individual 
trees, dry stone walling, post and wire fencing and residential rear garden fencing. The 
land falls slightly east to west, with around 20m level difference between the highest 
and lowest points on site. To the northeast of the site lies a woodland plantation. The 
site is visible at close range from the existing housing in the immediate vicinity and the 
adjacent industrial units. There are long range views from high ground to the north-east 
on the A191 at Woodside. Views across the Browney Valley from the higher ground to 
the south and south-east are considered to be limited as the site is mostly concealed 
by topography and buildings on the adjacent Delves Lane Industrial Estate.  

 
108. The site currently forms a green buffer to the southeast of the settlement and 

development of the site would represent an incursion into open countryside. Areas of 
pasture would be lost including trees and hedgerows where access is required. The 
development of this site for housing would have a transformative and significant adverse 
impact on the immediate local landscape character appreciated most in views of the 
immediate locality. The impact on the surrounding area would be of a lower magnitude 
given the proposed design and landscape mitigation which includes amenity open 
space, tree planting and SUDs areas to the southeastern boundary which aims to create 
a new green settlement edge. This approach would also minimise potential harm to the 
adjacent AHLV. Development of the site will extend the settlement edge 
southeastwards into the surrounding countryside. The development would however be 
read as an extension to the urban form of Consett but not necessarily affect the general 
character of the area to a substantial degree. The proposal does not contribute to 
coalescence with neighbouring settlements, would not result in ribbon development of 
inappropriate backland development therefore would not conflict with Policy 6 criteria 
(b).  

 

Page 36



109. The revised landscape strategy plan now reflects the advice given by Landscape 
Officers and as part of the wider Design Review process. The proposed layout retains 
existing landscape features where not required for access. There would be a tree lined 
approach along the main access road and to the site frontage with Delves Lane to mirror 
those on the opposite side and the road. Development responds positivity to the existing 
houses - being outward facing and including buffer zones - and connects with existing 
areas of open space outside the site as well as establishing new footpath links to the 
surrounding area. Over time these landscape mitigation measures would help to 
progressively reduce the impact of the development within the immediate locality 
including the adjacent AHLV and in addition to wider views. Details of hard and soft 
landscaping, in accordance with the principles established within the landscape strategy 
are required to be secured by condition in the event of an approval. The majority of the 
landscape features on the site’s boundaries would be retained except where required 
for access. Any loss to landscape features is considered minimal and would be more 
than compensated for by the additional tree and hedge planting. A condition would be 
required to ensure existing features are suitably protected during the construction 
phase.   

 
110. Overall, it is recognised that there would be some adverse landscape and visual impact 

arising from the development which needs to be considered in the planning balance. 
Whilst the development of the site would result in an incursion into the surrounding 
countryside, any identified harm needs to be considered in the context that the 
development will be read as an extension to the urban form of the settlement and would 
not necessarily change the character of the area to a substantial degree. The scheme 
would provide the appropriate level of structural landscaping to screen or assimilate the 
development into its surroundings and provide an attractive new settlement boundary. 
The impact of the development will progressively reduce over time as the proposed 
landscaping establishes. Internally, the scheme mitigates against the existing 
landscaping features that would be lost and represents good design through providing 
features such as tree-lined streets. The proposals would therefore would not conflict 
with Policies 6, 26, 29, 39 and 40 of the CDP and Parts 12 or 15 of the NPPF.  
 

Layout and Design 
 
111. Policy 29 of the CDP outlines that development proposals should contribute positively 

to an area’s character, identity, heritage significance, townscape and landscape 
features, helping to create and reinforce locally distinctive and sustainable communities. 
Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF also seek to promote good design, while protecting and 
enhancing local environments. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF also states that planning 
decisions should aim to ensure developments function well and add to the overall quality 
of the area and establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to 
create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit.  

 
112. In recognition of national planning advice and to achieve high quality housing 

developments DCC has adopted an in-house review process to assess schemes 
against the Building for Life 12 (BfL 12) Standards. The Building for Life Supplementary 
Planning Document (2019) (BfL SPD) formalises the review process and establishes 
the guidelines and standards for its operation and is linked to the Sustainable Design 
Policy (29) in the CDP. The scheme was considered against the BfL standard through 
a series of 12 questions. The scoring is based on a traffic light system with the aim of 
the proposed new development to secure as many “greens” as possible, minimise the 
number of “ambers” and avoid “reds”. The more “greens” achieved the better the 
development will be, “ambers” are usually concerns that can be raised to “green” with 
revisions, whereas a “red” gives a warning that a particular aspect needs strong 
reconsideration. Following amendments to the scheme, it scored very positively 

Page 37



achieving 9 greens, 2 ambers and 1 unknown. Since this assessment, further 
amendments have been made to address the limited areas of concern.  
 

113. The development is considered to represent good design and the scheme has been 
significantly improved since it was first submitted. In response to earlier feedback, 
stronger and more appropriately designed character areas are proposed, unit numbers 
have reduced, development is outward facing, corner turners have been successfully 
introduced to add to the streetscape and provide informal surveillance of shared spaces, 
additional greenspace has been provided to create buffers with existing development 
and allow the creation of a perimeter path and overdominance of car parking has been 
reduced. Conditions are recommended to secure materials and boundary enclosure 
details.  
 

114. The Council’s Design and Conservation Officer raises no objection to the development. 
The overall design and layout of the development would be compliant with Policies 6 
(criterion d) and 29 of the CDP and Part 12 of the NPPF in this respect.  

 
Heritage and Archaeology 
 
115. Policy 44 of the CDP sets out development will be expected to sustain the significance 

of designated and non-designated heritage assets, including any contribution made by 
their setting. Development proposals should contribute positively to the built and historic 
environment and should seek opportunities to enhance and, where appropriate, better 
reveal the significance and understanding of heritage assets whilst improving access 
where appropriate. The NPPF advises that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 
asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should 
require clear and convincing justification.  

 
116. The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 imposes a statutory 

duty that, when considering whether to grant planning permission for a development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the decision maker shall have special regard 
to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Any such harm must be given 
considerable importance and weight by the decision-maker. Under the Act, special 
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of 
a conservation area must be equally considered. 

 
117. There are no designated or non-designated heritage assets within close proximity of the 

development site. Blackhill Conservation Area is located approximately 1.3km to the 
north of the proposed built development. Ivestone Conservation Area is located 
approximately 1.1km to the north east. The nearest listed building, the Grade II Eastern 
Knitsley Grange Farmhouse, lies approximately 500m to the south. There would be no 
intervisibility between the development site and these assets due to existing vegetation 
development and typography. The line of the Lanchester Valley Branch of the North 
Eastern Railway, now the Lanchester Valley Railway Path, is visible on the first edition 
OS map circa 1860 and is considered a non-designated heritage asset.  It has 
communal value as a well-used route for pedestrians and cyclists. It lies with 
approximately 300m to the southeast and 400m to the south of the site respectively. 
Due to the existing vegetation and topography, there would be no inter-visibility between 
the site and designated heritage assets. It is therefore considered that the proposal 
would have no adverse impact on heritage assets within the vicinity of the site in 
accordance with Policy 44 of the CDP and Part 16 of the NPPF. Design and 
Conservation Officers raise no objection to the scheme on these grounds.  

Page 38



 
118. Archaeological works would normally be undertaken pre-determination on a detailed 

planning application, the reason being, that trial trenching may reveal a site of more 
significance than the geophysical survey has shown leading to further mitigation works 
being required. Notwithstanding, the applicant has requested that the trial trenching 
takes place post determination due to contractual issues. The Council’s Archaeologist 
has reviewed the geophysical survey and, in this instance, considers it would be 
acceptable to condition the trenching. Whilst the survey has shown some potential, 
there are no very clear sites, meaning the risk is low. As the developer is prepared to 
accept these risks, they are happy to agree a conditional approach to secure the 
archaeological works and post investigation assessment. Subject to these conditions 
being imposed, the proposal would be considered to comply with Policy 44 of the CDP 
and Part 16 of the NPPF. 

 
Residential Amenity 
 
119. Policies 29 and 31 of the CDP outline that developments should provide high standards 

of amenity and privacy, minimise the impact of development upon the occupants of 
existing adjacent and nearby properties and not lead to unacceptable levels of pollution. 
A Residential Amenity Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been 
adopted by the Council. Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF require that a good standard of 
amenity for existing and future users be ensured, whilst seeking to prevent both new 
and existing development from contributing to, or being put at unacceptable risk from, 
unacceptable levels of pollution.  

 
120. Guidance within the SPD advocates separation distances of 21m between facing 

principal elevations and 18m between bungalows, 13m between principal and two 
storey gable elevations and 10m to a single storey. The length of gardens will generally 
be dictated by the minimum distancing standards but should be no less than 9 metres 
unless site specific circumstances allow for a reduction in size. The layout demonstrates 
that minimum separation distances between proposed properties and existing dwellings 
would be achieved. Internal arrangements are also considered to provide an adequate 
level of amenity although it is acknowledged that on some occasions where they fall 
slightly short of the required standards. As an example, some front to front distances 
fall slightly short (there is approximately 20.7m between the facing elevations of plots 
246 and 254) as do some back to gable arrangements (there is approximately 8.9m 
between the rear elevation of plot 53 and its garage gable). Front to front arrangements 
have a tendency to fall short where corner turners are used however such features 
improve the overall character and appearance of the street. Garden lengths are 
generally acceptable. Whilst disappointing, it is not considered that arrangements fall 
short to an unacceptable degree and are such that the privacy and amenity of existing 
and prospective occupiers will be safeguarded. Overall, it is considered that the layout 
arrangements are acceptable, provide adequate levels of private amenity space and 
would not lead to any unacceptable impacts with regards to loss of light, overshadowing, 
loss of privacy or overbearing impact in accordance with the requirements of Policies 6, 
29 and 31 of the CDP and Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF. 
 

121. Some of the proposed housing would be in close proximity to Delves Lane and an 
industrial estate, therefore, the noise arising from this and the impact to future occupants 
needs to be considered. The submitted noise assessment advises that acceptable noise 
levels can be achieved through additional glazing specification to properties that are 
adjacent to Delves Lane. Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Nuisance) 
Officers advise that as there is no specific detailed scheme proposed, a condition would 
need to be imposed to secure a suitable noise mitigation scheme. Subject to this 
condition being imposed it is not considered that there would be any unacceptable noise 
impacts upon dwelling from either the adjacent road or industrial estate.  

Page 39



 
122. There is the potential for disturbance during the construction period, therefore, a 

construction management plan (CMP) should be secured to deal with construction 
related impacts. Subject to the imposition of such a condition and one controlling hours 
of working, construction related impacts could be adequately mitigated. Disruption 
arising during the construction process is temporary and the suggested conditions 
would help to mitigate any significant adverse impacts.   

 
123. The site is not within or adjacent to an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and it is 

not considered that the development would have any significant effect on air quality. 
Environment, Health and Consumer Protection raise no objection to the scheme 
following the submission of additional clarification and there is no requirement to 
undertake any further assessment. With respect to the construction phase of the 
development, a dust action management plan be secured by condition. On balance, it 
is not considered there would be an adverse impact on the environment having regard 
to Policy 31 of the CDP and Paragraph 186 of the NPPF. 

 
124. The development would not lead to a significant reduction in residential amenity for 

existing or future residents, subject to appropriate conditions. Overall, the scheme would 
comply with Policies 29 and 31 of the CDP and Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF. 
 

Ecology  
 
125. Policies 26, 35, 41 and 43 of the CDP seek to secure net gains for biodiversity and 

coherent ecological networks. Policy 43 relates to protected species and nationally and 
locally protected sites. Part 15 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that developments protect 
and mitigate harm to biodiversity interests, and where possible, improve them. The 
presence of protected species is a material consideration in planning decisions as they 
are a protected species under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and the European 
Union Habitats Directive and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended). The Habitats Directive prohibits the deterioration, destruction or 
disturbance of breeding sites or resting places of protected species. Natural England 
has the statutory responsibility under the regulations to deal with any licence 
applications but there is also a duty on planning authorities when deciding whether to 
grant planning permission for a development which could harm a European Protected 
Species to apply three tests contained in the Regulations. These state that the activity 
must be for imperative reasons of overriding public interest or for public health and 
safety, there must be no satisfactory alternative, and that the favourable conservation 
status of the species must be maintained.  Brexit does not change the Council's 
responsibilities under the law. 

 
126. A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted in support of the proposal. It 

notes no statutory designated sites falls within 2km of the site boundary. Two non-
statutory sites lie within the vicinity of the development these being Knitsley and High 
House Wood Local Wildlife Site (LWS) (1km to the SW) and Hurbuck Triangle LWS 
(1.8km to the SE). The development is not predicted to have any impacts on statutorily 
or non-statutorily designated sites. Surveys recorded low levels of bat activity primarily 
associated with the field boundaries which are likely to provide both foraging and 
commuting opportunities. Roosting opportunities are limited to mature trees on site and 
in the wider area. The site provides both nesting and foraging opportunities for birds, 
potentially include ground nesting species such as skylark. The site provides potential 
foraging opportunities and habitats suitable for sett creation for badgers however there 
is an abundance of similar habitat in the wider area.  Other protected species are 
considered likely absent. Habitats on site are suitable to support brown hare and 
hedgehog.  

 

Page 40



127. The report outlines the potential impacts of the development to both habitats and 
species as well as a series of recommendations to minimise these. The mitigation 
measures can be secured via condition. No interference with protected species is 
identified as a result of the development. A European Protected Species Licence is 
therefore not considered to be required as a result of the development having regards 
to the requirements of the Habitats Directive brought into effect by the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 and the Council's Ecologist is satisfied with the 
submitted assessment. 

 
128. The Council's Ecologist has also considered the biodiversity metric which was 

undertaken during the course of the application. The overall landscape strategy 
approach includes the creation of species rich grassland/wildflower seeding/wet 
grassland (3.5ha), native woodland (1.1ha), native shrub (0.45ha) and native species 
rich hedgerow (1.45km). Overall, this would achieve a net gain of 11.99% therefore 
according with in accordance with CDP Policy 26 and 41 requirements and Paragraph 
174 of the NPPF. A detailed habitat creation and management document, including a 
monitoring strategy for a minimum of 30 years will need to be secured under Section 39 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
129. Overall and subject to the imposition of conditions to secure the mitigation strategy, a 

low level lighting scheme, a detailed habitat creation and management document 
including a monitoring strategy for a minimum of 30 years the proposal would comply 
with Policies 26, 35, 41 and 43 of the CDP and Part 15 of the NPPF. The Council’s 
Ecologist offers no objection to the scheme on this basis. 

 
Flooding and Drainage 

 
130. Policies 35 and 36 of the CDP relate to flood water management and infrastructure. 

Policy 35 requires development proposals to consider the effects of the scheme on flood 
risk and ensure that it incorporates a Sustainable Drainage System (SuDs) to manage 
surface water drainage. Development should not have an adverse impact on water 
quality. Policy 36 seeks to ensure that suitable arrangements are made for the disposal 
of foul water. National advice within the NPPF and PPG with regard to flood risk advises 
that a sequential approach to the location of development should be taken with the 
objective of steering new development to flood zone 1 (areas with the lowest probability 
of river or sea flooding).  When determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and only consider 
development appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where a sequential test and some 
instances exception test are passed, informed by a site-specific flood risk assessment.  

 
131. The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Drainage 

Strategy which highlights that the application site is within Flood Zone 1 with a low flood 
risk probability. The drainage strategy includes the incorporation of Sustainable Urban 
Drainage (SUD's) including permeable paving, a swale and a detention basin to treat 
and attenuate surface water runoff. Drainage and Coastal Protection Officers advise 
that this approach would be in compliance complies with National Standards and 
Council Policies in providing sustainable surface water management solutions and 
ensuring the prevention of flood risk to and from the proposed development. A 
conditional approach can be applied to secure the development takes place in 
accordance with the agreed scheme.  

 
132. In relation to foul water, it is proposed to connect to the existing sewerage network, to 

which Northumbrian Water raise no objections subject to the imposition of a condition. 
 
133. On this basis no objections to the development on the grounds of flood risk or drainage 

are raised having regards to Policies 35 and 36 of the CDP and Part 14 of the NPPF. 

Page 41



 
Infrastructure and Open Space Provision 

 
134. It is important to ensure that development proposals contribute to improvements in 

infrastructure capacity to mitigate for the additional demands that new development 
creates. By securing financial contributions through planning obligations, developers 
would help fund the physical, social and environmental infrastructure that is needed to 
make development acceptable and ensure that the development mitigates its impact 
upon existing infrastructure. Policy 25 of the CDP supports securing developer 
contributions where mitigation is necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms including for social infrastructure such as education and health facilities. 
Paragraphs 55-58 of the NPPF explain the circumstances when it is appropriate for 
planning obligations to be used to mitigate the impacts of the development.  
 

135. Policy 26 of the CDP outlines that new residential developments will be required to make 
provision for open space to meet the needs of future residents having regard to the 
standards of open space provision set out in the Open Space Needs Assessment 
(OSNA). Where it is determined that on-site provision is not appropriate, the Council will 
require financial contributions to be secured through planning obligations towards the 
provision of new open space, or the improvement of existing open space elsewhere in 
the locality. Paragraph 98 of the NPPF highlights that access to a network of high-quality 
open spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health 
and well-being of communities. Paragraph 130 requires amongst its advice that 
developments function well and optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and 
sustain an appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other 
public space).  
 

136. The Council’s Open Space Needs Assessment (OSNA) 2018 is considered the most up 
to date assessment of need. It identifies the five typologies (allotments; amenity/natural 
greenspace; parks, sports and recreation grounds; play space (children) and play space 
(youth)), sets out requirements for public open space on a population pro rata basis and 
whether provision should be either within the site, or through a financial contribution 
towards offsite provision, in lieu taking into consideration factors such as the scale of 
the development, existing provision within suitable walking distances and the level of 
contribution sought. Given the scales of the development, it would generally be 
expected that all typologies would be provided for on-site.  

 
137. The site layout demonstrates that large areas of green space (equating to 5.385ha) 

would be provided on site fulfilling and significantly exceeding the open space/natural 
green space (requirement is for 0.951) and parks/recreational grounds (requirement is 
for 0.8876ha) requirements. It is acknowledged that the open space is likely to be 
attractive to future residents of the estate and indeed those within the wider area 
especially as this typology is not currently present within this part of ward. The land 
would provide a variety of benefits including but not restricted to providing an attractive 
setting to Delves. Its inclusion within the scheme can be afforded weight in the planning 
balance. 

 
138. It has been advised that a private management company would be used to manage and 

maintain the areas of open space within the development, including the proposed 
equipped children’s play area, funded by future residents paying an annual service 
charge. Conditions can secure the details of the future management and maintenance 
arrangements as well as the details of the proposed play area.  

 
139. A contribution of £225,070 would be required for off-site provision in lieu of those 

typologies not provided for onsite (allotments and youth play space). Having regard to 
the OSNA, the availability and the proximity of existing facilities to the development this 

Page 42



is considered to acceptable and in accordance with the Council’s standard approach. 
This would satisfy the OSNA requirements, Policy 26 of the CDP and Paragraph 98 of 
the NPPF with regards to the provision of public open space. 

 
140. Paragraph 95 of NPPF confirms that the government places great importance to ensure 

that sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities. The School Places Manager has advised that the proposed development 
is likely to generate an additional 89 primary age school pupils and 35 secondary age 
school pupils. Whilst there is sufficient capacity at the local primary schools to the 
accommodate this need there is insufficient capacity at the local secondary school. A 
total contribution of £579,390 (35 x £16,554) towards education provision is therefore 
required. 

 
141. The Tees Valley Clinical Commissioning Group (TV CCG) advise that local GP practices 

are at full capacity with regards to space requirements to deliver services to their patient 
list size. A contribution of £139,104 is requested to support creating extra capacity for 
them to provide appropriate services to patients and to make the proposed housing 
expansion supportable from a health infrastructure perspective. 

 
Addressing Housing Need 
 
142. Part 5 of the NPPF is clear that developments should help to address housing needs. 

Policy 15 of the CDP states that affordable housing will be sought on sites of 10 or more 
units, for up to 25% of units in the highest value areas to 10% in the lowest. On sites of 
10 or more units, 10% of the homes provided should be for affordable home ownership 
(starter homes, discount market sale housing and other affordable routes to home 
ownership). Any contribution above 10% should be provided as affordable housing for 
rent in order to meet the requirements of Policy of the CDP.  
 

143. The site falls within a low value area, meaning this development would be required to 
deliver 10% affordable housing solely in the form of affordable home ownership. The 
scheme would provide a total 29 no. affordable units comprising entirely of three 
bedroomed dormer bungalows for discounted market sale thereby meeting the 
requirements of Policy 15 of the CDP and Paragraph 65 of the NPPF. The affordable 
housing would be secured in perpetuity through a planning obligation under S106 of the 
Town and County Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  
 

144. Policy 15 of the CDP also requires that on sites of 10 or more units, a minimum of 10% 
of the units should be designed so as to increase the housing options for older persons 
and people with disabilities comprising of level access flats and bungalows or housing 
products which can be shown to meet the specific needs of a multi-generational family. 
The 29 no. dormer bungalows would fulfil this requirement. The policy also requires that 
66% of dwellings should be built to Building Regulations Requirement M4(2) (accessible 
and adaptable dwellings) standard unless site specific factors indicate otherwise. The 
developer has indicated that they would meet this requirement and a condition is 
proposed to ensure that this is achieved. All new residential development will be 
required to comply with the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS). All 
properties within the development would meet the requirements.  

 
145. Policy 19 requires an appropriate mix of dwellings, types and sizes. Paragraph 61 of 

the NPPF states that the size, type and tenure of housing needed for different groups 
in the community should be assessed. In terms of housing mix, the development would 
provide a range of 3, 4 and 5 bedroomed units including detached, semi-detached 
houses, terraced and dormer bungalows options therefore in compliance with Policy 19 
of the CDP and Part 5 of the NPPF.   

 

Page 43



146. Overall, the scheme meets the identified housing needs of the County in accordance 
with the requirements of Policy 15 of the CDP and Part 5 of the NPPF.  

 
Contamination and Land Stability 
 

147. Policy 32 of the CDP requires sites to be suitable for use taking into account 
contamination and unstable land issues. Paragraph 183 of the NPPF requires sites to 
be suitable for their proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks 
arising from land instability and contamination.  
 

148. Given the sensitive end use of the site, a series of reports have been submitted in 
support of the application considering the issue of land contamination. Environmental 
Health Officers not that the submitted information does not cover the entire site and that 
ground gas protection measures are required on site. Further phase 1 and phase 2 
information is therefore required. A condition to secure this, Phase 3 works (remediation 
works) and 4 (verification) reports in addition to an informative relating to unforeseen 
contamination would ensure that the site is suitable for its intended use taking account 
of any risks arising from contamination. The proposal would therefore accord with Policy 
32 of the CDP and Paragraph 183 of the NPPF. 

 
149. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF sets out that unstable land should be remediated and 

mitigated where appropriate. The application site lies within the coal mining high risk 
area with Coal Authority records indicating parts of the site lie within an area where 
shallow coal mining has taken place. The application is supported by reports which aim 
to provide an assessment of the coal mining affects within the site and appropriate 
remediation measures. Intrusive investigations have already been undertaken with a 
recommendation for the undertaking of further site investigations to help inform the 
exact extent of remedial stabilisation works (drilling and grouting) and any mitigation 
measures necessary to ensure the safety and stability of the site as a whole.  The Coal 
Authority has recommended that such works are conditioned and that a verification 
report is submitted confirming the remedial works have been completed and the site 
has been made safe, stable and suitable for its proposed used. Subject to the imposition 
of these conditions, the proposal will meet the requirements of Policy 32 of the CDP and 
Part 15 of the NPPF. 

 
Developer Contributions 

 
150. Policy 25 of the CDP, Paragraph 57 of the NPPF and Paragraph 122 of The Community 

Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 set out three planning tests which must be met in 
order for weight to be given to a planning obligation. These being that matters specified 
are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly 
related to the development, and are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the development. The following obligations are considered to meet these tests and have 
been sought from the developer to mitigate the impacts of the development and to meet 
an identified affordable housing need in the County and would be secured through a 
planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended): 

 

 The requirement to enter into a S.39 Agreement to secure the long term management 
and maintenance, including a monitoring strategy of the biodiversity land;  

 £225,070 towards improving offsite open space and recreational provision within 
Delves Lane Electoral Division;  

 £57,600 towards improvements to the Sustrans National Cycle Network Route No. 14 
(NCN14), also known as the Lanchester Valley Railway Path, within the vicinity of the 
development; 

Page 44



 £57,600 towards improving the facilities and services at Delves Lane Community 
Centre;  

 £139,104 to increase GP surgery capacity; 

 £579,390 towards secondary education provision; 

 provision of 10% affordable housing units on site equating to 29 units for affordable 
home ownership 

 
Other Considerations 
 
151. Policy 29 of the CDP sets out that major new build residential development should 

achieve C02 reductions. Part 14 of the NPPF advises that the planning system should 
support the transition to a low carbon future. A condition would be imposed to secure 
this.  

 
152. Policy 14 of the CDP states that the development of the best and most versatile 

agricultural land, will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that the benefits of the 
development outweigh the harm and significant weight can be attributed to this policy. 
NPPF Paragraph 174 states that LPAs should recognise the economic and other 
benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land and where significant 
development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning 
authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a 
higher quality. Best and most versatile agricultural land is classified by the NPPF as 
grades 1, 2 or 3a.  

 
153. An Agricultural Land Classification Statement has been submitted in support of the 

application which identifies that the development would result in the loss of 
approximately 16.65ha of Grade 3 (good to moderate) agricultural land. The report does 
not identify whether the land falls into Grade 3a (best and most versatile) or 3b. In a 
circumstance whereby the land is classified as best and most versatile it does not 
preclude the land from development but is a factor to consider in the determination of 
the application in the planning balance. In this instance, it is considered that even if the 
whole site was best and most versatile agricultural land, its loss would not be significant, 
but nonetheless would be an adverse impact which should be given weight in the 
planning balance. 

 
154. Soil is a fundamental and finite resource that fulfils many important functions and 

ecosystem services and some of the most fundamental impacts on this resource can 
occur as a result of construction activity. Where development proposals are permanent 
it is important that soil resources are used effectively on undeveloped areas of the site 
for landscape, habitat or garden creation or used appropriately on other suitable sites. 
Policy 14 of the CDP requires all development proposals relation to previously 
undeveloped land must demonstrate that soil resources will be managed and conserved 
in a viable condition and used sustainably in line with accepted best practice. A soil 
resource management strategy can be secured by condition.  

 
155. The site lies within a Mineral Safeguarding Area due to it lying within a coal resource 

area. Policy 56 of the CDP states that planning permission will not be granted for non-
mineral development that would lead to the sterilisation of mineral resources within such 
areas unless specific criteria apply. For criteria a) of the Policy to be met, applicants 
should demonstrate to the satisfaction of the local planning authority that the mineral in 
the location concerned is no longer of any current or potential value as it does not 
represent an economically viable and therefore exploitable resource. The Council’s 
Spatial Policy team, having reviewed the Minerals Assessment, considers that in overall 
terms the remaining coal resource underlying the site would not be economic to extract. 
Furthermore, there does not appear to be any current market interest in doing so and 
commercial scale extraction is unlikely to be supported due to the proximity of the site 

Page 45



to local residents and businesses. On this basis, no objection is raised on the grounds 
of either Policy 56 of the CDP or Part 17 of the NPPF.  
 

156. Policy 27 of the CDP outlines that new residential development should be served by a 
high-speed broadband connection. Part 10 of the NPPF also has similar aims. The 
developer has confirmed that the site will be served by fibre broadband and a condition 
can be imposed to secure this.  

 
157. The proposal has generated public interest, with letters of objection and representation 

received from 142 no. local residents, businesses and local opposition group. A 337 
signature petition has also been received. The objections, queries and concerns raised 
have been taken account and addressed within the report, where appropriate. Issues 
which have not previously been addressed are considered below.  

 
158. Applicants are encouraged, albeit not obliged in this case, to engage with the local 

community prior to the submission of their development proposals. Whilst some 
residents are concerned with the way this was conducted, it is not a factor against the 
development. The application was advertised in accordance with statutory requirements 
giving local residents opportunity to comment on the scheme.  

 
159. Developers often engage with pre-application discussions with the Local Planning 

Authority in advance of application submissions and any subsequent applications are 
determined on their merits. Such discussions are not required to be reveal on local 
searches.  

 
160. Loss of a view, property devaluation, private access rights, restrictive covenants on the 

land or whether Miller Homes as a company are a suitable housing developer are not 
material planning considerations.  

 
Public Sector Equality Duty 

 
161. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires public authorities when exercising their 

functions to have due regard to the need to i) the need to eliminate discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct, ii) advance equality of 
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not share it and iii) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share that characteristic. In this 
instance, officers have assessed all relevant factors and do not consider that there are 
any equality impacts identified. 

 
 

CONCLUSION 

 
162. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. In light of the recent adoption of the CDP, the Council now has an up to date 
development plan. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF establishes a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. For decision taking this means approving development 
proposals that accord with an up to date development plan without delay (Paragraph 11 
c).  
 

163. It is acknowledged that this proposal is not an allocated housing site under Policy 4 of 
the CDP. Policy 6 of the CDP does however permit development on unallocated sites 
on the basis that specific criteria are met. Through the course of this report, the overall 

Page 46



acceptability of the scheme or otherwise has been considered taking account all of the 
issues and consideration of applicable policies.  

 
164. It is considered that the development of the application site would not be in conflict with 

Policy 6 as it is well-related to the settlement, would not significantly affect the landscape 
character, the site lies within acceptable distances to local community facilities, services 
and sustainable transport links, it is acceptably designed and would not be prejudicial 
to highway safety or have a severe residual cumulative impact on network capacity.  

 
165. The application site is neither locally, nor nationally designated in terms of its landscape 

quality. Whilst the development would alter the character of the landscape, overall, it is 
not considered that this would be significantly adverse as the development would be 
read as an extension to the existing settlement of Consett. The scheme provides an 
appropriate level of structural landscaping to assimilate the development into its 
surroundings and provide an attractive new settlement boundary which and the 
landscaping planting proposed would help to mitigate this impact. The impact of the 
development will progressively reduce over time as the proposed landscaping 
establishes. As such the proposals would not conflict with Policies 6, 26, 29, 39 and 40 
of the CDP and Parts 12 or 15 of the NPPF. 

 
166. The development would result in the loss of 16.65ha of agricultural land and potentially 

this could be best and most versatile agricultural land, however, even in such a scenario 
this level of loss is not significant. 

 
167. The development would assist in maintaining housing land supply including the 

provision of affordable housing and older person accommodation whilst acknowledging 
that the Council can demonstrate in excess of 6 years housing land supply against an 
objectively assessed need. Accordingly, the weight to be afforded to the boost to 
housing supply as a benefit of the development is reduced.  
 

168. The proposal has generated public interest. The objections and concerns raised have 
been taken into account and addressed within the report. On balance the concerns 
raised were not felt to be of sufficient weight to justify refusal of this application in light 
of the benefits of the scheme and the ability to impose conditions and secure planning 
obligations under S106 of The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and 
secure net gains under S39 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).  
 

169. On balance, it is considered that proposals are acceptable, and the application is 
recommended for approval. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

That the application be APPROVED subject to the completion of a S106 Legal Agreement to 
secure the following:  
 

 The requirement to enter into a S.39 Agreement to secure the long term management 
and maintenance, including a monitoring strategy of the biodiversity land;  

 £225,070 towards improving offsite open space and recreational provision within 
Delves Lane Electoral Division;  

 £57,600 towards improvements to the Sustrans National Cycle Network Route No. 14 
(NCN14), also known as the Lanchester Valley Railway Path, within the vicinity of the 
development; 

 £57,600 towards improving the facilities and services at Delves Lane Community 
Centre;  

 £139,104 to increase GP surgery capacity; 
Page 47



 £579,390 towards secondary education provision; 

 provision of 10% affordable housing units on site equating to 29 units for affordable 
home ownership 

 
And subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission.   
 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

approved plans listed in Part 3 - Approved Plans. 
 

Drg. no. 001 Site Location Plan received 05/11/2021 
Drg. no. 01 Single Garage received 05/11/2021 
Drg. no. 04 Double Garage received 05/11/2021 
Drg. no. 100 Rev. D Overall Site Plan received 04/04/2022 
Drg. no. 101 Rev. D Site Layout Plan (South) received 04/04/2022 
Drg. no. 102 Rev. D Site Layout Plan (North) received 04/04/2022 
Drg. no. 1186_100 Rev. D Landscape Strategy received 04/04/2022 
Drg. no. 105 Rev. D Adoption Plan received 04/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.00 Rev. X Neighton (Contemporary) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.01 Rev. X Neighton (Context) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.10 Rev. X Harrison (Contemporary) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.11 Rev. X Harrison (Context inspired) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.12 Rev. X Harrison (Land to Contemp.) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.13 Rev. X Harrison (Land to Context) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.20 Rev. X Grayson (Contemporary) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.21 Rev. X Grayson (Context) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.22 Rev. X Grayson (Landscape) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022  
Drg. no. SD30.30 Rev. X Cunningham (Contemporary) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.31 Rev. X Cunningham (Context) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.32 Rev. X Cunningham (Landscape) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.33 Rev, X Cunningham (Land to Contemp.) – Proposed Elevations 
received 08/04/2022  
Drg. no. SD30.34 Rev. X Cunningham (Land to Context) – Proposed Elevations 
received 08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.40 Rev. X Denham (Contemporary) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.41 Rev. X Denham (Context) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 

Page 48



Drg. no. SD30.42 Rev. X Denham (Landscape) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022  
Drg. no. SD30.50 Rev. X Farnham (Contemporary) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022  
Drg. no. SD30.51 Rev. X Farnham (Context) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.52 Rev. X Farnham (Landscape) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022  
Drg. no. SD30.53 Rev. X Farnham (Land to Contemp.) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022  
Drg. no. SD30.54 Rev. X Farnham (Land to Context) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.60 Rev. X Wyndham (Contemporary) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.61 Rev. X Wyndham (Context) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.62 Rev. X Wyndham (Landscape) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.63 Rev. X Wyndham (Land to Context) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.70 Rev. X Hopkin (Contemporary) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.71 Rev. X Hopkin (Context) – Proposed Elevations received 08/04/2022 
Drg. no. SD30.72 Rev. X Hopkin (Landscape) – Proposed Elevations received 
08/04/2022 
Character Study received 16/03/2022 
 

 Reason: To define the consent and ensure that a satisfactory form of development is 
obtained in accordance with Policies 6, 10, 15, 19, 21, 29, 31, 35, 36, 39, 40, 41 and 44 
of the County Durham Plan and Parts 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14, 15 and 16 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3. No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Construction 
Management Plan shall include as a minimum but not necessarily be restricted to the 
following:    

  
1.  A Dust Action Plan including measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 
construction. 
 
2. Details of methods and means of noise reduction/suppression.  
 
3. Where construction involves penetrative piling, details of methods for piling of 
foundations including measures to suppress any associated noise and vibration.  
 
4. Details of measures to prevent mud and other such material migrating onto the 
highway from all vehicles entering and leaving the site.   
 
5. Designation, layout and design of construction access and egress points. 
 
6. Details for the provision of directional signage (on and off site).   
 
7. Details of contractors' compounds, materials storage and other storage 
arrangements, including cranes and plant, equipment and related temporary 
infrastructure.   
 

Page 49



8. Details of provision for all site operatives for the loading and unloading of plant, 
machinery and materials.   
 
9. Details of provision for all site operatives, including visitors and construction vehicles 
for parking and turning within the site during the construction period.   
 
10. Routing agreements for construction traffic.  
 
11. Details of the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate.  
 
12. Waste audit and scheme for waste minimisation and recycling/disposing of waste 
resulting from demolition and construction works.  
 
13. Management measures for the control of pest species as a result of demolition 
and/or construction works. 
 
14. Detail of measures for liaison with the local community and procedures to deal with 
any complaints received.  

  
 The management strategy shall have regard to BS 5228 "Noise and Vibration Control 

on Construction and Open Sites" during the planning and implementation of site 
activities and operations.   

  
 The approved Construction Management Plan shall also be adhered to throughout the 

construction period and the approved measures shall be retained for the duration of the 
construction works.   

  
 Reason: To protect the residential amenity of existing and future residents from the 

development in accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. Required to be pre commencement to ensure 
that the whole construction phase is undertaken in an acceptable way. 

 
4. No development shall commence until a written scheme of investigation setting out a 

phased programme of archaeological work in accordance with 'Standards For All 
Archaeological Work In County Durham And Darlington' has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of archaeological 
work will then be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme of works. 

  
 Reason: To safeguard any Archaeological Interest in the site, and to comply with Part 

16 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Required to be a pre-commencement 
condition as the archaeological investigation/mitigation must be devised prior to the 
development being implemented. 

 
5. No part of an individual phase of the development as set out in the agreed programme 

of archaeological works shall be occupied until the post investigation assessment has 
been completed in accordance with the approved Written Scheme of Investigation. The 
provision made for analysis, publication and dissemination of results, and archive 
deposition, should be confirmed in writing to, and approved by, the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  
 Reason: To comply with Paragraph 205 of the NPPF, which requires the developer to 

record and advance understanding of the significance of heritage assets, and to ensure 
information gathered becomes publicly accessible. 

 

Page 50



6. No development shall commence until a land contamination scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted 
scheme shall be compliant with the YALPAG guidance and include a Phase 1 
preliminary risk assessment (desk top study). 

  
 If the Phase 1 assessment identifies that further investigation is required a Phase 2 site 

investigation shall be carried out, which shall include a sampling and analysis plan. If 
the Phase 2 identifies any unacceptable risks, a Phase 3 remediation strategy shall be 
produced and where necessary include gas protection measures and method of 
verification. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the presence of contamination is identified, risk assessed and 

proposed remediation works are agreed in order to ensure the site suitable for use, in 
accordance with Policy 32 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. Required to be pre-commencement to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely.  

 
7. Remediation works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation 

strategy. The development shall not be brought into use until such time a Phase 4 
Verification report related to that part of the development has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that the remediation works are fully implemented as agreed and the 

site is suitable for use, in accordance with Policy 32 of the County Durham Plan and 
Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
8. No development shall take place until a scheme of further intrusive site investigations 

have been undertaken to assess the ground conditions and the potential risks posed to 
the development by past shallow coal mining activity. A report shall thereafter be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority setting out the 
findings of the intrusive site investigations including a scheme of remedial work where 
required. Thereafter the development shall take place in accordance with the agreed 
details. 

  
 Reason: The undertaking of intrusive site investigations, prior to the commencement of 

development, is considered to be necessary to ensure that adequate information 
pertaining to ground conditions and coal mining legacy is available to enable appropriate 
remedial and mitigatory measures to be identified and carried out before building works 
commence on site.  This is in order to ensure the safety and stability of the development, 
in accordance with Policy 32 of the County Durham Plan and Paragraphs 178 and 179 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
9. Prior to first occupation of the development, a signed statement or declaration prepared 

by a suitably competent person confirming that the site is, or has been made, safe and 
stable for the approved development shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval in writing. This document shall confirm the methods and findings of the 
intrusive site investigations and the completion of any remedial works and/or mitigation 
necessary to address the risks posed by past coal mining activity.   

  
 Reason: To ensure that the remediation works are fully implemented as agreed and the 

site is suitable for use, in accordance with Part 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
10. No development or works to trees or hedges shall commence until a Tree Protection 

Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No 
construction work shall take place, nor any site cabins, materials or machinery be 

Page 51



brought on site until all trees and hedges, scheduled for retention, have been protected 
in accordance with the approved details and in accordance with BS 5837:2012. The 
protection measures shall remain in place until the cessation of the development works. 
The tree protection shall be retained throughout the construction period. No materials, 
equipment or vehicles shall be stored inside the protective fencing. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and to comply with Policy 40 

of the County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. Required as a pre-commencement condition to ensure that the trees are 
adequately protected prior to the commencement of the development. 

 
11. No development shall commence until a soil resource management strategy has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The strategy shall 
clearly describe the proposed use of all soils on site and demonstrate that soil resources 
will be managed and conserved in a viable condition and used sustainably in line with 
accepted best practice.  The strategy should detail soil handling, storage and 
replacement methods to be used appropriate to the grade of soil and intended after-
use.  The strategy shall also include details of the proposed soil depths upon 
replacement and plant and machinery to be used as well as, where appropriate, steps 
to prevent the spread of any soil-borne plant or animal diseases.  If soils are to be 
removed from site, then details of quantities and a programme for removal shall be 
submitted. Thereafter, development shall take place in accordance with the approved 
details.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of the protection of soil resources and to comply with Policy 14 

of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
12 No development, other than site investigations and remediation works, shall commence 

until such time as a scheme detailing the precise means of broadband connection to 
the site has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning. Thereafter, 
the development shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed detail. 

  
 Reason: To ensure a high quality of development is achieved and to comply with the 

requirements of Policy 27 of the County Durham Plan and Part 10 of the NPPF. 
 
13. No development, other than site investigations and remediation works, shall commence 

until a scheme to achieve C02 emissions reductions has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme prior to first occupation and 
permanently retained thereafter. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of sustainable construction and in accordance with Policy 29 of 

the County Durham Local Plan and Part 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
14. No development, other than site investigation and remediation works, shall commence 

until a scheme of noise mitigation measures has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The aim of the scheme shall be to protect future 
occupiers from road traffic/commercial noise and should ensure the following noise 
levels are achieved. 

  
 

 35dB LAeq 16hr bedrooms and living room during the day-time (0700 - 2300)  

 30 dB LAeq 8hr in all bedrooms during the night time (2300 - 0700) 

 45 dB LAmax in bedrooms during the night-time 

 55dB LAeq 16hr in outdoor living areas 
  
Page 52



 The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the beneficial occupation of the 
development and shall be permanently retained thereafter. 

  
 Reason: In the interest of the amenity of future occupants in accordance with Policies 

29 and 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
15. No development, other than site investigations and remediation works, shall commence 

until full engineering details of the site access, pedestrian footpaths and relocated bus 
stop in accordance with drg. no. 19-203-002 Rev. C (Proposed Delves Lane/Access 
Road Priority Junction) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The works shall be completed in accordance with the agreed details 
prior to the first occupation of the dwellings.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policies 6, 21 and 29 of 

the County Durham Plan and Part 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
16. No development, other than site investigations and remediation works, shall commence 

until full engineering details of the estate roads including traffic calming measures have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter 
the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policies 6, 21 and 29 of 

the County Durham Plan and Part 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
  
17. Prior to the construction of the 1st dwelling hereby approved, full details of the proposed 

site levels, finished floor levels and all means of enclosure to erected within the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The submitted details must include details of any retaining walls/structures 
required including their interaction with other means of enclosure such as garden fences 
within the site. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the surrounding areas and neighbouring 

properties, in accordance with Policy 29 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 
15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
18. Prior to the commencement of construction at damp proof course or above, samples of 

the external walling and roofing materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in accordance 
with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the area and to comply with Policy 29 of 

the County Durham Plan and Part 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
19. No dwellings shall be occupied until a Travel Plan (conforming to the National 

Specification for Workplace Travel Plans, PAS 500:2008, Bronze level) comprising 
immediate, continuing or long-term measure to promote and encourage alternatives to 
single occupancy car use has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The submitted details shall include mechanisms for monitoring and 
review over the life of the development and timescales for implementation. The 
Approved Travel Plan shall thereafter be implemented, monitored and reviewed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

  

Page 53



 Reason: To reduce reliance on the private motor car and to promote sustainable 
transport methods in accordance with Policy 21 of the County Durham Plan and Part 9 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20. No dwellings shall be occupied until a scheme for the ongoing maintenance of the areas 

of public open space within the development hereby approved have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. In the event of proposals to 
maintain the public open space by means other than through transfer to the Local 
Authority then the scheme shall provide for details of an agreed maintenance and 

 cutting schedule in perpetuity. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of appearance of the area in accordance with Policy 26 and 29 

of the County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF. 
 
21. No dwelling shall be occupied until a detailed specification for the new footpath link to 

the south of Greenways, as shown on drg. no. 105 Rev D (adoption plan), has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
be completed in accordance with the approved details and timings thereafter. 

  
 Reason: To secure new pedestrian routes and to comply with Policy 26 of the County 

Durham Plan and Parts 4 and 8 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
22. No dwelling shall be occupied until a scheme detailing the new bus stops on Greenways 

as indicatively shown on drg. no. 19-203-0004 (bus stop locations) has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details and timings thereafter. 

  
 Reason: To reduce reliance on the private motor car and to promote sustainable 

transport methods in accordance with Policies 21 and 29 of the County Durham Plan 
and Part 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
23. No dwelling shall be occupied until a scheme detailing the new external footpath 

connections as shown on drg. no. 19-203-0004 (bus stop locations) has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details and timings thereafter. 

  
 Reason: To secure new pedestrian routes, reduce reliance on the private motor car and 

to promote sustainable transport methods and to comply with Policies 21, 26 and 29 of 
the County Durham Plan and Parts 4, 8 and 9 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
24. No dwelling shall be occupied until a detailed landscaping scheme, based on the 

principles shown on drg. no. 1186_100 (Landscape Strategy), has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
No tree shall be felled or hedge removed until the landscape scheme, including any 
replacement tree and hedge planting, is approved as above. 

 
Any submitted scheme must be shown to comply with legislation protecting nesting birds 
and roosting bats. 

  
The landscape scheme shall include accurate plan based details of the following: 

 
Trees, hedges and shrubs scheduled for retention.  
Details of hard and soft landscaping including planting species, sizes, layout, densities, 
numbers.  

Page 54



Details of planting procedures or specification.  
Finished topsoil levels and depths.  
Details of temporary topsoil and subsoil storage provision. 
Seeded or turf areas, habitat creation areas and details etc. Details of land and surface 
drainage.  
The establishment maintenance regime, including watering, rabbit protection, tree 
stakes, guards etc.  
Tree pit details. 
Bin collection point details.  

 
The Local Planning Authority shall be notified in advance of the start on site date and 
the completion date of all external works. 

 
Trees, hedges and shrubs shall not be removed without agreement within five years.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and to comply with Policy 29 
of the County Durham Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

25. All planting, seeding or turfing and habitat creation in the approved details of the 
landscaping scheme shall be carried out in the first available planting season following 
the practical completion of the development.  
 
No tree shall be felled or hedge removed until the removal/felling is shown to comply 
with legislation protecting nesting birds and roosting bats. 
 
Any approved replacement tree or hedge planting shall be carried out within 12 months 
of felling and removals of existing trees and hedges. 
 
Any trees or plants which die, fail to flourish or are removed within a period of 5 years 
from the substantial completion of the development shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species.  
 
Replacements will be subject to the same conditions. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and to comply with Policy 29 
of the County Durham Plan and Part 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
26. No dwelling shall be occupied until a scheme for the on-site children's play area as 

indicated on drg. 1186_100 (Landscape Strategy) has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted scheme shall detail the 
appearance and layout of the play area, maintenance schedule and timeframes for 
implementation/completion. The scheme shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved details and timings thereafter. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of providing adequate play facilities for prospective residents 

of a major housing scheme in accordance with Policy 26 of the County Durham Plan. 
 
27. Prior to the occupation of the 15th dwelling, off-site highway works at the junction of 

A692 / Delves Lane Roundabout as shown on plan: 20-073/004 by Milestone Transport 
Planning shall be constructed and operational.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that impacts from the development upon highway safety are 

mitigated in accordance with Policies 6 and 21 of the County Durham Plan and Part 9 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 55



28. Prior to the occupation of the 15th dwelling, off-site highway works at the junction of 
A692 / Leadgate Road Roundabout as shown on plan: 20-073/005 by Milestone 
Transport Planning shall be constructed and operational.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that impacts from the development upon highway safety are 

mitigated in accordance with Policies 6 and 21 of the County Durham Plan and Part 9 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
29. Prior to the occupation of the 113th dwelling, off-site highway works at the junction of 

Delves Lane / Gloucester Road Roundabout as shown on plan: 001P by iPRT shall be 
constructed and operational.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that impacts from the development upon highway safety are 

mitigated in accordance with Policies 6 and 21 of the County Durham Plan and Part 9 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
30. Prior to the occupation of the 239th dwelling, off-site highway works at the A691 / 

Stockerley Lane T-Junction as shown on plan: 20-073/002 by Milestone Transport 
Planning shall be constructed and operational.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that impacts from the development upon highway safety are 

mitigated in accordance with Policies 6 and 21 of the County Durham Plan and Part 9 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
31. No external lighting shall be erected/installed until a detailed lighting strategy for the 

development hereby approved has been submitted to and approved in writing. All 
external lighting shall thereafter be completed in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure retained habitat is protected and to conserve protected species in 

accordance with Policies 41 and 44 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
32. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations outlined 

within Section 6 of the Ecological Impact Assessment Version V2 dated November 2021 
by OS Ecology Ltd.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of ecology and ensuring no protected species are affected by 

the development in accordance with Policies 41 and 44 of the County Durham Plan and 
Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
33. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the drainage scheme detailed 

in the following documents and plans; 
 

 Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Issue by Queensberry Design 
Limited dated 23/03/2022 

 Memo/Technical Note for DCC for Durham CC LLFA comments dated 20th April 
2022 

 Drg. no. QD1724-00-01 Rev. C Engineering Layout Sheet 1 

 Drg. no. QD1724-00-02 Rev. C Engineering Layout Sheet 2 
 

Reason: In the interest of the adequate disposal of foul and surface water in accordance 
with Policies 35 and 36 of the County Durham Plan and Part 14 of the NPPF. 

 
34. The development hereby approved shall include 191 units which meet the Building 

Regulations Standard M4(2) Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings. No development 
shall take place until verification identifying which dwellings will be built to Buildings 

Page 56



Regulations M4(2) standard, from a suitably competent and qualified person, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall then be completed fully in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To meet the housing needs of older people and people with disabilities in 

accordance with Policy 15 of the County Durham Plan and Part 5 of the NPPF. Required 
to be pre-commencement to ensure that an acceptable scheme can be agreed and 
incorporated into the development before site works commence. 

 
35. All of the dwellings hereby approved shall be provided with electric vehicle charging 

points and said charging points must be installed and available for use before 
occupation of each dwelling.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of sustainable construction and in accordance with Policy 29 of 

the County Durham Local Plan and Part 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
36. All of the dwellings hereby approved shall be provided with private bike storage and 

said storage must be installed and available for use before occupation of each dwelling.  
  
 Reason: To encourage sustainable transport modes of travel having regard to CDP 

Policy 21 and Part 9 of the NPPF. 
 
37. No external construction works, works of demolition, deliveries, external running of plant 

and equipment shall take place other than between the hours of 0730 to 1800 on 
Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1300 on Saturday.  

  
 No internal works audible outside the site boundary shall take place on the site other 

than between the hours of 0730 to 1800 on Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1700 on 
Saturday.  

  
 No construction works or works of demolition whatsoever, including deliveries, external 

running of plant and equipment, internal works whether audible or not outside the site 
boundary, shall take place on Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays.  

  
 For the purposes of this condition, construction works are defined as: The carrying out 

of any building, civil engineering or engineering construction work involving the use of 
plant and machinery including hand tools.  

  
 Reason: To protect the residential amenity of existing and future residents from the 

development in accordance with Policies 29 and 31 of the County Durham Plan and 
Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT 

 
In accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority has, without 
prejudice to a fair and objective assessment of the proposals, issues raised and 
representations received, sought to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner 
with the objective of delivering high quality sustainable development to improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area in accordance with the NPPF. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
 Submitted application form, plans supporting documents and subsequent information 

provided by the applicant. 
Page 57



 The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
 National Planning Practice Guidance notes. 
 County Durham Plan 
 Statutory, internal and public consultation response 
 County Durham Strategic Housing Land Assessment Report (2019) 
 County Durham Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2019) 
 Settlement Study (2018) 
 Open Space Needs Assessment (2018) 
 Residential Amenity Standards SPD (2020) 
 County Durham Building for Life SPD (2019) 
 County Durham Landscape Character Assessment: West Durham Coalfield (2019) 

  

Page 58



 

 
 

 

   Planning Services 

DM/21/03839/FPA  
 
Erection of 288 no. dwellings with associated 
access, landscaping and infrastructure (revised 
description 28/02/2022) 
Land North Of Delves Lane 
Consett 
 

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the 
permission o Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her majesty’s 
Stationary Office © Crown copyright. 
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may 
lead to prosecution or civil proceeding. 
Durham County Council Licence No. 100022202 2005 

Comments  
 
 

Date 3rd May 2022 Scale   Not to 
Scale 
 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

Planning Services 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

APPLICATION DETAILS 

 

APPLICATION NO: 
DM/21/01520/FPA 

FULL APPLICATION DESCRIPTION: 
Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 
148no. 2, 3 and 4 bedroom two-storey dwellings with 
associated works 

NAME OF APPLICANT: Gleeson Regeneration Ltd. 

ADDRESS: 

Land To The Rear Of The Old Chapel 
Colliery Road 
Bearpark 
DH7 7AU 

ELECTORAL DIVISION: Deerness 

CASE OFFICER: 

Barry Gavillet 
Senior Planning Officer  
03000 261958 
barry.gavillet@durham.gov.uk    

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSALS 

 
The Site  
 
1. The site measures 6.38ha and is located to the north of Bearpark and predominantly 

comprises vacant grassed land. The north-eastern part of the site is Bearpark 
Industrial Estate, an area of previously developed land comprising manufacturing 
warehouses which are currently vacant along with the associated vacant land. Outside 
of the application site red-line boundary also to the north is the residential property 
named The Old Chapel which has previously been identified as a non-designated 
heritage asset, this would be surrounded on the east, south and west by the proposed 
development with Colliery Road beyond. To the east is an un-named lane beyond a 
Public Right of Way (No. 7) which runs from north to south and connects Colliery Road 
with Cook Avenue. Further to the east is Bearpark Primary School with playing fields 
beyond, whilst to the south and west are residential properties. 

 
2. This majority of this site is allocated under Policy 4 of the County Durham Plan (CDP) 

(Reference H7) for housing. The adjacent industrial site included in this application is 
not allocated in the County Durham Plan for any particular use, although previously 
industrial land it is not allocated in Policy 2 as an industrial estate use and is currently 
made up of small vacant industrial units.   

 
Proposal  
 
3. The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 148 dwellings. The 

proposal includes a mix of 2, 3, and 4 bedroomed detached and semi-detached two 
storey dwellings and 14 bungalows. All properties would have front and rear gardens 
along with off-street parking, the majority of which would be in the form of detached 

Page 61

Agenda Item 5b

mailto:barry.gavillet@durham.gov.uk


 

 

garaging set back from the highway along with permeable driveways. Each property 
would also have bin storage areas along with some collection points across the site. 
Dwellings would be constructed of three varying red brick types, and a plain profile 
grey rooftile along with anthracite grey windows and doors and black rainwater goods.  

 
4. The layout includes a comprehensive landscaping scheme, a large area of public open 

space to the northwest of the site including a sustainable drainage (SuDs) basin and 
a central area of public open space with a footpath running through it from north to 
south. A substation would be located to the northern area of the site behind The Old 
Chapel adjacent to the main spine road.   

 
5. The access to the site would be from Colliery Road to the north whilst there would be 

new footpath links to the west onto Hilltop Road and to the southwest onto Cook 
Avenue. It is also proposed to introduce traffic calming measures along Colliery Road 
and to improve the junction onto Auton Stile. 

 
6. The application is being reported to the County Planning Committee as it is a major 

residential development on a site in excess of 4 hectares.  
 

PLANNING HISTORY 

 
7. In January 2018 a full planning application was submitted for the development of 170 

residential dwellings, including 34no. affordable dwellings (application reference: 
DM/18/00129/FPA). This application was withdrawn in May 2019. 

 

PLANNING POLICY 

NATIONAL POLICY  

 

8. A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2021 (with 
updates since). The overriding message continues to be that new development that is 
sustainable should go ahead without delay. It defines the role of planning in achieving 
sustainable development under three overarching objectives – economic, social and 
environmental, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive 
ways. 

 
9. In accordance with Paragraph 219 of the National Planning Policy Framework, existing 

policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted or 
made prior to the publication of this Framework.  Due weight should be given to them, 
according to their degree of consistency with the Framework (the closer the policies in 
the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).  
The relevance of this issue is discussed, where appropriate, in the assessment section 
of the report. The following elements of the NPPF are considered relevant to this 
proposal. 

 
10. NPPF Part 2 - Achieving Sustainable Development. The purpose of the planning system 

is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and therefore at the 
heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. It defines the 
role of planning in achieving sustainable development under three overarching 
objectives - economic, social and environmental, which are interdependent and need to 
be pursued in mutually supportive ways. The application of the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development for plan-making and decision-taking is outlined. 

 
11. NPPF Part 4 - Decision-making. Local planning authorities should approach decisions 

on proposed development in a positive and creative way. They should use the full range 
Page 62



 

 

of planning tools available, including brownfield registers and permission in principle, 
and work proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every 
level should seek to approve applications for sustainable development where possible.  

 
12. NPPF Part 5 - Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes. To support the Government's 

objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient 
amount and variety of land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of 
groups with specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission 
is developed without unnecessary delay. 

 
13. NPPF Part 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy. The Government is committed 

to securing economic growth in order to create jobs and prosperity, building on the 
country's inherent strengths, and to meeting the twin challenges of global competition 
and a low carbon future. 

 
14. NPPF Part 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities.  The planning system can play 

an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive 
communities. Developments should be safe and accessible; Local Planning Authorities 
should plan positively for the provision and use of shared space and community 
facilities. An integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and services should be adopted. 

 
15. NPPF Part 9 – Promoting sustainable transport. Encouragement should be given to 

solutions which support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and reduce 
congestion.  Developments that generate significant movement should be located 
where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes 
maximised. 

 
16. NPPF Part 11 – Making effective use of land.  Planning policies and decisions should 

promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while 
safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living 
conditions. Strategic policies should set out a clear strategy for accommodating 
objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes as much use as possible of previously-
developed or 'brownfield' land. 

 
17. NPPF Part 12 – Achieving well-designed places The Government attaches great 

importance to the design of the built environment, with good design a key aspect of 
sustainable development, indivisible from good planning. 

 
18. NPPF Part 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

- The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing 
climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape 
places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, 
minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing 
resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and 
low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. 

 
19. NPPF Part 15 - Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment - Conserving and 

enhancing the natural environment.  The Planning System should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued 
landscapes, geological conservation interests, recognising the wider benefits of 
ecosystems, minimising the impacts on biodiversity, preventing both new and existing 
development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from pollution and 
land stability and remediating contaminated or other degraded land where appropriate. 

 

Page 63



 

 

20. NPPF Part 16 - Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment - Heritage assets 
range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of the highest significance, 
such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally recognised to be of Outstanding 
Universal Value. These assets are an irreplaceable resource and should be conserved 
in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their 
contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations. 

 
21. NPPF Part 17 - Facilitating the Sustainable Use of Minerals - It is essential that there is 

a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods 
that the country needs. Since minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be 
worked where they are found, best use needs to be made of them to secure their long-
term conservation. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework  

 
22. The Government has consolidated a number of planning practice guidance notes, 

circulars and other guidance documents into a single Planning Practice Guidance Suite.  
This document provides planning guidance on a wide range of matters. Of particular 
relevance to this application is the practice guidance with regards to; air quality; historic 
environment; design process and tools; determining a planning application; flood risk; 
healthy and safe communities; land stability; land affected by contamination; housing 
and economic development needs assessments; housing and economic land 
availability assessment; light pollution; natural environment; neighbourhood planning; 
noise; open space, sports and recreation facilities, public rights of way and local green 
space; planning obligations; travel plans, transport assessments and statements; use 
of planning conditions; viability; Tree Preservation Orders and trees in conservation 
areas and; water supply, wastewater and water quality. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  

 
LOCAL PLAN POLICY:  
 
County Durham Plan 
 
23. Policy 2 – Employment Land, Employment Allocations. States that Undeveloped land 

and plots at the following employment sites and at proposed extensions to these existing 
employment sites, as shown on the policies map, are allocated for B1 (Business), B2 
(General Industrial) and B8 (Storage and Distribution) unless specifically stated. 

 
24. Policy 4 - Housing Allocations identifies the locations for new housing within the County.  

Applications for housing on these allocations if in accordance with the site-specific 
requirements of the policy and infrastructure requirements should be approved if in 
accordance with other relevant policies in the plan.   

 
25. Policy 6 - Development of Unallocated Sites. States the development on sites not 

allocated in the Plan or Neighbourhood Plan, but which are either within the built-up 
area or outside the built up area but well related to a settlement will be permitted 
provided it: is compatible with use on adjacent land; does not result in coalescence with 
neighbouring settlements; does not result in loss of land of recreational, ecological, or 
heritage value; is appropriate in scale, design etc to the character of settlement; it is not 
prejudicial to highway safety; provides access to sustainable modes of transport; 
retains the settlement’s valued facilities; considers climate change implications; 
encourages the use of previously developed land and reflects priorities for urban 
regeneration.  

 

Page 64

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


 

 

26. Policy 10 – Development in the Countryside. Development in the countryside will not be 
permitted unless allowed for by specific policies in the Plan, relevant policies within an 
adopted neighbourhood plan relating to the application site or where the proposal 
relates to one or more of the following exceptions; economic development, infrastructure 
development or the development of existing buildings. New development in the 
countryside must accord with all other relevant development plan policies and general 
design principles.  

 
27. Policy 15 - Addressing Housing Need. Establishes the requirements for developments 

to provide on-site affordable housing, the circumstances when off-site affordable 
housing would be acceptable, the tenure mix of affordable housing, the requirements of 
developments to meet the needs of older people and people with disabilities and the 
circumstances in which the specialist housing will be supported. 

 
28. Policy 19 - Type and Mix of Housing. Advises that on new housing developments the 

council will seek to secure an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes, taking 
account of existing imbalances in the housing stock, site characteristics, viability, 
economic and market considerations and the opportunity to facilitate self build or custom 
build schemes. 

 
29. Policy 21 - Delivering Sustainable Transport. Requires all development to deliver 

sustainable transport by: delivering, accommodating and facilitating investment in 
sustainable modes of transport; providing appropriate, well designed, permeable and 
direct routes for all modes of transport; ensuring that any vehicular traffic generated by 
new development can be safely accommodated; creating new or improvements to 
existing routes and assessing potential increase in risk resulting from new development 
in vicinity of level crossings. Development should have regard to Parking and 
Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
30. Policy 22 - Durham City Sustainable Transport. Seeks to reduce the dominance of car 

traffic, address air quality and improve the historic environment within the Durham City 
area. 

 
31. Policy 25 - Developer Contributions. Advises that any mitigation necessary to make the 

development acceptable in planning terms will be secured through appropriate planning 
conditions or planning obligations.  Planning conditions will be imposed where they are 
necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, enforceable, 
precise and reasonable in all other respects.  Planning obligations must be directly 
related to the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. 

 
32. Policy 26 – Green Infrastructure. States that development will be expected to maintain 

and protect, and where appropriate improve, the County’s green infrastructure 
network.  Advice is provided on the circumstances in which existing green infrastructure 
may be lost to development, the requirements of new provision within development 
proposals and advice in regard to public rights of way. 

 
33. Policy 27 – Utilities, Telecommunications and Other Broadcast Infrastructure.  States 

amongst its advice that new residential and commercial development should be served 
by a high speed broadband connection or appropriate infrastructure for future 
installation if direct connection is not appropriate, practical or economically viable.  

 
34. Policy 29 – Sustainable Design. Requires all development proposals to achieve well 

designed buildings and places having regard to SPD advice and sets out detailed 
criteria which sets out that where relevant development is required to meet including; 
making a positive contribution to an areas character and identity; provide adaptable 

Page 65



 

 

buildings; minimise greenhouse gas emissions and use of non renewable resources; 
providing high standards of amenity and privacy; contributing to healthy 
neighbourhoods; providing suitable landscape proposals; provide convenient access 
for all users; adhere to the Nationally Described Space Standards (subject to transition 
period).    

 
35. Policy 31 - Amenity and Pollution. Sets out that development will be permitted where it 

can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable impact, either individually or 
cumulatively, on health, living or working conditions or the natural environment and that 
they can be integrated effectively with any existing business and community facilities. 
Development will not be permitted where inappropriate odours, noise, vibration and 
other sources of pollution cannot be suitably mitigated against, as well as where light 
pollution is not suitably minimised. Permission will not be granted for sensitive land 
uses near to potentially polluting development. Similarly, potentially polluting 
development will not be permitted near sensitive uses unless the effects can be 
mitigated.  

 
36. Policy 32 - Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land. Requires 

that where development involves such land, any necessary mitigation measures to 
make the site safe for local communities and the environment are undertaken prior to 
the construction or occupation of the proposed development and that all necessary 
assessments are undertaken by a suitably qualified person.   

 
37. Policy 35 - Water Management. Requires all development proposals to consider the 

effect of the proposed development on flood risk, both on-site and off-site, 
commensurate with the scale and impact of the development and taking into account 
the predicted impacts of climate change for the lifetime of the proposal.  All new 
development must ensure there is no net increase in surface water runoff for the lifetime 
of the development.  Amongst its advice, the policy advocates the use of SuDS and 
aims to protect the quality of water. 

 
38. Policy 36 - Water Infrastructure. Advocates a hierarchy of drainage options for the 

disposal of foul water.  Applications involving the use of non-mains methods of drainage 
will not be permitted in areas where public sewerage exists.  New sewage and waste 
water infrastructure will be approved unless the adverse impacts outweigh the benefits 
of the infrastructure.  Proposals seeking to mitigate flooding in appropriate locations will 
be permitted though flood defence infrastructure will only be permitted where it is 
demonstrated as being the most sustainable response to the flood threat. 

 
39. Policy 39 – Landscape. Proposals for new development will only be permitted where 

they would not cause unacceptable harm to the character, quality or distinctiveness of 
the landscape, or to important features or views. Proposals are expected to incorporate 
appropriate mitigation measures where adverse impacts occur. Development affecting 
Areas of Higher landscape Value will only be permitted where it conserves and 
enhances the special qualities, unless the benefits of the development clearly outweigh 
its impacts.  

 
40. Policy 40 - Trees, Woodlands and Hedges. Proposals for new development will not 

be permitted that would result in the loss of, or damage to, trees, hedges or woodland 
of high landscape, amenity or biodiversity value unless the benefits of the scheme 
clearly outweigh the harm. Proposals for new development will be expected to retain 
existing trees and hedges or provide suitable replacement planting. The 
loss or deterioration of ancient woodland will require wholly exceptional reasons and 
appropriate compensation. 

 

Page 66



 

 

41. Policy 41 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity. Restricts development that would result in 
significant harm to biodiversity or geodiversity and cannot be mitigated or compensated. 
The retention and enhancement of existing biodiversity assets and features is required 
as are biodiversity net gains. Proposals must protect geological features, have regard 
to Geodiversity Action Plans and the Durham Geodiversity Audit and where appropriate 
promote public access, appreciation and interpretation of geodiversity.  

 
42. Policy 43 - Protected Species and Nationally and Locally Protected Sites. Development 

proposals that would adversely impact upon nationally protected sites will only 
be permitted where the benefits clearly outweigh the impacts whilst adverse impacts 
upon locally designated sites will only be permitted where the benefits outweigh the 
adverse impacts. Appropriate mitigation or, as a last resort, compensation must be 
provided where adverse impacts are expected. In relation to protected species and their 
habitats, all development likely to have an adverse impact on the species’ abilities to 
survive and maintain their distribution will not be permitted unless appropriate mitigation 
is provided or the proposal meets licensing criteria in relation to European protected 
species. 

 
43. Policy 44 - Historic Environment. Seeks to ensure that developments should contribute 

positively to the built and historic environment and seek opportunities to enhance and, 
where appropriate, better reveal the significance and understanding of heritage 
assets.  The policy advises on when harm or total loss of the significance of heritage 
assets can be accepted and the circumstances/levels of public benefit which must apply 
in those instances. 

 
44. Policy 56 - Safeguarding Mineral Resources. Sets out that planning permission will not 

be granted for non-mineral development that would lead to the sterilisation of mineral 
resources within a Mineral Safeguarding Area unless certain exception criteria apply. 

 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN: 
 
45. There is no neighbourhood plan in place for this area.  
 

CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES 

 
STATUTORY RESPONSES: 
 
46. Highway Authority – Officers initially had some concerns regarding the internal layout, 

traffic calming on Colliery Road, the Auton Stile junction and requested further 
information regarding trip rates which may impact the onto the main strategic A167 
corridor. Amendments and further information have been submitted by the applicant. 
Highways officers have reviewed the amended internal layout drawing and are now 
satisfied this meets the highway requirements. A series of raised table features have 
been added to incorporate suitable traffic calming measures in accordance with 
20mph design speed. In regard to the footpath link to the estate of Hilltop this again is 
considered satisfactory. Officers requested that the roads do not connect up as this 
would not be suitable in highway terms for the development to link up Colliery Road 
and Hilltop Estate. The existing highway conditions on Hilltop are as such that this 
would not be an appropriate loop road for passing traffic as the highway is narrow in 
part through the cull de sac residential areas which is staggered. Highways officers 
consider that linking this route up could lead to conflict with residents parked vehicles 
on street and harm to highway safety due to the convoluted narrow route. The principle 
of the highway mitigation works is also considered acceptable on Colliery Road with 
the 20mph zone proposed near the primary school and the chicane give way priority 
traffic feature with series of road hump traffic calming measures. The access 

Page 67



 

 

arrangement onto Auton Stile C17 is adequate in terms of its design and visibility for 
the traffic generated from the site. In relation to percentage increases in the AM and 
PM peak flow scenarios onto the main strategic A167 corridor, the information 
provided concludes that the development would not lead to a significant adverse 
impact in terms of increased traffic congestion onto the A167.  

 
47. Drainage and Coastal Protection – Officers advise that the submitted surface water 

management information is acceptable. However, it was suggested that a Surface 
Water Strategy document should be submitted along with engineering layouts, these 
have now been provided and drainage officers have no objections to the proposals. 

 
INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES: 
 
48. Spatial Policy – The majority of this site is allocated in Policy 4 (Reference H7) of the 

CDP, therefore the principle of housing on this part of the site is acceptable subject to 
the policy requirements set out within policy 4 being satisfied as well as other CDP 
policies set out above, and ensuring good design required by policy 29. The adjacent 
land at the vacant industrial estate will need to be determined against policy 6, which 
deals with development of housing on unallocated sites, it is considered that this site 
would satisfy the policy 6 criteria in principle, subject to matters of detail. 

 
49.     Archaeology – There is no archaeological objection to this application. 
 
50. Design and Conservation – During the planning process negotiations have taken place 

with the developer regarding the layout of the site and the character and materials of 
dwellings. As a result of this, amendments have been submitted and agreed with the 
applicant. The housing layout now incorporates corner turning units, housing that is 
set back and faces onto the Public Right of Way to the east and a choice of materials 
which mainly incorporates a red facing brick and a grey flat roof tile to reflect the 
characteristics of the village, with a modern distinctive character. The proposals have 
been to a design review panel with some red scores initially, however after discussions 
and amendments being made the scheme has scored 10 amber scores and two green 
scores which would be in accordance with policy 29 of County Durham Plan.  

 
51. Ecology – Note that the supplied Ecological impact Assessment confirms that no 

significant adverse impacts are anticipated on bats and great crested newts. The site 
is of Parish value for breeding birds however nearly all breeding territories were 
recorded around the perimeter of the site. Mitigation for the loss of breeding bird 
habitat is recommended and measures are proposed in the form of integrated bird 
breeding units installed in 10% of the new properties. Enhancement for bats is 
proposed in the form of integrated bat roost units installed into 10% of the new 
properties. Both the breeding bird and bat roost unit locations are detailed and this 
should be conditioned if planning consent is granted. 

 
The supplied Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment report concludes that the development 
will provide 14.22 habitat units and lead to a loss of over 45% over the site baseline. 
If the Council is to undertake biodiversity net gain on the applicant’s behalf the current 
sum is £5300 per biodiversity unit required. Therefore, a financial contribution for this 
development would be £64,766 and should be secured via S106 Agreement. 

 
52. Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Air Quality) – Mitigation measures are 

provided in section 7 and welcomed. The measures should be committed to by means 
of a planning condition or similar. The inclusion of a Travel Plan in the planning 
application is welcomed and again, any measures that could reduce emissions 
associated with the proposed development should be committed to by means of 
planning condition or similar. 

Page 68



 

 

 
53. Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Nuisance) – Officers have reviewed 

the information provided in relation to construction management techniques in order 
to control noise and dust during the development phase and in general are in 
agreement with the Construction Management Plan.  

 
54. Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Contaminated Land) – Officers are 

satisfied with the information provided and satisfied with the information provided in 
the remediation strategy. Ground gas protection measures are not required, however 
contaminants have been identified in the soils and a clean cover system is required. 
Given the above and due to the fact that this development constitutes a change of use 
to a more sensitive receptor, conditions should be applied to ensure remediation works 
are carried out.  

 
55. Landscape – The proposed layout provides a logical consolidation of the settlement 

with connections via footpaths and open space to local amenities.  Successful 
landscape mitigation is key and the development and should be able to accommodate 
trees to visually break up the proposed roofscape and building facades.  This would 
ensure that the development is not contrary to Policy 39 Landscape or to Policy 29 
Sustainable Development. It appears from the proposed plans that the southern hedge 
and existing trees on the site have where possible been retained. 

 
56. Landscape (Arboriculture) – Officers note that the arboricultural report is satisfactory 

and complies with current regulations and no trees within the site boundary warrant 
individual tree preservation orders.  

 
Officers state that landscape detail must be shown i.e., species and planting methods. 
Any proposed landscaping with trees must include underground systems where trees 
are located within or close to hardstanding areas. Species must be listed which will be 
in front of properties as the areas are likely to be small therefore the correct type of 
tree must be planted. For trees to grow within urban areas the correct planting systems 
must be in place; this will ensure longevity of tree cover and will allow correct root 
growth so that trees will not create future problems in footpaths and drives.  

 
57. Public Rights of Way – note the footpath link to Cook Avenue in the south west corner 

of the site has be reintroduced to the layout, with some degree of natural surveillance. 
 
58. School Places Manager – In relation to Primary School places officers have confirmed 

that based on the projected rolls of the schools, taking into account the likely 
implementation timeframe of the development, build rates and other committed 
development there would not be sufficient space to accommodate the pupils 
generated by the development, whilst maintaining a 5% surplus. Therefore, in order to 
mitigate the impact of the development a contribution of £441,090 (30 x £14,703) 
would be required to facilitate the provision of additional teaching accommodation.  

 
In relation to Secondary Schools, officers confirm that there would be sufficient space 
to accommodate pupils generated by the development, whilst maintaining a 5% 
surplus. No contribution for additional secondary teaching accommodation is therefore 
required. 

  
59. Sustainable Travel – Officers have stated that if a suitable footway can be constructed 

at the south west corner of the development providing a good direct walking route to 
bus services on the main road, then the development would be acceptable.  
 
 
 

Page 69



 

 

EXTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES: 
 
60. Coal Authority – The Coal Authority notes the supporting Phase II Geo-Environmental 

Site Investigation and Risk Assessment (January 2021, prepared by Roberts 
Environmental Ltd), the content of which confirms the results of an intrusive site 
investigation undertaken comprising of rotary boreholes. On the basis that the 
boreholes identified sufficient competent rock cover above the worked recorded 
shallow coal seam, the Coal Authority is satisfied the site is safe and stable to 
accommodate the proposed development and has no objections to the planning 
application. 

 
61. Northumbrian Water Limited – Note that a drainage scheme has been submitted with 

the application. The drainage strategy proposes to discharge unrestricted surface 
water flows to the combined sewer network which has not been agreed. In addition, 
the SUDS basin has an outfall to the surface water sewer which does not appear to 
have any restriction imposed. Therefore, NWL request that a foul and surface water 
condition is applied to any approval.  

 
62. NHS – This practice falls within Durham West Primary Care Network which is at full 

capacity with regards to space requirements to deliver services to their patient list 
size. S106 funding would support creating extra capacity for them to provide 
appropriate services to patients and this would require a contribution of £71,484 
toward healthcare provision.  

 
PUBLIC RESPONSES: 

 
63. The application has been advertised by way of a press and site notice and 207 individual 

notification letters to neighbouring residents.  
 
64. 11 no. letters of objection have been received along with a petition with 10 signatures, 

2 general comments and 2 letters of support. The main concerns and queries raised by 
the objectors can be summarised as follows: 

 

 There are concerns regarding an increase in traffic congestion, the proposed access 
point which may have poor visibility and speeding close to the school and nearby 
play area. In terms of highways, there is also concern that the access through the 
existing Hilltop Road estate is not suitable for additional traffic and that the Auton 
Stile junction is dangerous and not suitable for additional traffic use.  

 There are concerns regarding loss of wildlife on the field and loss of green space. 

 Objectors are concerned that the development would increase pressure on existing 
facilities, in particular the local surgery and the school. 

 In terms of nuisance, there are concerns raised regarding construction noise and air 
quality. 

 Objectors also have concerns relating to flooding and water pressure in the area. 

 In terms of amenity, some nearby residents raise concerns relating to a loss of view 
and privacy issues and also that there may be an increase in crime. 

 There are also concerns raised relating to the decrease in house values and some 
comment that there are more bungalows needed. 

 
65. Two letters have commented that they are generally in support of the application but 

would wish to see speed restrictions outside of the school and play area to the east. 
 
66. The two letters of support that have been received which outline that the proposals 

would be good for the village and for the school, economy, amenities and would 
enhance the area. 

 
Page 70



 

 

The above is not intended to repeat every point made and represents a summary of the comments received on this 
application. The full written text is available for inspection on the application file which can be viewed at: 

https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage   
 
 

APPLICANTS STATEMENT:  
 
67. The site provides a sustainable development opportunity and would contribute to the 

provision of a mix of housing size, types and affordability in the area, particularly 
promoting family housing and appropriate dwellings which allow people to stay in their 
local community. The proposals aim to deliver quality new homes to local people in 
addition to providing much needed new housing in this location. 

  
68. This planning application has considered all relevant planning policy matters in respect 

of the proposal bringing forward residential development. At a national, regional and 
local planning policy level, there remains a priority for development in urban areas to 
which this site would accord, as well as addressing the housing shortage faced at all 
levels. The site is fully compliant with the adopted County Durham Local Plan, as a site 
that is allocated for residential development. The development will also fully comply with 
Local Policy and contribute towards meeting the needs of the county’s existing and 
future residents by providing affordable housing, as well as providing 100% space 
standard dwellings, 66% M4(2) compliant dwellings and meeting the needs of older 
people and people with disabilities by providing bungalows. Additionally, the site will 
integrate well into the locality through design proposals and density accords with 
National Planning Policy. The applicants have undertaken considerable dialogue with 
architects, local residents, consultants and relevant officers at the Council to ensure that 
the scheme not only delivers high quality design, but also responds to the aspirations 
of the local community. Indeed, the proposals have been amended through the formal 
planning submission process, to take into account of the comments made. 

  
69. The site lies within a residential area in close proximity to services and facilities including 

access to sustainable travel options such as bus services and footpath links. There is 
ready access to local amenities, schools and employment sites, making the 
development socially sustainable.  

 
70. Development of the site will bring a number of social and economic benefits directly to 

Bearpark and the surrounding area. In terms of economic benefits, the development will 
deliver around £248,288 additional Council Tax per annum, with a New Homes Bonus 
payment to the Council of approximately £208,250. Based on the additional construction 
costs, the site will generate spend in the region of £12.5m directly from building activity. 
Socially, the development will sustain and create 155 direct jobs and 303 indirect jobs. 
Through the Community Matters Programme, Gleeson are committed to provide ‘Local 
Jobs for Local People’ and offer priority of employment to those living within 2 miles of 
each site, ensuring that the benefit of jobs and spend go to directly to the local 
community. Additionally, community engagement is a crucial part of our development 
process, and we will work closely with the local school to promote strong communities 
and inspire the future generations. 
 

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT 

 
71. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out that if regard 

is to be had to the development plan, decisions should be made in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In accordance with 
advice within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the policies contained 
therein are material considerations that should be taken into account in decision making. 
Other material considerations include representations received. In this context, it is 

Page 71

https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


 

 

considered that the main planning issues in this instance relate to the principle of 
development, locational sustainability, highway safety and access, landscape and 
visual impact, layout and design, residential amenity, addressing housing need, 
heritage and archaeology, ecology, flooding and drainage, open space provision, 
education, healthcare, developer contributions, contamination, land stability and 
minerals, concerns raised by residents and public sector equality duty. 
 

The Principle of the Development   
 
The Development Plan 
 
72. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The NPPF is a material planning consideration. The County Durham Plan 
(CDP) is the statutory development plan and the starting point for determining 
applications as set out in the Planning Act and reinforced at Paragraph 12 of the NPPF. 
The CDP was adopted in October 2020 and provides the policy framework for the 
County up until 2035.  

 
73. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. For decision taking this means: -  
 

c)  approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or  

 
d)  where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 

most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 
unless:  

 
i)  the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or,  

 
ii)  any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole.  

 
74. Policy 4 (Housing Allocations) of the CDP sets out sites allocated for housing to deliver 

the new homes required to meet our Local Housing Need (LHN).  It states that planning 
applications for housing on these allocations, that are in accordance with the site-
specific requirements in this Policy and any infrastructure constraints identified in the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan, will be approved if the proposed scheme is in accordance 
with other relevant policies in the Plan. 

  
75. The majority of the application site is allocated for housing in Policy 4 (Reference H7) 

of the CDP, therefore, the principle of housing on the allocated site is acceptable. This 
policy sets out the following requirements for this site: 

 

 To deliver local highway improvements including the widening of Colliery Road to 
a minimum of 6.75m, to complete a loop road connection through the site to Hilltop 
Road. 

 
76. The current proposal has been assessed by the Highway Authority and it has been 

concluded that the link road through to Hilltop Road would not be acceptable in 
highways terms and it has been requested that this link is pedestrian only, this has 
been agreed, amended plans received and will be discussed later in the report.  

Page 72



 

 

 
77. The proposal is for 148 units in total, on a larger land parcel than the Policy 4 allocation 

incorporating the adjacent and vacant industrial site. The adjacent industrial site 
included in this application is not allocated in the CDP for any particular use, although 
previously industrial land, it is now vacant and not allocated in policy 2.   

 
78. The vacant industrial site is vacant and is made up of small industrial units. It has been 

assessed in the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) Ref: 
4/BE/07, as amber unsuitable and the outcome states: 

 
“This site is an existing employment site which is partially occupied. This site will also 
require significant highway improvements which are more likely to be delivered as part 
of a larger scheme. STW upgrade scheduled for 2020 which could impact phasing, 
however given the existing use on the site it is anticipated that this would not be a 
significant constraint.” 

 
79. On face value, this indicates that this part of the application site is unsuitable due to it 

being currently in use an employment site, which is no longer the case. The highways 
improvements required would likely need to be delivered as part of a larger scheme.  
In this case, as it is included in this wider site and is now disused vacant land, the 
highway considerations can be taken on the site as a whole, so the issue will be 
whether or not the employment site is currently in use. It can be confirmed that the 
employment site is no longer in use.  

 
80. This vacant employment site will need to be determined against Policy 6 of the CDP, 

which deals with development of housing on unallocated sites.  This states that the 
development of sites which are within the built-up area will be permitted provided the 
proposal accords with all relevant development plan policies and the criteria within the 
policy. 

 
81. The housing allocation site and the industrial land are proposed to be developed as 

one site, therefore, it is considered that this site would satisfy the CDP Policy 6 criteria 
in principle, subject to matters of detail such as ensuring that the design, layout and 
scale of the houses is appropriate.  

 
Five Year Housing Land Supply 
 
82. It was established under the adoption of the CDP that the Council can demonstrate in 

excess of 5 years housing land supply (6.33 years). The CDP was adopted in October 
2020 and therefore, in accordance with Paragraph 74 of the NPPF, a five-year supply 
of deliverable housing sites, with the appropriate buffer can be demonstrated. This 
majority of this site forms part of the housing land supply as a housing allocation under 
Policy 4 of the CDP. However, the weight to be afforded to the boost to housing supply 
as a benefit of the smaller portion of the development on the vacant industrial estate 
is clearly less than in instances where such a healthy land supply position could not 
be demonstrated. This proportion of the site would be determined under Policy 6 of 
the CDP.  

 
Principle of Development - Conclusion 
 
83. The majority of this site is allocated in Policy 4 (Reference H7) of the CDP, therefore 

the principle of housing on this part of the site is acceptable subject to the Policy 
requirements set out within Policy 4 being satisfied as well as other CDP policies set 
out above, and ensuring good design required by Policy 29. It is noted however, that 
the vehicular access required by Policy 4 (Reference H7) for a vehicular access 
through to Hilltop Road has been reassessed and is no longer considered appropriate 

Page 73



 

 

by the Highway Authority. The adjacent land needs to be determined against Policy 6, 
which deals with development of housing on unallocated sites, it is considered that 
this site would satisfy the Policy 6 criteria, in principle. Policy 10 is not considered 
relevant in this instance as it accords with policies 4 and 6 of the CDP.  

 
84. Overall, it is considered that the development is acceptable in principle in terms of both 

Policies 4 and 6 of the CDP and the aims of the NPPF subject to matters of detail as 
set out below. 

 
Locational Sustainability 
 
85. Policy 21 of the CDP requires all developments to deliver sustainable transport by 

providing appropriate, well designed, permeable and direct routes for walking, cycling 
and bus access, so that new developments clearly link to existing services and facilities 
together with existing routes for the convenience of all users. Policy 29 of the CDP 
requires that major development proposals provide convenient access for all users 
whilst prioritising the needs of pedestrians, cyclists, public transport users, people with 
a range of disabilities, and, emergency and service vehicles whilst ensuring that 
connections are made to existing cycle and pedestrian networks.  Specifically, the NPPF 
sets out at Paragraph 105 that significant development should be focused on locations 
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering 
a genuine choice of transport modes. At Paragraph 110 the NPPF states that 
appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes should be taken 
whilst Paragraph 112 amongst its advice seeks to facilitate access to high quality public 
transport.  

 
86. The majority of this application site has been considered in terms of its sustainability in 

the Settlement Study, the SHLAA and as part of the assessment of the County Durham 
Plan and has been allocated as a housing site partly because of its good locational 
sustainability credentials. In relation to the part of the site that is not allocated under 
Policy 4, criteria f of Policy 6 of the CDP requires that developments on unallocated 
sites have good access by sustainable modes of transport to relevant services and 
facilities and reflects the size of the settlement and the level of service provision within 
that settlement. It is considered that as the housing allocation site and the industrial land 
are proposed to be developed as one site, the locational sustainability can be assessed 
as a whole. However, it is noted that the site would satisfy the Policy 6 criteria in 
principle.    

 
87. Bearpark in general is considered to be served by an appropriate range of services and 

amenities, consideration is required to be given as to the ability of future occupiers to 
access these. In this respect, the application is accompanied by a Transport 
Assessment and Travel Plan, which assess the accessibility of the site to local services 
and facilities, by foot, bicycle and bus, as well as impacts upon the highway network in 
terms of vehicular traffic and these are found to be acceptable. 

 
88. The site could have good connection to the Public Right of Way to the east of the site 

along with a new footpath link to the south west of the site connecting to Cook Avenue 
where there are bus routes and access to local shops, there would also be a new 
pedestrian link onto Hilltop Road to the west.  
 

89. In relation to distances to services and amenities, the access to the site is only around 
250 metres to Bearpark Primary School, approximately 400 metres to Bearpark 
Surgery, approximately 250 metres to the nearest local shops and there are bus stops 
within 100 and 400 metres.  
 

Page 74



 

 

90. Taken in the round, it is recognised that the local facilities and services are located in 
what are generally considered to be acceptable walking distances and the site benefits 
from good links to cycle routes. It is also noted that the site intends to provide additional 
connections onto Cook Avenue and Hilltop Road and has good access to the Public 
Right of Way. The proposals are considered to be in accordance with Policies 6 f), 21 
and 29 of the CDP and Paragraphs 105, 110 and 112 of the NPPF. 

 
Highway Safety and Access 

 

91. Policy 21 of the CDP requires transport implications of development to be addressed 
as part of the planning application.  It requires all development to deliver sustainable 
transport by:  

 

 Delivering, accommodating and facilitating investment in safe sustainable modes 
of transport in the following order of priority: those with mobility issues or 
disabilities, walking, cycling, bus and rail transport, car sharing and alternative fuel 
vehicles; 

 Providing appropriate, well designed routes for walking, cycling and bus access. 

 Ensuring that any vehicular traffic generated by new development can safely be 
accommodated on the local and strategic highway network; and, 

 ensuring the creation of new or improvements to existing routes and facilities do 
not cause unacceptable harm to the natural, built or historic environment. 

 
92. Development should also have regard to the policies set out in the County Durham's 

Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan and where possible, contribute to the 
development of a safe strategic cycling and walking network and in particular the 
routes set out in Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans. There are also 
principles set out to determine cycle and parking provision in development.  

 

93. Specifically in relation to the allocated part of the application site, Policy 4 of the CDP 
sets out a requirement to deliver local highway improvements including the widening 
of Colliery Road to a minimum of 6.75m, to complete a loop road connection through 
the site to Hilltop Road, while for the unallocated part of the site, Policy 6 (criteria e) of 
the CDP outlines that development should not be prejudicial to highway safety or have 
a severe cumulative impact on network capacity. Policy 21 reiterates the requirement 
of Policy 6 in addition to expecting developments to deliver well designed pedestrian 
routes and sufficient cycle and car parking provision.  

 
94. Similarly, Policy 29 of the CDP advocates that convenient access is made for all users 

of the development together with connections to existing cycle and pedestrian routes. 
Specifically, the NPPF sets out at Paragraph 110 that safe and suitable access should 
be achieved for all people. In addition, Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states that 
development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would 
be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on 
the road network would be severe. 

 
95. The Highway Authority have been in discussions with the applicant throughout the 

application process. Initially, some technical highway issues arose with the internal 
layout which needed to be amended, including raised table features being provided at 
locations within the site to reduce traffic speeds.   

 
96. Amendments and additional information were received and reviewed during the 

application process. It is now considered that the amended internal layout meets the 
highway requirements. A series of raised table features have been added to 
incorporate suitable traffic calming measures in accordance with 20mph design speed. 
In regards to the footpath link to the estate of Hilltop this again is now satisfactory. 

Page 75



 

 

 
97. In relation to the Policy 4 requirement to complete a loop road connection through the 

site to Hilltop Road, the Highway Authority have requested that the roads do not 
connect up, as this would not be suitable in highway terms for the development to link 
up Colliery Road and Hilltop Estate. The existing highway conditions on Hilltop are as 
such that this would not be an appropriate loop road for passing traffic as the highway 
is narrow in part through the cull de sac residential areas which is staggered. It is the 
Highway Authority’s opinion that linking this route up would lead to conflict with 
residents parked vehicles on street and harm to highway safety due to the convoluted 
narrow route. It was noted that a village loop road should be continuous in form and 
be at least 6 metres wide to safely serve residential through traffic movements which 
include added daily servicing and house holder deliveries. 

 
98. An updated Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted to consider the potential 

highway and transport related impacts associated with this proposal and any mitigation 
required on the A167.  Overall, the information included within the assessment and 
methodology used have been considered acceptable and no mitigation is required in 
this respect. 

 
99. The Highway Authority has accepted the principle of highway mitigation works on 

Colliery Road with a 20mph zone proposed near the primary school and chicane give 
way priority traffic calming features along with a series of road hump traffic calming 
measures.  These works will be secured through an agreement under Section 278 of 
the Highways Act 1980. 

 
100. The proposed access arrangement onto Auton Stile (Road C17) is also considered 

adequate in terms of its design and visibility for the traffic generated from the site. 
 
101. Sustainable Travel Officers consider that if a suitable footway was to be constructed 

at the southwest corner of the development providing a good direct walking route to 
bus services on the main road (Auton Stile), then the proposals would be acceptable. 
This has been addressed in accordance with policy 22 of the CDP.  

 
102. Whilst some concerns were initially raised in relation to the internal layout, including 

the initially proposed vehicular access through to Hilltop Road, the inclusion of 
additional pedestrian links, the Auton Stile junction and traffic calming measures on 
Colliery Road, these have now all been resolved, and overall, the highway impacts of 
the proposed development are considered to be acceptable and in accordance with 
Policies 6, 21 and 29 of the CDP as well as Part 9 of the NPPF. In terms of Policy 4 of 
the CDP which refers to housing allocations, this site is allocated under H7. There was 
a specific requirement in this housing allocation to deliver local highway improvements 
including the widening of Colliery Road to a minimum of 6.75m, to complete a loop 
road connection through the site to Hilltop Road. The Highway Authority has revisited 
this requirement and it is no longer considered necessary for the reasons set out 
above.   

 
Landscape and Visual Impact 
 

103. Policy 39 of the CDP states proposals for new development will be permitted where 
they would not cause unacceptable harm to the character, quality or distinctiveness of 
the landscape, or to important features or views. Proposals would be expected to 
incorporate appropriate measures to mitigate adverse landscape and visual effects. 
These are similar requirements to those outlined at Policy 6 of the CDP. Policy 26 of 
the CDP outlines developments are expected to provide new green infrastructure and 
ensure provision for its long-term management and maintenance. Similar 
requirements are outlined in Policy 29 of the CDP. Criteria l specifically requires that 

Page 76



 

 

in the case of edge of settlement development, provide for an appropriate level of 
structural landscaping to screen or assimilate the development into its surroundings 
and provide an attractive new settlement boundary. Policy 40 of the CDP seeks to 
avoid the loss of existing trees and hedgerows unless suitable replacement planting is 
provided. Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF promotes good design and sets out that the 
planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment 
by (amongst other things) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside.  Paragraph 131 of the NPPF sets out that planning decisions should 
ensure that new streets are tree-lined. 

 
104. Landscape officers initially commented that the detailed landscape design proposals 

show a commitment to trees in open spaces and on house frontages including shrubs.  
However, whilst the open spaces which provide connections through the development 
are able to accommodate larger size trees which would assist with landscape 
mitigation, the development does not achieve an arrangement of tree lined streets, as 
trees are proposed close to building foundations.  Therefore, it was requested that the 
layout for trees should be adjusted. 

 
105. Officers have discussed landscaping proposals with the applicant and the revised 

landscape plans now show an increased number of trees in open spaces which would 
assist in visually breaking up the development in views across the valley and at close 
range. Officers also consider that the pedestrian connection to the south-west linking 
to Beaurepaire and Cook Avenue is an asset to the layout in terms of connectivity and 
that the proposed layout provides a logical consolidation of the settlement with 
connections via footpaths and open space to local amenities.   

 
106. Overall, Landscape Officers consider the scheme to provide sufficient planting in a 

suitable manner would meet the necessary requirements of Policies 26, 29, 39 and 40 
of the CDP and Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF. 

 
Layout and Design 
 
107. Policy 29 of the CDP outlines that development proposals should contribute positively 

to an area’s character, identity, heritage significance, townscape and landscape 
features, helping to create and reinforce locally distinctive and sustainable 
communities. Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF also seek to promote good design, while 
protecting and enhancing local environments. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF also states 
that planning decisions should aim to ensure developments function well and add to 
the overall quality of the area and establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes 
and buildings to create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit.  

 
108. Policy 29 of the CDP also states that all new residential development will be required 

to comply with the Building for Life SPD and achieve reductions in CO2 emissions.   
As set out in policy 29, all new residential development will be required to comply with 
the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS). The applicant has been 
encouraged to comply with these standards and has done so along with the  
Residential Amenity Standards Supplementary Planning Document which sets out the 
privacy/amenity requirements for new build proposals. 

 
109. In recognition of national planning advice and to achieve high quality housing 

developments DCC has adopted an in-house review process to assess schemes 
against the Building for Life 12 (BfL 12) Standards. The Building for Life 
Supplementary Planning Document (2019) (BfL SPD) formalises the review process 
and establishes the guidelines and standards for its operation and is linked to Policy 
29 (Sustainable Design) of the CDP. The scheme was considered against the BfL 
standard through a series of 12 questions. The scoring is based on a traffic light 

Page 77

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/32115/Residential-Amenity-Standards-SPD-2020/pdf/ResidentialAmenityStandardsSPD2020.pdf?m=637160613245030000


 

 

system with the aim of the proposed new development to secure as many “greens” as 
possible, minimise the number of “ambers” and avoid “reds”. The more “greens” 
achieved the better the development will be, “ambers” are usually concerns that can 
be raised to “green” with revisions, whereas a “red” gives a warning that a particular 
aspect needs strong reconsideration. After initial plans were submitted the proposals 
scored 7 reds, 4 ambers and 1 green score meaning at the design review panel 
meaning that the proposals needed to be amended in order to comply with Policy 29 
of the CDP. 

 
110. Design and Conservation officers have been consulted on a revised scheme after the 

applicants review of the initial design panel outcome. The amended application now 
proposes a suitable mix of dwellings. The layout includes a comprehensive 
landscaping scheme, a large area of public open space to the northwest of the site 
including a sustainable drainage (SuDs) basin and a central area of public open space 
with a footpath running through it from north to south. Housing is now set back and 
faces onto the Public Right of Way to the east. Dwellings would also be outward facing 
over public open space to the north west of the site and SuDs pond and which would 
overlook the open space and footpath which runs through the centre of the site 
contributing to an attractive street scene and natural surveillance of the open spaces.   

 
111. The housing layout also now incorporates corner turning units and garaging that is set 

back to reduce dominance of car parking. The house types consist of two storey 
dwellings and bungalows, with casement windows, modern entrance doors with flat 
roof canopies over and front and rear gardens. Dwellings would have single and dual 
pitched roofs and a choice of materials which mainly incorporates a red facing brick 
and a grey flat roof tile to reflect the characteristics of the village, with a modern 
distinctive character 

 
112. The appearance of the dwellings are considered to be of a generally high standard. 

The scheme has been developed as a mix of contemporary style and traditional 
development which would work well in this location. The choice of materials, which is 
dominated by red brick and grey tile roofing materials would relate well to the 
surrounding area and would add interest and create a modern feel to the development.  

 
113. The revised scheme scored 10 amber scores and 2 green scores. Policy 29 advises 

that if any “reds” are scored the application should be refused unless there are 
significant overriding reasons otherwise. The proposal would therefore accord with 
criteria in Policy 29 of the CDP and Part 12 of the NPPF in this respect.  

 
Residential Amenity 
 
114. Policies 29 and 31 of the CDP outline that developments should provide high 

standards of amenity and privacy, minimise the impact of development upon the 
occupants of existing adjacent and nearby properties and not lead to unacceptable 
levels of pollution. A Residential Amenity Standards Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) has been adopted by the Council. Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF 
require that a good standard of amenity for existing and future users be ensured, whilst 
seeking to prevent both new and existing development from contributing to, or being 
put at unacceptable risk from, unacceptable levels of pollution.  

 
115. Guidance within the SPD advocates separation distances of 21m between facing 

principal elevations and 18m between bungalows, 13m between principal and two 
storey gable elevations and 10m to a single storey. Where there is a significant change 
in levels, the minimum separation distance will increase by 1 metre for every 1 metre 
that the floor level of the development would be above the affected floor or ground 
level of the neighbouring property. The SPD also advises that where storey heights 

Page 78



 

 

differ, separation should increase by 3m for every additional storey height and 
additional separation will be required to take account of the levels. In addition to this 
the document states that developments should incorporate usable, attractively laid out 
and private garden space conveniently located in relation to the property or properties 
it serves. It should be of an appropriate size, having regard to the size of the dwelling 
and character of the area. The length of gardens will generally be dictated by the 
minimum distancing standards but should be no less than 9 metres unless site specific 
circumstances allow for a reduction in size. 

 
116. It is noted that the distancing standards as set out within the Residential Amenity 

Standards Supplementary Planning Document are met in all instances. Importantly, 
the distances to existing dwellings are also met or exceeded in all instances. 

 
117. The proposal is therefore in accordance with the SPD, Policies 29 and 31 of the CDP 

and Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF.  
 
Addressing Housing Need 
 
118. Policy 15 of the CDP states that affordable housing will be sought on sites of 10 or 

more units, for 25% of units in the highest value areas, 15% in medium value areas to 
10% in the lowest. On sites of 10 or more units, 10% of the homes provided should be 
for affordable home ownership (starter homes, discount market sale housing and other 
affordable routes to home ownership). Any contribution above 10% should be provided 
as affordable housing for rent.  

 
119. In instances where a site straddles more than one viability area, the affordable housing 

requirement should reflect the viability area for the majority of the site. Therefore, in 
this instance, as the majority of the site lies within the ‘medium’ area, a requirement of 
15% is to be applied to the proposed development. 

 
120. As stated above, the majority of this site is within a medium value area, this 

development would normally require 22 affordable units. However, paragraph 64 of 
the NPPF “Vacant Building Credit” states that:  

 
“To support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being reused or 
redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should be reduced by a 
proportionate amount.” 

 

121. The applicant has stated that the Vacant Building Credit can be applied to this planning 
application, as: 

 

 The buildings located within the application boundary are vacant, not abandoned. 

 The proposed residential scheme as submitted has 12,710 sq m. The existing 
buildings have a floor area of approx. 1948 sq m. Therefore, the scheme results in 
an increase of 10,762 sq m. or an 84% increase in floorspace. 

 Based on 15% affordable housing policy and 148 dwellings, the affordable 
provision should be 22.2 dwellings. 84% of 22.2 dwellings is 18.64 dwellings. 

 As such, any affordable housing provision on this site should comprise 19no. 
affordable units (rounded up from 18.64) when Vacant Building Credit is applied. 

 
122. It is noted that the Meeting Housing Needs Statement does not specify the exact 

numbers proposed and states that the applicant would engage with the council during 
the application process, therefore it has been ensured that negotiations have taken 
place in order to satisfy the requirements of Policy 15. The applicant has discussed 
housing need during the application process, and it has been agreed that Vacant 

Page 79



 

 

Building Credit applies to the vacant industrial estate part of the site in accordance 
with the paragraph 64 of the NPPF and that 19 affordable units should be provided.  

 
123. Policy 15 also aims to meet the needs of older people and people with disabilities. On 

sites of 5 units or more, 66% of dwellings must be built to Building Regulations 
Requirement M4 (2) (accessible and adaptable dwellings) standard. 

 
124. On sites of 10 units or more, a minimum of 10% of the total number of dwellings on 

the site are required to be of a design and type that will increase the housing options 
of older people. These properties should be built to M4(2) standard and would 
contribute to meeting the 66% requirement set out above. They should be situated in 
the most appropriate location within the site for older people. Appropriate house types 
considered to meet this requirement include: 
 

 level access flats; 

 level access bungalows; or 

 housing products that can be shown to meet the specific needs of a multi-
generational family. 

 
125. All dwellings will meet the Department for Communities and Local Government, 

Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standard, and there are 
14 bungalows proposed which would satisfy the M4 (2) requirements and they meet 
the criteria above.  

 
126. Policy 19 of the CDP states that on all new housing developments the council will seek 

to secure an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes, taking account of existing 
imbalances in the housing stock, site characteristics, viability, economic and market 
considerations.  The scheme proposes a mix of 2, 3- and 4-bedroom houses forming 
bungalows, semi-detached and detached dwellings, which would achieve a good mix 
of dwelling types and sizes on the site and would, therefore, accord with Policy 19 of 
the CDP. 

 
Heritage and Archaeology 
 
127. Policy 44 of the CDP sets out development will be expected to sustain the significance 

of designated and non-designated heritage assets, including any contribution made by 
their setting. Development proposals should contribute positively to the built and historic 
environment and should seek opportunities to enhance and, where appropriate, better 
reveal the significance and understanding of heritage assets whilst improving access 
where appropriate. The NPPF advises that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 
asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should 
require clear and convincing justification.  The Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 also imposes a statutory duty that, when considering 
whether to grant planning permission for a development which affects a listed building 
or its setting, the decision maker shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.  If harm is found this gives rise to a strong (but rebuttable) 
statutory presumption against the grant of planning permission.  Any such harm must 
be given considerable importance and weight by the decision-maker.   

 
128. In terms of heritage, The Old Chapel has previously been identified as a non-designated 

heritage asset. Initially the proposed development sat forward of the existing chapel and 
previous development in this part of the site was in the form of a terraced street which 

Page 80



 

 

sat in line with the chapel. Therefore, it was requested that further interpretation of the 
form of the chapel should be considered to create interest in the streetscene at Colliery 
Road. Amended plans have been received which now show an altered building line to 
follow the frontage of the chapel and house types in this location have been amended 
to resemble the pitched frontage of the chapel. Design and Conservation consider the 
amended approach to be acceptable and have no objections to the proposals.   

  

129. It is therefore considered that the proposal would have no adverse impact on heritage 
assets within the vicinity of the site in accordance with Policy 44 of the CDP and Part 
16 of the NPPF. Design and Conservation Officers raise no objection to the scheme on 
these grounds.  

 
130. An archaeological investigation and geophysical survey have been undertaken pre-

determination along with trial trenching of the site and a written scheme of investigation 
has been submitted. Archaeology officers confirm that there is no archaeological 
objection to this application and therefore the proposal would be considered to comply 
with Policy 44 of the CDP and Part 16 of the NPPF. 

 
Ecology  
 
131. Policies 26, 35, 41 and 43 of the CDP seek to secure net gains for biodiversity and 

coherent ecological networks. Policy 43 relates to protected species and nationally and 
locally protected sites. Part 15 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that developments protect 
and mitigate harm to biodiversity interests, and where possible, improve them.  The 
presence of protected species is a material consideration in planning decisions as they 
are a protected species under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and the European 
Union Habitats Directive and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended). The Habitats Directive prohibits the deterioration, destruction or 
disturbance of breeding sites or resting places of protected species. Natural England 
has the statutory responsibility under the regulations to deal with any licence 
applications but there is also a duty on planning authorities when deciding whether to 
grant planning permission for a development which could harm a European Protected 
Species to apply three tests contained in the Regulations. These state that the activity 
must be for imperative reasons of overriding public interest or for public health and 
safety, there must be no satisfactory alternative, and that the favourable conservation 
status of the species must be maintained.  Brexit does not change the Council's 
responsibilities under the law. 

 
132. A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted in support of the proposal. The 

report outlines the potential impacts of the development to both habitats and species as 
well as a series of recommendations to minimise these. The mitigation measures can 
be secured via condition. No interference with protected species is identified as a result 
of the development. A European Protected Species Licence is therefore not considered 
to be required as a result of the development having regards to the requirements of the 
Habitats Directive brought into effect by the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 and the Council's Ecologist is satisfied with the submitted 
assessment. 

 
133. The supplied Ecological Appraisal confirms that no significant adverse impacts are 

anticipated on bats and great crested newts. The site is of Parish value for breeding 
birds however nearly all breeding territories were recorded around the perimeter of the 
site. 

 
134. Mitigation for the loss of breeding bird habitat (apart from Lapwing) is recommended 

and in the appraisal and measures are proposed in the form of integrated bird breeding 
units installed in 10% of the new properties. Enhancement for bats is proposed in the 

Page 81



 

 

form of integrated bat roost units installed into 10% of the new properties. Both the 
breeding bird and bat roost unit locations are detailed, and this should be conditioned if 
planning consent is granted. 

 
135. The supplied Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment report concludes that the development 

itself would provide 14.22 habitat units and lead to a loss of over 45% over the site 
baseline. In order to deliver biodiversity net gains, the Council would undertake the 
biodiversity net gain requirement on the applicant’s behalf and a current sum of £5300 
per biodiversity unit is required, as in order to achieve 1% biodiversity net gain 12.22 
units are required. Therefore, in order to mitigate the impact of the development and 
sure a net gain is delivered, a financial contribution of £64,766 is required and would be 
secured via a S106 Legal Agreement. 

 
136. Subject to the imposition of a condition to secure the mitigation strategy and a 

biodiversity net gains contribution of £64,766, the proposal would comply with Policies 
26, 35, 41 and 43 of the CDP and Part 15 of the NPPF.  

 
Flooding and Drainage 

 
137. Policies 35 and 36 of the CDP relate to flood water management and infrastructure. 

Policy 35 requires development proposals to consider the effects of the scheme on flood 
risk and ensure that it incorporates a Sustainable Drainage System (SuDs) to manage 
surface water drainage. Development should not have an adverse impact on water 
quality. Policy 36 seeks to ensure that suitable arrangements are made for the disposal 
of foul water. National advice within the NPPF and PPG with regard to flood risk advises 
that a sequential approach to the location of development should be taken with the 
objective of steering new development to flood zone 1 (areas with the lowest probability 
of river or sea flooding).  When determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and only consider 
development appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where a sequential test and some 
instances exception tests are passed, informed by a site-specific flood risk assessment.  

 
138. The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Drainage 

Strategy which highlights that the application site is within Flood Zone 1 The drainage 
strategy includes the incorporation of Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUD's) including 
permeable paving, a swale and a detention basin to treat and attenuate surface water 
runoff. Drainage and Coastal Protection Officers advise that this approach would be in 
compliance with National Standards and Council Policies in providing sustainable 
surface water management solutions and ensuring the prevention of flood risk to and 
from the proposed development. A conditional approach can be applied to secure the 
development takes place in accordance with the agreed scheme.  

 
139. In relation to foul water, it is proposed to connect to the existing sewerage network, to 

which Northumbrian Water raise no objections, subject to the imposition of a condition. 
 
140. On this basis no objections to the development on the grounds of flood risk or drainage 

are raised having regards to Policies 35 and 36 of the CDP and Part 14 of the NPPF. 
 
Open Space Provision 
 
141. It is important to ensure that development proposals contribute to improvements in 

infrastructure capacity to mitigate for the additional demands that new development 
creates. By securing financial contributions through planning obligations, developers 
would help fund the physical, social and environmental infrastructure that is needed to 
make development acceptable and ensure that the development mitigates its impact 
upon existing infrastructure. Policy 25 of the CDP supports securing developer 

Page 82



 

 

contributions where mitigation is necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms including for social infrastructure such as education and health facilities. 
Paragraphs 55-58 of the NPPF explain the circumstances when it is appropriate for 
planning obligations to be used to mitigate the impacts of the development.  

 
142. Policy 26 of the CDP outlines that new residential developments will be required to make 

provision for open space to meet the needs of future residents having regard to the 
standards of open space provision set out in the Open Space Needs Assessment 
(OSNA). Where it is determined that on-site provision is not appropriate, the Council will 
require financial contributions to be secured through planning obligations towards the 
provision of new open space, or the improvement of existing open space elsewhere in 
the locality. Paragraph 98 of the NPPF highlights that access to a network of high-quality 
open spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health 
and well-being of communities. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF requires amongst its advice 
that developments function well and optimise the potential of the site to accommodate 
and sustain an appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other 
public space). 

 
143. The Council’s Open Space Needs Assessment (OSNA) 2018 is considered the most up 

to date assessment of need. It identifies the five typologies (allotments; amenity/natural 
greenspace; parks, sports and recreation grounds; play space (children) and play space 
(youth), sets out requirements for public open space on a population pro rata basis and 
whether provision should be either within the site, or through a financial contribution 
towards offsite provision, in lieu taking into consideration factors such as the scale of 
the development, existing provision within suitable walking distances and the level of 
contribution sought. 

 
144. The standards set out in the Open Space Needs Assessment 2018 (OSNA) should be 

used. A scheme of 148 units would generate 326 people (148 x 2.2) based on 2011 
census data of 2.2 persons per household. This scheme would fall into the 4th category 
of Table 19 of the OSNA where some typologies of open space should be provided on 
site and have been, and a contribution sought for the others. 

 
145. Table 16 of the OSNA sets out the costings, therefore, the contribution should be: 326 

x £673.00 (£790.50 – £75.00- £42.50) = £219,398 provided that the other typologies 
are provided on-site in accordance with Table 19  

 
146. The site layout demonstrates that large areas of green space would be provided on site 

fulfilling the open space/natural green space and parks/recreational grounds 
requirements. It has been advised that a private management company would be used 
to manage and maintain the areas of open space within the development, funded by 
future residents paying an annual service charge. Conditions can secure the details of 
the future management and maintenance arrangements.  

 
147. The development is of a scale whereby non-equipped children’s play space would be 

expected to be provided on-site. Notwithstanding, an equipped play area lies within the 
recommended walking distances on land to the east therefore in this instance a financial 
contribution to enhance existing facilities would be deemed more appropriate. 

 
148. Overall, the open space provision would likely to be attractive to future residents of the 

estate.  
 

149. Having regard to the OSNA, the availability and the proximity of existing facilities to the 
development this is considered to acceptable and in accordance with the Council’s 
standard approach. This would satisfy the OSNA requirements, Policy 26 of the CDP 
and Paragraph 98 of the NPPF with regards to the provision of public open space. 

Page 83



 

 

 
Education 
 
150. Paragraph 95 of NPPF confirms that the government places great importance to 

ensure that sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing 
and new communities. The School Places Manager has advised that in relation to 
Primary School places it is confirmed that based on the projected rolls of the schools, 
taking into account the likely implementation timeframe of the development, build rates 
and other committed development there would not be sufficient space to 
accommodate the pupils generated by the development, whilst maintaining a 5% 
surplus. Therefore, in order to mitigate the impact of the development a contribution 
of £441,090 would be required to facilitate the provision of additional teaching 
accommodation at Bearpark Primary School. 

 
151. In relation to Secondary Schools, the development is located within the Sacriston – 

Ushaw Moor local school place planning area. The nearest school to the proposed the 
development is Durham Community Business College that has a capacity for 755 
pupils. Based on the projected rolls of the schools, there would be sufficient space to 
accommodate pupils generated by the development, whilst maintaining a 5% surplus 
and therefore no contribution for additional secondary teaching accommodation is 
required.  

 
Healthcare  
 
152. The NHS advises that local GP practices are at full capacity with regards to space 

requirements to deliver services to their patient list size at Dunelm Medical Practice. 
A contribution of £71,484 is requested to support creating extra capacity for them to 
provide appropriate services to patients and to make the proposed housing expansion 
supportable from a health infrastructure perspective. 

 
Developer Contributions 
 
158. Paragraph 92 of NPPF recognises the need for planning decisions to ensure an 

integrated approach when considering the location of new housing and to plan 
positively for the provision and use of community facilities and local services. This 
provides policy justification to seek mitigation in respect to essential services. 

 
159. Policy 25 of the CDP, Paragraph 57 of the NPPF and Paragraph 122 of The 

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 set out three planning tests which 
must be met in order for weight to be given to a planning obligation. These being that 
matters specified are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms, are directly related to the development, and are fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development. The following obligations are considered to meet 
these tests and would be required to mitigate the impacts of the development and to 
meet an identified affordable housing need in the County and they would be secured 
through a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended). 

 

 £219,398 towards open space and recreation in the Electoral Division 

 £441,090 towards additional school places at Bearpark Primary School 

 £71,484 toward healthcare provision at the Dunelm Medical Practice 

 £64,766 toward offsite Biodiversity net gains 

 Appropriate on-site affordable housing (19 units – 15 discount market sale units 
and 4 as an affordable rent product)  

 
 
Page 84



 

 

Contamination, Land Stability and Minerals 
 

153. Policy 32 of the CDP requires sites to be suitable for use taking into account 
contamination and unstable land issues. Paragraph 183 of the NPPF requires sites to 
be suitable for their proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks 
arising from land instability and contamination.  

 
154. Given the sensitive end use of the site, a Phase Risk Assessment and Ground 

Investigation Report was submitted in support of the application. Environmental Health 
Officers comment that they are satisfied with the information provided and satisfied with 
the information provided in the remediation strategy. Ground gas protection measures 
are not required. However, contaminants have been identified in the soils and a clean 
cover system is required. Given the above and due to the fact that this development 
constitutes a change of use to a more sensitive receptor, conditions should be applied 
to ensure remediation works are carried out.  A condition to secure this and an 
informative relating to unforeseen contamination would ensure that the site is suitable 
for its intended use taking account of any risks arising from contamination. The proposal 
would therefore accord with Policy 32 of the CDP and Paragraph 183 of the NPPF. 

 
155. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF sets out that unstable land should be remediated and 

mitigated where appropriate. The Coal Authority notes the supporting Phase II Geo-
Environmental Site Investigation and Risk Assessment, the content of which confirms 
the results of an intrusive site investigation undertaken comprising of rotary boreholes. 
On the basis that the boreholes identified sufficient competent rock cover above the 
worked recorded shallow coal seam, the Coal Authority is satisfied the site is safe and 
stable to accommodate the proposed development and has no objections to this 
planning application. The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with 
Policy 32 of the CDP and Part 15 of the NPPF. 

 
156. This site is within a Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA), therefore, Policy 56 of the CDP 

needs to be taken into account.  Policy 56 states that planning permission will not be 
granted for non-mineral development that would lead to the sterilisation of mineral 
resources within a MSA unless one of the criteria set out applies. In this case, as the 
site is allocated for housing, which is required to meet the LHN, criteria d would be 
applicable i.e. "there is an overriding need for the non-minerals development which 
outweighs the need to safeguard the mineral." However, a mineral assessment should 
still normally be produced which focuses on whether the mineral is of potential value 
and economic to extract, and if it is, an assessment of the viability of the potential for 
prior extraction would normally be required. Paragraph 5.551 of the CDP includes, "Prior 
extraction could provide the opportunity for mineral resources which would otherwise 
be sterilised to be extracted for use in the proposed development itself or off site. 
Depending on the nature of the proposed prior extraction, a standalone planning 
application for mineral extraction may be required which is not linked to a built 
development proposal". 

 
157. In terms of minerals, Spatial Policy officers advise that having considered the contents 

of the Phase II Geo-Environmental Assessment it appears that the main coal seam 
underlying the site (the Durham Low Main) is at a depth below ground which lies both 
beyond that which prior extraction would be encouraged, given the constraints 
surrounding the site or considered to be viable to extract. Officers confirm that given the 
application site is identified within the County Durham Plan as an allocation for housing 
that criteria d) of Policy 56 would be applicable i.e. that there is an overriding need for 
the non-minerals development which outweighs the need to safeguard the mineral. 

 
 
 

Page 85



 

 

Concerns raised by residents 
 
160. As noted above, 11 letters of objection have been received as a result of the 

consultation process in addition to a petition.  
 
161. The main areas of concern include an increase in traffic congestion, the proposed 

access point which may have poor visibility and speeding close to the school and nearby 
play area. In terms of highways, there is also concern that the access through the 
existing Hilltop Road estate is not suitable for additional traffic and that the Auton Stile 
junction is dangerous and not suitable for additional traffic use. These issues have been 
addressed by highways officers as noted in the report through a series of on site and 
off-site traffic calming measures and amendments to the Auton Stile junction.  

 
162. There are also concerns regarding loss of wildlife on the field and loss of green space 

which have been addressed and mitigated by biodiversity net gains and financial 
contributions to ecology improvements offsite.   

 
163. Objectors were also concerned that the development would increase pressure on 

existing facilities, in particular the local surgery and the school which have been 
mitigated by developer contributions to both the NHS and education capacities.  

 
164. In terms of nuisance, there are concerns raised regarding construction noise and air 

quality, these have been addressed in the report and conditions will secure a 
construction management plan to ensure that any adverse amenity issues brought 
about by the development is limited.  

 
165. Objectors also have concerns relating to flooding and water pressure in the area, these 

concerns have been addressed through drainage officer comments and the proposed 
conditions.  

 
166. In terms of amenity some nearby residents raise concerns relating to privacy issues 

which have been addressed in the report which concludes that the development will 
achieve the required standards as set out in the Residential Amenity Standards 
Supplementary Planning Document and Policy 29 of the CDP.  

 
167. Finally, there are also concerns raised relating to the decrease in house values, loss of 

view and some comment that there are more bungalows needed. The impact of 
development on property value and loss of view are not material planning 
considerations but it is confirmed in the report that 14 bungalows are proposed as part 
of the scheme.  

 
168. Taking into account the details above, all of the issues raised by residents have been 

fully assessed either within this report or during the planning application process and 
their impacts, are not considered to outweigh the benefits of the development and give 
rise to grounds for refusal of planning permission. 

 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
169. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires public authorities when exercising their 

functions to have due regard to the need to i) the need to eliminate discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct, ii) advance equality of 
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not share it and iii) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share that characteristic. In this 
instance, officers have assessed all relevant factors and do not consider that there are 
any equality impacts identified. 

Page 86



 

 

 

CONCLUSION 

 
170. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. In light of the recent adoption of the CDP, the Council now has an up-to-
date development plan. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF establishes a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. For decision taking this means approving 
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay 
(Paragraph 11 c).  

 
171. Through the course of this report, the overall acceptability of the scheme or otherwise 

has been considered taking account all of the issues and consideration of applicable 
policies.  

 
172. For the reasons set out in this report the scheme is considered to be in a sustainable 

location for residential development and would contribute toward the housing supply 
as set out in Policy 4 of the County Durham Plan as a housing allocation and would 
include the provision of affordable housing. In addition, the impacts of the development 
would be mitigated by way of contributions towards the enhancement of existing 
recreational facilities in the locality, education, healthcare and ecology enhancements, 
Off-site highway improvement works would also be funded by the applicant.  The 
proposals are considered to accord with County Durham Plan policies, although strictly 
not in compliance with the highways requirements of the allocation in Policy 4, there 
are overriding highways reasons for that as set out earlier in the report.  The proposals 
are otherwise in accordance with the development plan and are considered 
acceptable.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

That the application be APPROVED subject to the completion of a Section 106 Obligation 
to secure the following: 

 

 £219,398 towards open space and recreation in the Electoral Division 

 £441,090 towards additional school places at Bearpark Primary School 

 £71,484 toward healthcare provision at the Dunelm Medical Practice 

 £64,766 toward offsite Biodiversity net gains 

 Appropriate on-site affordable housing (19 units – 15 discount market sale units 
and 4 as an affordable rent product)  

 
And subject to the following conditions:  
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission.  
 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2.  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

 

Location Plan      – Dwg No. 1612.01.01 
Planning Layout     – Dwg No. 1612.04.01 Rev H 
Boundary Treatment Plan    – Dwg No. 1612.06.01 Rev H 

Page 87



 

 

Indicative Streetscenes – Colliery Rd  – Dwg No. 1612.09.02 
 
Detailed Landscape Plans 
Composite Plan                  – Dwg No. 3763/5 Rev C 
Sheet 1                   – Dwg No. 3763/2 Rev D 
Sheet 2                  – Dwg No. 3763/3 Rev D 
Sheet 3                  – Dwg No. 3763/4 Rev D 
 
Garage Drawings 
3 x 6m Single Garage drawing               – Dwg No. SD1700 Rev - 
3 x 6m Double Garage drawing              – Dwg No. SD1701 Rev - 
Sales Garage drawing                – Dwg No. SD704 Rev - 

 
Boundary Treatment Drawings  
1800mm Timber Fence drawing             – Dwg No. SD100 Rev F 
Post and Wire Fence drawing             – Dwg No. SD103 Rev C 
 
Housetype Elevation Drawings 
250 housetype     – Dwg No. 21-250-C-0001 Rev C01 
254 housetype     – Dwg No. 21-254-C-0001 Rev C01 
350/250 housetype configuration   – Dwg No. 21-350/250-C-0001 Rev - 
350 housetype     – Dwg No. 21-350-C-0001 Rev C02 
352 housetype     – Dwg No. 21-352-C-0001 Rev C01 
354 housetype     – Dwg No. 21-354-C-0001 Rev C01 
355 housetype      – Dwg No. 21-355-C-0001 Rev C01 
359 housetype     – Dwg No. 21-358/9-C-0001 RevC01 
360 housetype     – Dwg No. 21-360-C-0001 Rev C01 
450 housetype     – Dwg No. 21-450-C-0001 Rev C01 
451 housetype     – Dwg No. 21-451-C-0001 Rev C01 
454 housetype     – Dwg No. 21-454-C-0001 Rev C01 
 
Engineering Drawings 
 
Overall Engineering Layout                       – Dwg No. D001 Rev 9 
Proposed Levels - Sheet 1    – Dwg No. D100 Rev 4 
Proposed Levels - Sheet 2    – Dwg No. D101 Rev 4 
Proposed Levels - Sheet 3    – Dwg No. D102 Rev 4 
Proposed Drainage Plan - Sheet 1  – Dwg No. D200 Rev 8 
Proposed Drainage Plan - Sheet 2  – Dwg No. D201 Rev 5 
Manhole Schedule     – Dwg No. D202 Rev 7 
Flood Routing Plan     – Dwg No. D203 Rev 8 
Typical SUDs Details    – Dwg No. D204 Rev 8 
Drainage Areas Plan     – Dwg No. D205 Rev 5 
Private Drainage Schedule    – Dwg No. D206 Rev 4 
Proposed Drainage Plan - Sheet 3  – Dwg No. D207 Rev 4 
SUDs Identification Plan     – Dwg No. D501 Rev 6 
Road Construction Details    – Dwg No. D700 Rev 3 
Proposed Drainage Details    – Dwg No. D701 Rev 3 
S38 Plan                          – Dwg No. D800 Rev 6 
S104 Plan                – Dwg No. D801 Rev 5 
S185 Plan                 – Dwg No. D802 Rev 5 
SUDs Maintenance Plan     – Dwg No. D803 Rev 5 
SUDS Maintenance Schedule    – Dwg No. 20165/AE/SMP Version 6 
S278 Plan - sheet 1     – Dwg No. D1000 Rev 2 
S278 Plan - sheet 2     – Dwg No. D1010 Rev 1 
S278 General Arrangement Plan  - sheet 1 – Dwg No. D1001 Rev 2 

Page 88



 

 

S278 General Arrangement Plan  - sheet 2 – Dwg No. D1002 Rev 1 
S278 Lining and Signage Plan  - sheet 1  – Dwg No. D1003 Rev 2 
S278 Lining and Signage Plan  - sheet 2  – Dwg No. D1004 Rev 1 
S278 Site Clearance Plan - sheet 1  – Dwg No. D1008 Rev 2 
S278 Site Clearance Plan - sheet 2  – Dwg No. D1009 Rev 1 
Tarmac Drive & Shared Drive Detail  – Dwg No. NSD710 Rev G 
Off-Site Highway Improvement plan  – Dwg No. 21-085/001 Rev G 
Off-Site Highway Improvement plan  – Dwg No. 21-085/002 Rev C 

 
Reason: To define the consent and ensure that a satisfactory form of development is 
obtained in accordance with Policies 1, 4, 15, 19, 21, 27, 29, 31, 35, 36, 39, 40 and 41 
of the County Durham Plan and Parts 2, 4, 5, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14 and 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved Construction Management Plan dated 09 September 2021. The approved 
Construction Management Plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period 
and the approved measures shall be retained for the duration of the construction 
works. 

 
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of existing and future residents from the 
development in accordance with Policy 31 of the County Durham Plan and Part 15 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
4. Remediation works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Remediation 

Strategy dated April 2021 (Reference: 201108.R-RS.002 Version 2.0 April 2021). The 
development shall not be brought into use until such time a Phase 4 Verification report 
related to that part of the development has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the remediation works are fully implemented as agreed and 
the site is suitable for use, in accordance with Policy 32 of the County Durham Plan 
and Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
5. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in full accordance with the 

recommendations detailed in Section 5 of the Ecological Impact Assessment 
(Biodiverse Report BioC20-036 V2 22/10/2021). This includes the provision of 
integrated bat and bird box units in 10% of new dwellings in accordance with the 
specification and locations specified in Appendix I of the Ecological Impact 
Assessment. 

 
Reason: To conserve protected species and their habitat in accordance with the 
objectives of part 11 of the NPPF and policy 41 of the CDP. 

 
6. No dwellings shall be occupied until a scheme for the ongoing maintenance of the 

areas of public open space within the development hereby approved have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. In the event of 
proposals to maintain the public open space by means other than through transfer to 
the Local Authority then the scheme shall provide for details of an agreed maintenance 
and cutting schedule in perpetuity.  

 
Reason: In the interests of appearance of the area in accordance with Policies 26 and 
29 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 8 and 12 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 

Page 89



 

 

7. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Reference 
AE/FRADS/20165 Version 6 – 16/03/22 –by RWO. 

 
Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of and disposal of 
surface water from the site in accordance with part 14 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy 35 of the CDP. 

 
8. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

mitigation measures outlined in Section 7 of the Air Quality Assessment Reference 
410.03044.00204 Rev 1 – April 2021 by SLR. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity having regards to Policy 31 of the CDP. 

 
9. No development works (including demolition) shall be undertaken outside the hours of 

7:30am and 6pm Monday to Friday and 8am and 1pm on a Saturday with no works to 
take place on a Sunday or Bank Holiday. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity having regards to Policy 31 of the CDP. 

 
10. The landscaping scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plans 

listed and implemented within the first available planting season upon completion of 
the development. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details and to a standard in accordance with the relevant 
recommendations of British Standard 8545:2014. Any trees or plants that, are 
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective within three years of planting, 
shall be replaced with others of species, size and number as originally approved, by 
the end of the first available planting season thereafter. 

 
Reason: To comply with Policies 39 and 40 of the County Durham Plan and Part 12 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

11. All works should be carried out in accordance with the approved Tree Survey and 
Impact Assessment Reference BIOC20-036 | V2 – 22/10/2021 by Biodiverse. 

 
Reason: To comply with Policy 40 of the County Durham Plan and Part 12 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
12. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Travel Plan 

Reference 21-085-N by Milestone dated April 2021. 
 

Reason: In the interest of sustainable transport and in accordance with Policy 21 of 
the CDP and part 9 of the NPPF. 

 
13. No development shall commence until the off-site highway improvements at the Auton 

Stile/Colliery Road junction are completed in accordance with S278 Plan - sheet 2– 
Dwg No. D1010 Rev 1. 

 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and in accordance with policy 21 of the CDP 
and part 9 of the NPPF. 

 
14. Within 12 months of the occupation of the final dwelling, the off-site highway 

improvements along Colliery Road and Aldin Grange Terrace junction are completed 
in accordance with the following plans 

 
• S278 Plan - sheet 1 – Dwg No. D1000 Rev 2 

Page 90



 

 

• S278 General Arrangement Plan - sheet 1 – Dwg No. D1001 Rev 2 
• S278 General Arrangement Plan - sheet 2– Dwg No. D1002 Rev 1 
• S278 Lining and Signage Plan - sheet 1 – Dwg No. D1003 Rev 2 
• S278 Lining and Signage Plan - sheet 2 – Dwg No. D1004 Rev 1 
• S278 Site Clearance Plan - sheet 1 – Dwg No. D1008 Rev 2 
• S278 Site Clearance Plan - sheet 2 – Dwg No. D1009 Rev 1 
 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and in accordance with policy 21 of the CDP 
and part 9 of the NPPF. 

 
15. All of the dwellings hereby approved shall be provided with electric vehicle charging 

points and said charging points must be installed and available for use before 
occupation of each dwelling. 

 
Reason: In the interests of sustainable construction and in accordance with Policy 29 
of the County Durham Local Plan and Part 14 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 

STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT 

 
In accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority has, without 
prejudice to a fair and objective assessment of the proposals, issues raised and 
representations received, sought to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner 
with the objective of delivering high quality sustainable development to improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area in accordance with the NPPF. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
 Submitted application form, plans supporting documents and subsequent information 

provided by the applicant. 
 The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
 National Planning Practice Guidance notes. 
 County Durham Plan 
 Statutory, internal and public consultation responses 
 County Durham Strategic Housing Land Assessment Report (2019) 
 County Durham Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2019) 
 Open Space Needs Assessment (2018) 
 Residential Amenity Standards SPD (2020) 
 County Durham Building for Life SPD (2019) 
 
  

Page 91



 

 

 

 
 

   Planning Services 

DM/21/01520/FPA  
 
Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 
148no. 2, 3 and 4 bedroom two-storey 
dwellings with associated works - Land To The 
Rear Of The Old Chapel, Colliery Road, 
Bearpark, DH7 7AU 
 

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the 
permission o Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her majesty’s 
Stationary Office © Crown copyright. 
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may 
lead to prosecution or civil proceeding. 
Durham County Council Licence No. 100022202 2005 

Comments  
 
 

Date May 2022 Scale   Not to 
Scale 
 

 

Page 92



 
Planning Services 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

APPLICATION DETAILS 

 

APPLICATION NO: DM/21/02606/RM 

FULL APPLICATION 

DESCRIPTION: 
Details of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 
for 97 dwellings pursuant to outline planning 
permission DM/20/03070/OUT (amended description) 

NAME OF APPLICANT: Stonebridge Homes 

ADDRESS: Land To The North Of Darlington Road 
Barnard Castle 
DL12 8QG 

ELECTORAL DIVISION: Barnard Castle East 

CASE OFFICER: Barry Gavillet 
Senior Planning Officer 
Telephone: 03000 261958 
barry.gavillet@durham.gov.uk  

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSALS 

 
 
The Site 
 
1. The application site relates to a roughly rectangular area of agricultural land of 5.59ha 

located on the eastern edge of Barnard Castle and lies between the A67 Darlington 
Road to the south and the A688 Bishop Auckland Road further to the north. 
Immediately to the west of the site is the recently constructed Castle Vale residential 
development, whilst three detached properties and a caravan park lie to the south 
across Darlington Road.  The site is predominately defined by hedgerows and trees to 
the edges, although these are gappy in places. Adjacent to north of the site lies the 
now dismantled railway line with the A688 beyond. To the east of the site is further 
arable land whilst the A67/ Darlington Road is located along the southern boundary 
which provides access into Barnard Castle to the west and towards Darlington to the 
east. There is an existing stone wall along the southern boundary which is 
characteristic of the local area. The topography of the development site falls steeply 
from the south towards the A688 to the north. 

 
2. The site is not within a Green Belt although does lie within an area identified in the 

Durham County Plan as an Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV). 
 
3. There are bus stops in the vicinity of the site providing regular services into Barnard 

Castle centre and Darlington. There are also schools, shops, a petrol filling station, in 
close proximity whilst other facilities such as a GP surgery, community centre, 
pharmacy, post offices and local hospital are within a mile of the site. 

 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 5c

mailto:barry.gavillet@durham.gov.uk


The Proposal 
 
4. In June 2021 outline planning permission was granted for the erection of up to 100 

dwellings with all matters reserved apart from the access. The scheme included 
landscape buffer zones within and surrounding the site with a SUDS pond to the 
northern edge of the site. Access to the site was secured off Darlington Road, passing 
through a landscape buffer with homes fronting onto open space in line with the 
neighbouring properties along Darlington Road. 

 
5. This application seeks reserved matters approval for the detail of the appearance, 

landscaping, layout and scale of the dwellings to be erected on site. The current 
application initially proposed 100 dwellings, however, following the submission of 
revisions to the scheme, the application now seeks reserved matters approval for a 
reduced scheme of 97 dwellings. The proposed site layout reflects the masterplan 
provided at outline stage in terms of the landscape buffers both within and surrounding 
the site as well as the SUDs provision on the northern edge of the site. 

 
6. This application is being considered by committee at the request of a Local County 

Councillor. 
 

PLANNING HISTORY 

 
7. On 3 June 2021, an application (DM/20/03070/OUT) was granted for residential 

development of up to 100 units (outline with all matters reserved apart from access). 
 

PLANNING POLICY 

NATIONAL POLICY  

8. The following elements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) are 
considered relevant to this proposal: 

 
9. NPPF Part 2 - Achieving sustainable development. The purpose of the planning 

system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and therefore 
at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. It 
defines the role of planning in achieving sustainable development under three 
overarching objectives – economic, social and environmental, which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. The application 
of the presumption in favour of sustainable development for plan-making and decision-
taking is outlined.  

 
10. NPPF Part 4 - Decision-making. Local planning authorities should approach decisions 

on proposed development in a positive and creative way. They should use the full 
range of planning tools available, including brownfield registers and permission in 
principle, and work proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-
makers at every level should seek to approve applications for sustainable development 
where possible.   

 
11. NPPF Part 5 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes. The Government 

advises Local Planning Authority’s to deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, 
widen opportunities for home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed 
communities. 

 

Page 94



12. NPPF Part 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy: The Government is committed 
to ensuring the planning system does everything it can to support sustainable 
economic growth. Planning should operate to encourage and not act as an impediment 
to sustainable growth. Therefore, significant weight should be placed on the need to 
support economic growth through the planning system. 
 

13. NPPF Part 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities.  The planning system can 
play an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive 
communities. Developments should be safe and accessible; Local Planning 
Authorities should plan positively for the provision and use of shared space and 
community facilities. An integrated approach to considering the location of housing, 
economic uses and services should be adopted.  

 
14. NPPF Part 9 – Promoting sustainable transport. Encouragement should be given to 

solutions which support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and reduce 
congestion.  Developments that generate significant movement should be located 
where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes 
maximised.  

 
15. NPPF Part 11 - Making Effective Use of Land. Planning policies and decisions should 

promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while 
safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living 
conditions. Strategic policies should set out a clear strategy for accommodating 
objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes as much use as possible of 
previously-developed or 'brownfield' land. 

 
16. NPPF Part 12 Achieving Well-Designed Places.  The Government attaches great 

importance to the design of the built environment, with good design a key aspect of 
sustainable development, indivisible from good planning. 

 
17. NPPF Part 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.  

The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing 
climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape 
places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, 
minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing 
resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and 
low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. 

 
18. NPPF Part 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.  Planning policies 

and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment.  
 
19. NPPF Part 16 - Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment.  Heritage assets 

range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of the highest 
significance, such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally recognised to be 
of Outstanding Universal Value. These assets are an irreplaceable resource and 
should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework 

NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE:  
 
20. The Government has consolidated a number of planning practice guidance notes, 

circulars and other guidance documents into a single Planning Practice Guidance 
Suite. This document provides planning guidance on a wide range of matters. Of 
particular relevance to this application is the practice guidance with regards to; air 

Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework


quality; historic environment; design process and tools; determining a planning 
application; flood risk; healthy and safe communities; land affected by contamination; 
housing and economic development needs assessments; housing and economic land 
availability assessment; light pollution; natural environment; neighbourhood planning; 
noise; open space, sports and recreation facilities, public rights of way and local green 
space; planning obligations; travel plans, transport assessments and statements; use 
of planning conditions; and; water supply, wastewater and water quality. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance 

 
LOCAL PLAN POLICY:  
 
The County Durham Plan  
 
21. Policy 6 - Development on Unallocated Sites states that the development of sites 

within the built up area that are not allocated in the plan or in a neighbourhood plan 
will be permitted provided they accord with all relevant development plan policies and 
meet specific criteria in relation to existing permitted uses, coalescence of settlements, 
loss of land with identified value such as in relation to ecology or recreation, is 
appropriate, is not prejudicial to highway safety, has good access to sustainable 
modes of transport to relevant services and facilities, does not result in the loss of the 
settlements last community building, minimises vulnerability and provides resilience to 
impacts resulting from climate change, maximises the effective of previously 
developed land and where appropriate reflects priorities for urban regeneration. 

 
22. Policy 10 - Development in the Countryside. Development in the countryside will not 

be permitted unless allowed for by specific policies in the Plan, relevant policies within 
an adopted neighbourhood plan relating to the application site or where the proposal 
relates to one or more of the following exceptions; economic development, 
infrastructure development or the development of existing buildings. New development 
in the countryside must accord with all other relevant development plan policies and 
general design principles. 

 
23. Policy 14 - Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil Resources. 

Development of the best and most versatile agricultural land, will be permitted where 
it is demonstrated that the benefits of the development outweigh the harm, taking into 
account economic and other benefits.  Soil on previously undeveloped land should be 
properly managed. 

 
24. Policy 15 - Addressing Housing Need notes the need to increase the range and quality 

of housing provision within the County and with regard to meeting the needs of older 
people and people with disabilities states that 66% of dwellings on sites if 5 dwellings 
or more must be built to Building Regulations M4(2) (accessible and adoptable 
dwellings) standard. 

 
25. Policy 19 - Type and Mix of Housing. Advises that on new housing developments the 

council will seek to secure an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes, taking 
account of existing imbalances in the housing stock, site characteristics, viability, 
economic and market considerations and the opportunity to facilitate self build or 
custom build schemes. 

 
26. Policy 21 - Delivering Sustainable Transport states that all development shall deliver 

sustainable transport by (in part) ensuring that any vehicular traffic generated by new 
development, following the implementation of sustainable transport measures, can be 
safely accommodated on the local and strategic highway network and does not cause 

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


an unacceptable increase in congestions or air pollution and that severe congestion 
can be overcome by appropriate transport improvements. 

 
27. Policy 25 - Developer Contributions. Advises that any mitigation necessary to make 

the development acceptable in planning terms will be secured through appropriate 
planning conditions or planning obligations.  Planning conditions will be imposed 
where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be 
permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects.  Planning 
obligations must be directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
28. Policy 26 - Green Infrastructure. States that development will be expected to maintain 

and protect, and where appropriate improve, the County’s green infrastructure 
network.  Advice is provided on the circumstances in which existing green 
infrastructure may be lost to development, the requirements of new provision within 
development proposals and advice in regard to public rights of way. 

 
29. Policy 29 - Sustainable Design details general design principles for all development 

stating that new development should contribute positively to an areas’ character, 
identity, heritage significance, townscape and landscape features, helping to create 
and reinforce locally distinctive and sustainable communities. 

 
30. Policy 31 - Amenity and Pollution states that new development will be permitted where 

it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable impact, either individually or 
cumulatively, on health, living or working conditions or the natural environment and 
should be integrated effectively with any existing business and community facilities. 
 

31. Policy 32 - Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land states [in 
part] that development will not be permitted unless the developer can demonstrate that 
the site is suitable for the proposed use, and does not result in unacceptable risks 
which would adversely impact on the environment, human health and the amenity of 
local communities. 

 
32. Policy 35 - Water Management. Requires all development proposals to consider the 

effect of the proposed development on flood risk, both on-site and off-site, 
commensurate with the scale and impact of the development and taking into account 
the predicted impacts of climate change for the lifetime of the proposal.  All new 
development must ensure there is no net increase in surface water runoff for the 
lifetime of the development.  Amongst its advice, the policy advocates the use of SuDS 
and aims to protect the quality of water. 

 
33. Policy 36 - Water Infrastructure. Advocates a hierarchy of drainage options for the 

disposal of foul water.  Applications involving the use of non-mains methods of 
drainage will not be permitted in areas where public sewerage exists.  New sewage 
and waste water infrastructure will be approved unless the adverse impacts outweigh 
the benefits of the infrastructure.  Proposals seeking to mitigate flooding in appropriate 
locations will be permitted though flood defence infrastructure will only be permitted 
where it is demonstrated as being the most sustainable response to the flood threat. 

 
34. Policy 39 - Landscape states that proposals for new development will be permitted 

where they would not cause unacceptable harm to the character, quality or 
distinctiveness of the landscape, or to important features or views and that 
development affecting valued landscapes will only be permitted where it conserves, 
and where appropriate enhances, the special qualities of the landscape, unless the 
benefits of the development in that location clearly outweigh the harm. 

  

Page 97



35. Policy 40 - Trees, Woodlands and Hedges states that proposals will be expected to 
retain existing trees where they can make a positive contribution to the locality or to 
the development, maintain adequate standoff distances between them and new land-
uses, including root protection areas where necessary, to avoid future conflicts, and 
integrate them fully into the design having regard to their future management 
requirements and growth potential. 

 
36. Policy 41 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity states that proposal for new development will 

not be permitted if significant harm to biodiversity or geodiversity resulting from the 
development cannot be avoided, or appropriately mitigated, or as a last resort, 
compensated for. 
 

37. Policy 43 - Protected Species and Nationally and Locally Protected Sites. 
Development proposals that would adversely impact upon nationally protected sites 
will only be permitted where the benefits clearly outweigh the impacts whilst adverse 
impacts upon locally designated sites will only be permitted where the benefits 
outweigh the adverse impacts. Appropriate mitigation or, as a last resort, 
compensation must be provided where adverse impacts are expected. In relation to 
protected species and their habitats, all development likely to have an adverse impact 
on the species’ abilities to survive and maintain their distribution will not be permitted 
unless appropriate mitigation is provided or the proposal meets licensing criteria in 
relation to European protected species. 

 
38. Policy 44 - Historic Environment. Seeks to ensure that developments should contribute 

positively to the built and historic environment and seek opportunities to enhance and, 
where appropriate, better reveal the significance and understanding of heritage 
assets.  The policy advises on when harm or total loss of the significance of heritage 
assets can be accepted and the circumstances/levels of public benefit which must 
apply in those instances. 

 
Neighbourhood Plan 
 
39. The site lies outside of the Barnard Castle Neighbourhood Plan area. 
 

CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES 

 
STATUTORY RESPONSES: 
 
40. Marwood Parish Council – objects considering it important to protect its unique and 

picturesque market town from urban sprawl which at present is open 
countryside.  Specific comments are made on a number of matters including increase 
in traffic from the development and other developments in the vicinity, road 
safety,  impact on local services, impact on ecology, impact on sewer network, the site 
was not allocated in the Durham Plan, design, lack of open space and parking 
provision, The Parish Council advises that its objection remains having considered 
amendments to the proposals.  

 
41. The Highway Authority – advise that details relating to either provision of a S38 plan, 

or tracking of the DCC 11.8m refuse vehicle around the site would need to be 
provided before further comment can be made. A Section 38 Agreement would need 
to be entered into before the internal highways could be adopted and this would be 
added as an informative to the applicant.  

 
43. Drainage and Coastal Protection – consider the amended drainage strategy to be 

acceptable. 

Page 98



 
INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES: 
 
44. Design and Conservation – initially raised issues regarding the proposals but following 

revisions advise that the applicant has revisited the approach to materials and the 
amended proposals are considered acceptable.  Officers advise that details of 
materials and samples for consideration should be conditioned. 

 
45. Ecology – following the submission of additional information in relation to habitat 

creation, management and monitoring and an amended Landscape Management Plan 
officers have no objections to the proposals on ecological grounds. 

 
46. Landscape – advise that appropriate revisions have been made to the submitted 

landscape plans.    
 
47. Arboriculture – Consider that the updated Arboricultural Impact Assessment is 

comprehensive and acceptable. Specific comments were made regarding the 
landscape plan in relation to species to be planted and to positioning of the trees.   

 
PUBLIC RESPONSES: 
 
49. A total of  38 representations have been received from members of the public in 

response to the consultation exercise, of which, one is in support, three are neutral 
and 34 in objection. 

 
50. The grounds of objection and concern raised in relation to the applications are 

summarised below: 

 The principle of the development 

 Adverse impact on Barnard Castle 

 Increase in traffic as a result of the proposal and in combination with other 
developments in the area 

 Associated highway safety implications for pedestrians and other road users  

 Local housing need not being addressed through the proposals  

 Site layout 

 House types proposed  

 Landscaping proposals being inadequate  

 Lack of sustainable design features  

 Lack of open space and play areas 

 Drainage concerns and potential increase in flooding 
 

51. The Open Spaces Society has submitted a representation which raises concerns 
regarding the lack of provision of dog waste bins, lack of openspace, lack of provision 
of car parking, materials, and trust that measures and provisions to help in countering 
climate will be strictly adhered to.  

 
52. The letter of support highlights demand for housing in Barnard Castle to support not 

only the town itself but the wider population of Teesdale.  The proposed layout itself 
seems well thought out with plenty of green space and landscaping.  It is considered 
that the house types and materials proposed complement the development adjacent 
and it's good to see 20% affordable housing and bungalows being provided.  It is 
considered that the proposed housing mix has a high number of 4 and 5 bedroom 
dwellings and consideration should be given to the requirements of Policy 19 of the 
Local Plan.  

 

 

 

Page 99



APPLICANT’S STATEMENT: 
 
53. Stonebridge Homes (the Applicant) is an established and successful Yorkshire based 

house builder which develops high-quality new homes that create a sense of place 
and add positively to the local community. This reserved matters proposal is the 
Applicant's first scheme in County Durham and therefore it is keen that its ethos of 
creating well designed, sustainable and attractive places is emphasised through this 
submission.  

 
54. The principle of the proposed development and details of the access has been 

established through the granting of outline planning permission in June 2021. This 
application therefore considers the detailed design of the proposed development only. 
The outline planning permission provides a robust basis on which the Applicant has 
then put forward its proposals.  

 
55. This includes the following key features:  
 

• 97 new family homes (including 10 affordable properties).  
• A wide mix of 2-5 bedroom properties including bungalows.  
• All properties provided to Nationally Described Space Standards and relevant 
properties to be built to enhanced accessibility standards.  
• Use of materials to fit the local area including natural stone.  
• Incorporation of electric vehicle charging points to all plots and bus stop on Darlington 
Road.  
• Provision of generous amounts of attractive open spaces incorporating amenity 
footpaths, seating, bird and bat boxes, native planting and community lending library 
scheme.  
• Use of sustainable drainage systems integrated into the development which will also 
contribute to biodiversity enhancements.  

 
56. Since submission of the reserved matters application, the Applicant has worked 

closely and positively with officers at the Council so that all matters that have been 
raised through the process have been addressed. The Applicant has also engaged 
with the public through a leaflet drop and consultation website.  

 
57. The result is high quality, beautiful and sustainable development with generous open 

spaces, a wide mix of well-designed homes in an attractive landscape setting. The 
proposals would therefore result in a sustainable addition to Barnard Castle and assist 
in underpinning the future success of the town.  

 
58. More generally, an increase in quality housing in the area will also support the local 

economy and provide more opportunities for people to get on the housing ladder. This 
helps create the conditions which will allow the area to retain its population and at the 
same time help secure jobs and investment.  

 
59. To demonstrate this the reserved matters application has been supported by an 

assessment which establishes the following economic benefits:  
 

• Approximately £17mn in construction investment over the build programme.  
 
• Around 150 direct construction and indirect/induced jobs supported per annum during 
the build phase of the proposed development.  
 
• An additional £1.5mn additional retail spending power each year associated with the 
residents of the development which will stimulate further local investment and jobs.  
 

Page 100



• Increase in Council Tax receipts for the Council in the order of approximately 
£190,000.  

 
60. This reserved matters application will therefore allow the proposals to deliver high 

quality new homes, environmental benefits, and drive significant investment in the 
county’s economy. We therefore fully support the officer's recommendation that the 
reserved matters should be approved. 

 
The above is not intended to list every point made and represents a summary of the comments received on this 

application. The full written text is available for inspection on the application file which can be viewed at: 
https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QWJ63ZGDHBH00 

 

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT 

 
61. Having regard to the requirements of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 the relevant Development Plan policies, relevant guidance and all 
other material planning considerations, including representations received, it is 
considered that as an outline approval for residential development including details of 
access has been approved on this site and the principle of the development has been 
accepted for 100 dwellings, the main planning issues in this instance, which now 
involves 97 new dwellings, relate to the appearance, layout and scale of the 
development, landscaping, public comments and public sector equality duty. 

 
Principle of the Development 
 
62. As noted above, outline planning permission granted has previously been granted in 

March 2021 along with the access to the site and therefore the principle of development 
has been established. This reserved matters application relates to the appearance, 
layout, scale and landscaping of the development.  

 
63. However, it is important to note that Natural England have recently published advice in 

relation to nutrient discharge into nearby water bodies caused by new housing 
developments. The Habitat Regulations state that where a development would have 
likely significant effects on a site, an appropriate assessment would be required prior to 
granting planning permission, and the further requirement that, if following the 
appropriate assessment adverse effects on site integrity cannot be ruled out, planning 
permission may not be granted unless there are imperative reasons of overriding public 
interest. However, the regulations only apply only at the stage when planning 
permission is sought and as noted above planning permission has already been 
approved for housing on this application site. Therefore, in this instance, as this is a 
reserved matters application it is not considered that any nutrient discharge would need 
to be considered.   

 
Appearance, layout and scale of the development 
 
64. Policy 29 of the CDP outlines that development proposals should contribute positively 

to an area’s character, identity, heritage significance, townscape and landscape 
features, helping to create and reinforce locally distinctive and sustainable 
communities. Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF also seek to promote good design, while 
protecting and enhancing local environments. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF also states 
that planning decisions should aim to ensure developments function well and add to 
the overall quality of the area and establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes 
and buildings to create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit.  

 

Page 101

https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QWJ63ZGDHBH00
https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=QWJ63ZGDHBH00


65. Policy 29 of the CDP also states that all new residential development will be required 
to comply with the Building for Life SPD and achieve reductions in CO2 emissions.   
As set out in policy 29, all new residential development will be required to comply with 
the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS). The applicant has been 
encouraged to comply with these standards and has done so along with the 
Residential Amenity Standards Supplementary Planning Document which sets out the 
privacy/amenity requirements for new build proposals. 

 
66. In recognition of national planning advice and to achieve high quality housing 

developments DCC has adopted an in-house review process to assess schemes 
against the Building for Life 12 (BfL 12) Standards. The Building for Life 
Supplementary Planning Document (2019) (BfL SPD) formalises the review process 
and establishes the guidelines and standards for its operation and is linked to the 
Sustainable Design Policy (29) in the CDP. The scheme was considered against the 
BfL standard through a series of 12 questions. The scoring is based on a traffic light 
system with the aim of the proposed new development to secure as many “greens” as 
possible, minimise the number of “ambers” and avoid “reds”. The more “greens” 
achieved the better the development will be, “ambers” are usually concerns that can 
be raised to “green” with revisions, whereas a “red” gives a warning that a particular 
aspect needs strong reconsideration. After initial plans were submitted the proposals 
scored 1 red, 4 ambers and 7 green scores meaning at the design review panel 
meaning that the proposals needed to be amended in order to comply with Policy 29 
of the CDP. 

 
67. Design and Conservation officers have been consulted on a revised scheme after the 

applicants review of the initial design panel outcome. The amended application now 
proposes a suitable mix of dwellings including 2, 3 and 4 bedroomed dwellings and 
bungalows.  

 
68. The appearance of the dwellings are considered to be of a generally high standard. 

The scheme has been developed as a traditional development which would work well 
in this location. The choice of materials, which is dominated by traditional stone,  
reconstituted stone, natural slate and grey tile roofing materials would relate well to 
the surrounding area and would add interest and create a high quality feel to the 
development.  

 
69. The applicant was initially advised to include a full window surround, responding 

positively to the characteristics of Barnard Castle.  There were also a significant 

number of units including just the head and cill detail which was not reflective of the 

local vernacular, plans have since been amended to reflect the local characteristics 

and vernacular and the housetypes are considered acceptable.  

70. The applicant has also introduced natural stone to the frontage facing onto Darlington 

Road and reconstituted stone in other publicly visible parts of the site.  The use of 

natural stone has been increased across the streetscene at the site entrance and at 

the vista stop into the site. In addition, further reconstituted stone has been introduced 

at the eastern edge. 

71. With regard to the layout, the northernmost east-west green space has been widened 

and landscape buffers introduced which reflects the landscape concepts shown at the 

outline stage. Corner turning units are proposed and the open spaces and footpaths 

are overlooked by the frontages of dwellings providing natural surveillance and a 

pleasant street scene.   

Page 102

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/32115/Residential-Amenity-Standards-SPD-2020/pdf/ResidentialAmenityStandardsSPD2020.pdf?m=637160613245030000


72. Design and conservation officers acknowledge that the applicant has revisited the 

approach to materials and the amended proposals are considered acceptable subject 

to details of materials and samples for consideration are conditioned. 

73. The Residential Amenity Standards Supplementary Planning Document states that all 

new development, including new dwellings, will have some bearing on neighbouring 

properties and it is important to ensure that the impact does not result in a significant 

loss of privacy, outlook or light for occupiers of new dwellings and existing dwellings. 

The design and layout of new development should ensure that reasonable privacy and 

light is provided for surrounding residents and occupiers, particularly in relation to 

residential use and enjoyment of dwellings and private gardens. Spacing between the 

windows of buildings/dwellings should achieve suitable distances for privacy and light, 

whilst also preventing cramped and congested layouts. In order to achieve these 

objectives, minimum distancing standards are applied. The main facing elevation to 

main facing elevation containing windows serving a habitable room is 21 metres 

between two storey buildings, 18 metres between bungalows. Main facing elevation to 

gable wall which does not contain a window serving a habitable room is 13 metres to 

a two storey gable and 10 metres to single storey gable. The proposed development 

would meet these requirements in accordance with the supplementary planning 

document both internally and to existing residents on the new estate to the west of the 

site.  

74. The revised scheme scored 10 green scores and 2 amber scores. Policy 29 of the 
CDP advises that if any “reds” are scored the application should be refused unless 
there are significant overriding reasons otherwise. The proposal would therefore 
accord with criteria in Policy 29 of the CDP and Part 12 of the NPPF in this respect 
and the Residential Amenity Standards Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
Landscaping 

  
75. Policy 39 of the CDP states proposals for new development will be permitted where 

they would not cause unacceptable harm to the character, quality or distinctiveness of 
the landscape, or to important features or views. Proposals would be expected to 
incorporate appropriate measures to mitigate adverse landscape and visual effects. 
These are similar requirements to those outlined at Policy 6. Policy 26 of the CDP 
outlines developments are expected to provide new green infrastructure and ensure 
provision for its long-term management and maintenance. Similar requirements are 
outlined in Policy 29 of the CDP. Criteria l specifically requires that in the case of edge 
of settlement development, provide for an appropriate level of structural landscaping 
to screen or assimilate the development into its surroundings and provide an attractive 
new settlement boundary. Policy 40 of the CDP seeks to avoid the loss of existing 
trees and hedgerows unless suitable replacement planting is provided. Parts 12 and 
15 of the NPPF promotes good design and sets out that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by (amongst other things) 
recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside.  Paragraph 131 of 
the NPPF sets out that planning decisions should ensure that new streets are tree-
lined. 

 
76. The proposed layout includes a comprehensive landscaping scheme, two areas of 

public open space with footpaths through the centre of the site running east to west 
along with landscaped footpaths running from north to south. A sustainable drainage 
(SuDs) basin is to the north which would also create an attractive open green space. 
The application also includes substantial planting During the application process the 
proposals have been to the Councils Design Review panel as noted above. Some 
landscape amendments were required which required the accordance with the 

Page 103



landscape principles as set out in the outline approval which were conditioned and 
have now been addressed. Specifically, the removal of hedge planting to proposed 
roadside wall now ties into local landscape character.  There is an increase planting 
to SuDs area to the north of the site, and there has been an alteration of tree species 
schedule to lessen quantity of birch and increase quantity of larger canopy species. 

 
77. Overall, Landscape Officers consider the scheme to provide sufficient planting in a 

suitable manner would meet the necessary requirements of Policies 26, 29, 39 and 40 
of the CDP and Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF. 

 
Public responses 
 
78. As noted above, A total of 584 letters of consultation responses have been sent out. 

38 representations have been received from members of the public in response to the 
consultation exercise, of which, one is in support, three are neutral and 34 in objection. 

 
79. The objections mainly relate to the principle of the development including, an adverse 

impact on Barnard Castle, the increase in traffic, highway safety issue and housing 
need, all of which have been approved at the outline stage of planning permission.  

 
80. Other issues raised include issues with the site layout, house types, open space and 

landscaping and flooding issues which have been addressed in the report or by way 
of conditions.   

 

81. The Open Spaces Society has submitted a representation which raises concerns 
regarding the lack of provision of dog waste bins, lack of openspace, lack of provision 
of car parking, materials, and trust that measures and provisions to help in countering 
climate will be strictly adhered to.  

 
82. The letter of support highlights demand for housing in Barnard Castle to support not 

only the town itself but the wider population of Teesdale.  The proposed layout itself 
seems well thought out with plenty of green space and landscaping.  It is considered 
that the house types and materials proposed complement the development adjacent 
and it's good to see 20% affordable housing and bungalows being provided.  It is 
considered that the proposed housing mix has a high number of 4 and 5 bedroom 
dwellings and consideration should be given to the requirements of Policy 19 of the 
Local Plan.  

 
83. With regard to concerns that the site is not allocated in the County Durham Plan it should 

be noted that Policy 6 of the CDP does specify unallocated sites can be considered for 
development and housing is not only acceptable on those allocated sites under Policy 
4 of the CDP. It is considered for the reasons set out in the application for outline 
planning approval, that the proposal complies with Policy 6 and is therefore acceptable 
and the principle of development has already been accepted.  

 
84. Overall, the concerns of objectors have been taken into account and addressed either 

during the outline application process or in this report or by way of condition.  It is not 
considered that the proposals would lead to any significant loss of amenity to nearby 
residents that would warrant refusal of planning permission.  

 
Public Sector Equality Duty 

 
85. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires public authorities when exercising their 

functions to have due regard to the need to i) the need to eliminate discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct, ii) advance equality of 
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 

Page 104



who do not share it and iii) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share that characteristic. In this 
instance, officers have assessed all relevant factors and do not consider that there are 
any equality impacts identified. 

 
 

CONCLUSION 

 
86. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out that planning 

applications be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  

 
87. In summary, it is acknowledged that this proposal is not an allocated housing site under 

Policy 4 of the CDP. However, Policy 6 of the CDP allows for unallocated sites on the 
basis that specific criteria are met. In this instance, and for the reasons set out in the 
previously approved outline planning permission, it is considered that the proposed 
development complies with the criteria of Policy 6. This current application for reserved 
matters is considered acceptable for the reasons set out above in terms of appearance, 
layout, scale and landscaping. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that development 
proposals accord with an up-to-date development plan, should be approved without 
delay.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
That the application be APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

following approved plans:   
 

Plan Drawing No. Date 
Received  

 
Location Plan 
Drainage Plan - Sheet 1 of 2 
Drainage Plan - Sheet 2 of 2 
Floor Plans 2 Bed Afford Bungalow 
Elevations 2 Bed Afford Bungalow 
Detailed Landscape Proposals Sheet 1 of 4 
Detailed Landscape Proposals Sheet 2 of 4 
Detailed Landscape Proposals Sheet 3 of 4 
Detailed Landscape Proposals Sheet 4 of 4 
Proposed Materials Plan 
Proposed Street Scenes 
Proposed Site Layout 
PRIVATE DRIVE PERMEABLE PAVING DETAIL 
EXTERNAL WORKS PLAN - SHEET 4 OF 4 
EXTERNAL WORKS PLAN - SHEET 2 OF 4 
PROPOSED MATERIALS PLAN 
DETAILED LANDSCAPE PROPOSALS SHEET 1 OF 4 
DETAILED LANDSCAPE PROPOSALS SHEET 3 OF 4 
Surface Water and Silt Management Schematic 
EXTERNAL WORKS PLAN - SHEET 3 OF 4 
EXTERNAL WORKS PLAN - SHEET 1 OF 4 
DETAILED LANDSCAPE PROPOSALS SHEET 4 OF 4 
DETAILED LANDSCAPE PROPOSALS SHEET 2 OF 4 
PROPOSED STREET SCENES 
ESTATE RAILINGS (1000mm) 
RETAINING WALL - BETWEEN GARDENS 
STONE WALL & FENCE (1800mm) 
TIMBER FEATHER EDGE FENCE (1800mm) 
BRICK WALL (1800mm) 
KNEERAIL FENCE (450-600mm) 
TIMBER ACCESS GATE (1800mm) 

 
PA-DRBC-01 
BC-500-001 
BC-500-002 
2 Bed Afford Bung - 801 
Bungalow - 803 
P21-0911.001 Rev: L 
P21-0911.002 Rev: L 
P21-0911.003 Rev: L 
P21-0911.004 Rev: L 
P21:5458:05 D 
P21:5458:06 K 
P21:5458:01 L 
BC-SK-003 
BC-EW-004 
BC-EW-002 
P21:5458:05 B 
P21-0911.001 Rev I 
P21-0911.003 Rev I 
01 Rev C01 
BC-EW-003 
BC-EW-001 
P21-0911.004 Rev I 
P21-0911.002 Rev I 
P21:5458:06 H 
SBH-BT-SD-021 
SBH-BT-RW-SD-002 
SBH-BT-SD-017 
SBH-BT-SD-009 
SBH-BT-SD-016 
SBH-BT-SD-001 
SBH-BT-SD-007 

 
20/07/21 
20/07/21 
20/07/21 
06/08/21 
08/03/22 
08/03/22 
08/03/22 
08/03/22 
08/03/22 
08/03/22 
08/03/22 
24/03/22 
11/03/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
07/02/22 
20/07/21 

Page 105



Retaining Wall - Between Gardens 
Stone Wall & Fence (1800mm) 
Brick Wall (1800mm) 
FLOOD ROUTING PLAN 
IMPERMEABLE AREA PLAN 
S104 AGREEMENT PLAN - SHEET 1 OF 2 
S104 AGREEMENT PLAN - SHEET 1 OF 2 
PLOTS 12-16 
PLOTS 94-100 
S104 AGREEMENT PLAN - SHEET 2 OF 2 
S104 AGREEMENT PLAN SHEET - 1 OF 2 
2 BED AFFORD (A) STANDARD HOUSE FLOOR PLANS 
2 BED AFFORD (A) STANDARD HOUSE ELEVATIONS 
2 BED AFFORD. BUNGALOW FLOOR PLANS 
3 BED AFFORD (A) STANDARD HOUSE FLOOR PLANS 
3 BED AFFORD (A) STANDARD HOUSE ELEVATIONS 
ASTON STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
ASTON STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
IMPERMEABLE AREA PLAN 
BELFRY STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
BELFRY STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
2 BED AFFORD. BUNGALOW ELEVATIONS 
CAMBERLEY STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
CAMBERLEY STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
GOODWOOD STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS (1) 
GOODWOOD BRICK HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
HADLEY STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
HADLEY BRICK HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
HAMILTON "A"' STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
HAMILTON "A" STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
HAMILTON "B" STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
HAMILTON "B"' STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
LONGWOOD STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
LONGWOOD STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
LYTHAM STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
LYTHAM STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
MERION STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
MERION STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
NEWPORT STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
NEWPORT STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
OAKLAND STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
OAKLAND STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
RIDGEWOOD STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
RIDGEWOOD STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
SANDRINGHAM STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
SANDRINGHAM STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
SHERINGHAM STANDARD TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
SHERINGHAM BRICK TYPE ELEVATIONS 
TROON STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
TROON STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
TURNBERRY STANDARD HOUSE TYPE FLOOR PLANS 
TURNBERRY STANDARD HOUSE TYPE ELEVATIONS 
 

SBH-BT-RW-SD-002 
SBH-BT-SD-017 
SBH-BT-SD-016 
BC-500-008 
BC-500-007 B 
BC-500-001 C 
BC-500-001 C 
 
 
BC-500-001 B 
BC-500-001 B 
2 BED AFFORD (A)-801 
2 BED AFFORD (A)-803 
2 BED AFFORD BUNG-801 
3 BED AFFORD (A)-801(SC 
3 BED AFFORD (A)-803 
ASTON-801 REV I 
ASTON-803 REV D 
BC-500-007 B 
BELFRY-801(SC) 
BELFRY-803 REV B 
BUNGALOW-803 
CAMBERLEY-801 REV B 
CAMBERLEY-803 
GOODWOOD-801 REV B 
GOODWOOD-803(1) REV B 
HADLEY-801 REV B 
HADLEY-803(1) REV A 
HAMILTON "A"-801 REV H 
HAMILTON "A"-803(1) REV 
HAMILTON "B"-801 REV F 
HAMILTON "B"-803(3) REV 
LONGWOOD-801 REV E 
LONGWOOD-803 REV A 
LYTHAM-801(SC) 
LYTHAM-803 REV A 
MERION-801 
MERION-803 
NEWPORT-801(SC) 
NEWPORT-803 
OAKLAND-801 REV A 
OAKLAND-803(3R) 
RIDGEWOOD-803(1) 
RIDGEWOOD-801 
SANDRINGHAM-801(SC) 
SANDRINGHAM-803(3) REV C 
SHERINGHAM-801 REV A 
SHERINGHAM-803(1) REV A 
TROON-801 REV B 
TROON-803 REV A 
TURNBERRY-801(SC) 
TURNBERRY-803 REV D 
 

20/07/21 
20/07/21 
02/11/21 
02/11/21 
02/11/21 
02/11/21 
02/11/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
11/10/21 
 

 
 

Reason: To define the consent and ensure that a satisfactory form of development is 
obtained in accordance with Policies 21, 29, 31, 25, 36, 40 of the County Durham Plan 
and Parts 2, 4, 5, 8, 9, 12, 14, 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
2.  Notwithstanding Condition 1, prior to the construction of any part of the development 

hereby approved above damp-proof course level a schedule and/or samples of all 
surfacing materials and external building materials, including doors and windows shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, 
the development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the area and to comply with Policy 29 of 
the County Durham Plan and Part 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

Page 106



3.  Construction of the development should be carried out in accordance with the Surface 
Water Drainage Strategy Submission – Letter Report Date 31/01/2022  

 
Reason: To comply with Policy 35 of the County Durham Plan and Part 14 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
4.  Notwithstanding Condition 1, no part of the development hereby approved shall be 

occupied until details of the hard surfaces for driveways and parking spaces have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, these 
agreed details shall be implemented prior to the occupation of each dwelling and shall 
be permanently maintained and retained as such.  

 
Reason: To comply with Policies 21, 29 and 35 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 
9, 12 and 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
5.  Notwithstanding Condition 1, no part of the development shall be occupied until a 

scheme for internal highways not offered for adoption by the Local Highway Authority 
(LHA) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
This scheme shall include details of private lighting, street nameplates and signage. 
The developer will need to submit details of the proposed maintenance regime 
including details of the appointed management company.  

 
Reason: To ensure that a satisfactory form of development is obtained in accordance 
with Policies 21 and 29 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 9 and 12 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

 
6.  Areas of landscape associated with the development shall be brought forward, 

maintained, monitored and managed in accordance with the approved Landscape 
Management Plan (Rev C, February 2022).  

 
Reason: To comply with Policies 39, 40 and 41 of the County Durham Plan and Parts 
12 and 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
7.  The landscaping scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plans 

listed and implemented within the first available planting season upon completion of 
the development. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details and to a standard in accordance with the relevant 
recommendations of British Standard 8545:2014. Any trees or plants that, are 
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective within three years of planting, 
shall be replaced with others of species, size and number as originally approved, by 
the end of the first available planting season thereafter.  

 
Reason: To comply with Policies 39 and 40 of the County Durham Plan and Part 12 
of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

8. All works should be carried out in accordance with the approved Arboricultural Method 
Statement (dated March 2022).  

 
Reason: To comply with Policy 40 of the County Durham Plan and Part 12 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT 

 
In accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority has, without 
prejudice to a fair and objective assessment of the proposals, issues raised and 
representations received, sought to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner 
with the objective of delivering high quality sustainable development to improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area in accordance with the NPPF. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

Submitted application form, plans, supporting documents and subsequent information 
provided by the applicant 
Statutory, internal and public consultation responses 
The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
National Planning Practice Guidance Notes 
County Durham Plan 
County Durham Strategic Housing Land Assessment Report (2019) 
County Durham Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2019) 
Open Space Needs Assessment (2018) 
Residential Amenity Standards SPD (2020) 
County Durham Building for Life SPD (2019) 
County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 108



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

   Planning Services DM/21/02606/RM 

Details of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 
for 97 dwellings pursuant to outline planning 
permission DM/20/03070/OUT (amended description)  
Land To The North Of Darlington Road, Barnard 
Castle, DL12 8QG 

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material 
with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of 
Her majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown copyright. 
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown 
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil 
proceeding. 
Durham County Council Licence No. 100022202 
2005 

 
 
 
 

Date  May 2022 Scale   NTS 

 

 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 5 April 2022
	5a DM/21/03839/FPA - Land north of Delves Lane, Consett
	5b DM/21/01520/FPA - Land to the rear of The Old Chapel, Colliery Road, Bearpark, DH7 7AU
	5c DM/21/02606/RM - Land to the north of Darlington Road, Barnard Castle, DL12 8QG

